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1 SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA WEDNESDAY, JUNE 2, 2004 10:30 A.M. 

2 

3 

--000-

(Call to order of the Court.) 

4 THE COURT: State your appearances for the 

5 record, please. 

1 

6 MR. HILE: Good morning, your Honor. Norman Hile 

7 of Orrick, Herrington and Sutcliffe for the Petitioner. 

8 MR. ALEXANDER: David Alexander on behalf of the 

9 Petitioner, your Honor. Good morning. 

10 THE COURT: Good morning. 

11 MR. YUHAS: George Yuhas on behalf of Petitioner. 

12 THE COURT: Thank you. 

13 MS. WILKENS: Good morning, your Honor. Holly 

14 Wilkens, Deputy Attorney General, on behalf of the 

15 Respondent. 

16 MS. DENAULT: Good morning, your Honor. Deputy 

17 Attorney General Adrianne Denault on behalf of Respondent. 

18 THE COURT: Thank you for coming. The Court will 

19 have the first witness be James Taylor. 

20 MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, before we calIon Mr. 

21 Taylor, there's a brief administrative matter to raise. 

22 THE COURT: Not at this time. 

23 MR. ALEXANDER: All right. Very well. 

24 THE COURT: We'll just proceed with the witness. 

25 We've got the CDC people. We'll take care of him, and then 
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l we can do administrative matters as we go. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

(Pause. ) 

THE CLERK: Raise your right hand l please. 

JAMES TAYLOR I PETITIONERIS WITNESS I SWORN 

THE CLERK: Please be seated. 

8 THE COURT: Good morning. Thank you for coming. 

9 We/re here today -- the Court had requested this hearing. 

10 You had provided some testimony at the trial l and then 

2 

Il there was some other information provided to the Court I and 

12 so we/re here to clarify that information l and so 1/11 ask 

13 the Petitioner to begin the questioning l if you prefer l 

14 unless you wish to defer to the Respondent. 

15 MR. YUHAS: I would defer to the Respondent I your 

16 Honor. 

17 

18 

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

19 BY MS. WILKENS: 

20 Q Good morning l Mr. Taylor. 

A How you doing l mal am? 21 

22 

23 

Q Fine. Thank you l sir. Mr. Taylor l in 1983 1 you had a 

work assignment at CIM; is that correct? 

24 A 

25 Q 

Yes l mal am. 

And in 1983 1 were you able to tell the difference 

Echo Reporting l Inc. 
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l between a pair of canvas P.F. Flyer basketball shoes and 

2 canvas Pro Keds basketball shoes? 

3 A Yes, ma'am. 

4 Q And can you explain to the Court how you were able to 

5 distinguish between those two different brands of shoes? 

3 

6 A Yes, I can, ma'am. Other than the visual knowledge of 

7 them, the reason for me having one as opposed to the other 

8 was one was a everyday, recreational situation shoe that 

9 was given to any and everyone who wanted to come to the 

10 gym to play basketball, and one was specifically for the 

11 team -- the institutional inmate team that we had 

12 assembled. They were a better shoe, and they held up 

13 better under the wear and tear. 

14 Q Now, would it be fair to say that you had more shoes 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

available to hand out that were the ordinary shoe, as 

opposed to the better-wearing shoe? 

A To a -- yes, I could say that there were more, but it 

was not a standard situation other than the state-issued, 

standard tennis shoe -- the recreational tennis shoe -- and 

which I'm speaking of -- the heavier tennis shoe, and then 

we also had a mediocre pair -- two or three of these and 

two or three of that. 

Q Now, Mr. Taylor, could you describe for me the 

physical appearance of the Pro Ked canvas tennis shoe that 

you would hand out to the basketball players at CIM? 
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1 A For the team? 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Q Yes. 

A Just a regular, black, canvas-type tennis shoe. The 

distinguishing emblem is a red and blue stripe upon the 

side of it -- on the border lines. 

Q Now, can you describe for me the shoe that was the 

ordinary shoe that you gave to people who were not on the 

basketball team? What did that look like? 

A It was a more -- softer brand; it was an 

10 institutional-made shoe that tore quite frequently from 

11 lateral movements, et cetera, et cetera, and it was black 

12 in color and a harder sole that was basically there just 

13 for walking. 

14 Q And did you know the name of the brand of that more 

15 common tennis shoe that was handed out at elM? 

16 A Yes, I did, and that's a discrepancy to an extent 

17 that -- lango (phonetic) -- can I say that and be 

4 

18 appreciated? They're known as prison industry tennis shoes 

19 PIA tennis shoes. 

20 Q All right, so it's your understanding that they were 

21 manufactured by prison industry? 

Yes. Yes. 22 A 

23 .. Q All right. Now, Mr. Taylor, I'm going to show you 

24 

25 

notebook 1. 

A Okay. 
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1 (Pause. ) 

2 Q Now l Mr. Taylor l inviting your attention to 

3 Respondent/s Exhibit Notebook 11 Exhibit eel which is a 

4 photograph of tennis shoes -- do you see that? 

5 A Yes. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Q And can you tell me what is the brand of shoes that/s 

the top photo in that exhibit at the top of the page? 

A They/re called P.F. Flyers. 

Q Okay. Nowl is that the shoe that you were describing 

that you would hand to people at elM who were not on the 

basketball team? 

A They were similar to that in make I but that/s 

basically the shoe. It/s a prison-made shoe. 

5 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Q Okay. Now l when you say "similar ... in make I " what do 

you mean? 

A The flat surface; the bottoms are different -- and by 

me knowing basketball l they/re not as firm for your ankles l 

et cetera~ in that regard. 

Q Okay. And drawing your attention to the second photo l 

which is in the middle of eel do you recognize that 

particular shoe? 

22 A 

23 Q 

24 A 

25 Q 

Yes l I do. 

And what is that shoe? 

That/s the Pro Keds. 

Okay. And that/s the shoe that you indicated that you 
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6 

1 would give to members of the basketball team? 

2 A That's the shoe. 

3 Q All right. And the photograph underneath -- the 

4 photograph at the bottom -- the third photograph in Exhibit 

5 CC -- what is that, sir? 

6 A 

7 Q 

That's also a Pro Ked. 

All right. Did you testify at the trial of Kevin 

8 Cooper? 

9 A 

10 Q 

Yes, I did. 

And did you testify that you gave Kevin Cooper a pair 

11 of Pro Keds tennis shoes prior to his escape? 

Yes, I did. 12 A 

13 Q And does Exhibit CC, the photographs in the middle of 

14 the page and at the bottom of the page -- are those the 

15 shoes -- are those the brand of shoes that you testified 

16 you gave to Mr. Cooper? 

17 A Those are the shoes that I -- that I gave to him, 

18 definitely. 

19 Q And did you also testify that Mr. Cooper never 

20 returned those shoes to you? 

21 A Yes, I did. 

22 Q Was your testimony at the trial of Kevin Cooper 

23 truthful? 

Yes, it was. 24 A 

25 Q Now, Mr. Taylor, did you sign a handwritten 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

6 

1 would give to members of the basketball team? 

2 A That's the shoe. 

3 Q All right. And the photograph underneath -- the 

4 photograph at the bottom -- the third photograph in Exhibit 

5 CC -- what is that, sir? 

6 A 

7 Q 

That's also a Pro Ked. 

All right. Did you testify at the trial of Kevin 

8 Cooper? 

9 A 

10 Q 

Yes, I did. 

And did you testify that you gave Kevin Cooper a pair 

11 of Pro Keds tennis shoes prior to his escape? 

Yes, I did. 12 A 

13 Q And does Exhibit CC, the photographs in the middle of 

14 the page and at the bottom of the page -- are those the 

15 shoes -- are those the brand of shoes that you testified 

16 you gave to Mr. Cooper? 

17 A Those are the shoes that I -- that I gave to him, 

18 definitely. 

19 Q And did you also testify that Mr. Cooper never 

20 returned those shoes to you? 

21 A Yes, I did. 

22 Q Was your testimony at the trial of Kevin Cooper 

23 truthful? 

Yes, it was. 24 A 

25 Q Now, Mr. Taylor, did you sign a handwritten 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



1 declaration recently that stated that the only pair of 

2 shoes that you ever gave Kevin Cooper was a pair of P.F. 

3 Flyers? 

4 A 

5 Q 

I gave him a pair of Pro Keds. 

Well, did you sign a declaration wherein you stated 

7 

6 that the only pair of shoes you gave Kevin Cooper were P.F. 

7 Flyers? Did you sign that declaration? 

8 A Yes, I did. 

9 Q Did you write that declaration? 

10 A No, I didn't. 

11 Q Who wrote that declaration? 

12 A Ms. Coke did, but I was present while she wrote it. 

13 Q All right. 

14 A There was nothing - - if I can be blunt - - may I, for a 

15 minute? 

16 THE COURT: There's no 

17 questions, and then you can give 

18 more, then we'll ask you. 

19 

20 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

21 BY MS. WILKENS: 

she'll ask the 

and then, if we need 

22 Q Now, did you read the declaration that Ms. Coke wrote 

23 out in your presence 

24 A 

25 Q 

Yes, I did. 

-- before you signed it? 
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Yes, I did. 1 A 

2 Q And did you understand that the declaration stated 

3 that the only shoes that you ~ver provided to Kevin Cooper 

4 were P.F. Flyers? 

5 A No, I didn't. 

6 Q You did not understand that. 

7 A No. 

8 Q Now, had you spoken to Ms. Coke prior to the day on 

9 which she wrote out the declaration in your presence? 

10 A No, I hadn't. 

11 Q Since the time of your testimony at trial, until you 

12 met with Ms. Coke, did you talk to anyone that was 

13 associated with the Kevin Cooper defense? 

14 A 

15 Q 

No, I didn't. No one whatsoever. 

Now, when Ms. Coke came to speak with you, were you 

16 aware in advance that she was coming to see you? 

17 A 

18 Q 

Yes, I was. 

And how were you made aware that Ms. Coke wanted to 

19 speak to you? 

20 A 

21 Q 

Through an institutional counselor. 

Did the institutional counselor tell you why Ms. Coke 

22 wanted to see you? 

23 A 

24 Q 

No, she didn't. 

Did you know at the time that Ms. -- that you spoke 

25 with the institutional counselor that Ms. Coke was a 

8 
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9 

1 representative of Kevin Cooper's defense? 

2 A Being perfectly honest, ma'am, I had -- I assumed that 

3 that had something to do with it because of what was going 

4 on on the television as well as the timing, et cetera -- I 

5 did assume that, being perfectly honest with you, yes, I 

6 did. 

7 Q So you were aware from news reports of the impending 

8 execution of Kevin Cooperi is that correct? 

9 A 

10 Q 

Yes, ma'am. Yes. 

Now, when Ms. Coke came to speak to you, was anyone 

11 else with her? 

12 A 

13 Q 

14 A 

15 Q 

16 A 

17 Q 

18 day 

19 A 

20 

21 Q 

At that particular time, no, just her by herself. 

Did Ms. Coke take notes while she spoke to you? 

I believe she did. 

Did Ms. Coke tape-record your conversation? 

No, she didn't. 

Do you recall how long you spoke 

that she presented you with your 

I can roughly say four hours. 

(Pause. ) 

to Ms. Coke on the 

declaration? 

Now, did you talk to Ms. Coke about any subjects other 

22 than the brand of tennis shoe that you provided Kevin 

23 Cooper on the day that you met with her when she presented 

24 you with your declaration? 

25 A Yeah, but it all pertained to that same scenario. 
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1 Q Okay. Now, when you say the IIsame scenario,lI are you 

2 referring to the tennis shoes? 

3 A No. No. 

4 Q What else did you discuss with Ms. Coke besides the 

5 tennis shoes? 

6 A The actual physical relationship I had with the 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

gentleman prior to him being implicated as someone else. 

Q All right. So you discussed when you met Mr. Cooper 

and how you knew Mr. Cooper? 

A Yes, some of the small details -- some of the -- you 

know, small talk. 

Q And did you discuss anything else about Mr. Cooper 

besides your interactions with him at CIM? 

14 A No, I don't know -- I didn't know anything else about 

15 him. 

16 Q Now, when you were speaking with Ms. Coke for 

17 approximately four hours, at what point did she present a 

18 declaration to you to sign? 

19 A Prior to leaving -- maybe a hour before leaving, we 

20 talked about it. She said she needed some information 

21 based upon the evidence that she had spoke to me about as 

22 well as what I had said to her, and she made it very clear 

23 that, you know, she was just going to write some things 

24 here, and I would initial them if -- by agreeing with them, 

25 and I did. 
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1 Q Now, when Ms. Coke first came to speak to you, did she 

2 tell you that she would need a declaration from you, or is 

3 that something you learned about three hours into your 

4 conversation? 

5 A Yeah, it was something that was not spoke of -- that 

6 wasn't the emphasis placed on her coming. No, I never knew 

7 that until we spoke in a little bit of detail. 

8 Q Now, did Ms. Coke tell you what she was going to do 

9 with the declaration after you signed it? 

10 A Yes, she said she was going to use it. 

11 Q And did she say how she was going to use it? 

12 A As part of the evidence in some way - - maybe it can 

13 help her - - the standpoint of the gentleman in question, 

14 and that was the extent of it. 

15 Q Now, when you were speaking with Ms. Coke, you were in 

16 custody; is that correct? 

17 A Yes, ma'am. 

18 Q At a prison. 

19 A Yes. Yes. 

20 Q Was it your understanding that you could leave the 

21 interview with Ms. Coke at any time? 

22 A 

23 Q 

Yes. Yes, it was. 

And was there any point in the course of the four 

24 hours that you considered leaving? 

25 A Yeah -- how do you know that? Yes. Yes, there was. 
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And why is that? 1 Q 

2 A Well t because I -- there was nothing else I was able 

3 to say that I had not already said t and then I reevaluated 

4 the standpoint by the seriousness of itt and I just -- I 

5 told the truth alreadYt so there was nothing else I could 

6 say to change that t and there was nothing else to expound 

7 on t so we became very repetitious with the necessities and 

8 wanting to know intricates that I had already discussed t 

9 and I -- yeah t I did become frustrated at a point. 

10 But I felt that it was worth it me making sure 

11 that I had told the truth from the beginning to that point 

12 and as well as like today. 

13 Q Now t when Ms. Coke first asked you what was the brand 

14 of shoes that you gave to Kevin Coopert what did you 

15 answer? 

Pro Keds. 16 A 

17 Q How many times did Ms. Coke ask you what the brand of 

18 shoes was that you gave to Kevin Cooper? 

19 A More than - - more than twice. 

20 Q More than five? 

21 A Thatts about - - thatts about accurate. More than 

22 five. Maybe seven. 

23 Q Okay. And each timet did you tell her you gave him 

24 Pro Keds tennis shoes? 

25 A Yes. 
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1 Q Okay. Can you explain how you came to sign a 

2 declaration that described the shoes that you gave to Mr. 

3 Cooper as P.F. Flyers? 

13 

4 A The lango -- that's what I was trying to -- that's the 

5 only discrepancy that -- from what I said 20 years ago to 

6 what I'm saying now to what I told her. These are also 

7 called P.F. Flyers. They're -- the Pro Ked P.F. 

8 Flyers they're -- that's just what they're called. It's 

9 a lango. 

10 Q Now, Mr. Taylor, you're pointing to Exhibit CC. Are 

11 you pointing to the top photograph? 

12 A Yes. These are not the tennis shoes that I identified 

13 as the Pro Keds -- the P.F. Flyers. These are a whole 

14 different shoe. 

15 Q All right. So when you told -- when you signed a 

16 declaration for Ms. Coke and you said that the only pair of 

17 shoes that you gave Kevin Cooper were P.F. Flyers, you were 

18 indicating in that declaration the shoes that are in the 

19 middle and the bottom photograph of Exhibit CCi is that 

20 correct? 

21 A Yes, ma'am. 

22 Q Now, why did you refer to them by a different name 

23 than the name that you used in the trial testimony and in 

24 all your interviews? 

25 A The Pro Keds? 
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Yes. 1 Q 

2 A Well, she was putting emphasis on the fact that these 

3 are a different shoe, this is the same shoe, and this is 

4 the same -- I had no idea of what shoe she was identifying 

5 as Pro Keds. I said, "You can call them P.F. Flyer Pro 

6 Keds; you can call them Pro Keds. I know the shoe I gave 

7 him, and I can verify that by what was available." I gave 

8 him Pro Keds -- right here. 

9 Q Okay, so, as far as you're concerned, it's a fairly 

10 straightforward matter what brand of shoes you gave Kevin 

11 Cooper, right? 

12 A 

13 

14 

Yes, it is, ma'am. 

MR. YUHAS: Objection; leading. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

15 BY MS. WILKENS: 

16 Q Now, when you spoke to Ms. Coke, did she promise you 

17 anything for cooperating with her? 

18 A 

19 Q 

No, she didn't. No, she didn't. 

Did she say anything to you that caused you concern 

20 about not signing the declaration that she presented to 

21 you? 

22 A No, she didn't. I really wanted her to clarify the 

23 difference between the Pro Keds and the P.F. Flyers. 

24 

25 

Q Okay, so you wanted the declaration to clarify that 

the shoes you gave Mr. Cooper were Pro Keds. 
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1 A That's all I wanted. 

2 Q Did you ask her to do that? 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q What did she tell you? 

5 A She said she'll do it; she'll take care of it. 

6 Q When was your understanding that she would take care 

7 of that? 

8 A That she had wrote it down and I read it, and she said 

9 that the only shoes -- she was taking from verbal testimony 

10 from what I testified 20 years ago, and I said, "Well, I 

11 can -- you know, I can right now make it where you don't 

12 have a problem understanding. I can tell you what shoes I 

13 gave him. I gave him the Pro Keds. We call them Pro Keds 

14 P.F. Flyers" -- the institution didn't have these. They 

15 had these. 

16 THE COURT: "These" and "these" -- we need a 

17 clarification. 

18 THE WITNESS: Okay. 

19 BY MS. WILKENS: 

20 Q Now, Mr. Taylor, when you say the institution did not 

21 have these, you're pointing to Exhibit ce, the photograph 

22 at the top; is that correct? 

23 A 

24 Q 

Yes. 

And when you say the shoes that the institution had, 

25 you're pointing to the photograph in the middle and the 
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1 bottom of Exhibit CC, correct? 

2 A Exactly. That's all I'm saying we gave him. Those 

3 are the only Pro Keds we had. 

4 Q Now, Mr. Taylor, you told us that you read the 

5 declaration before you signed it; is that correct? 

6 A Yes. 

7 

8 

Q When you read it, did you understand that the 

declaration you were signing was using the description, 

9 P.F. Flyers, for the shoes that you gave to Mr. Cooper? 

10 A Pro Keds. 

You thought it said, "Pro Keds." 

That was my understanding -- Pro Keds. 

16 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q All right. And you asked Ms. Coke to write "Pro Keds" 

14 

15 

in that declaration? 

A That's what I swore to. 

16 Q And when you read it over, you believed that it said, 

17 

18 

19 

20 

"Pro Keds"; is that correct? 

A Yes. 

Q Now, did Ms. Coke visit you again after you signed the 

declaration for her? 

21 A 

22 Q 

Yes, she did. 

And how long after you signed the declaration did Ms. 

23 

24 

25 

Coke visit you? 

A I want to say maybe a month. 

Q Now, your declaration -- was it dated the day you 
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1 signed it -- were you aware of that? 

Yes. Yes l it was. 2 A 

3 Q Now l when Ms. Coke came to see you a second time l was 

4 she alone? 

5 A 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

11 A 

12 Q 

13 A 

14 Q 

15 that 

16 A 

17 Q 

18 A 

NO I she wasn/t. 

And who was with her? 

Another investigator - - a lady named Sandra Nerad. 

Okay. 

Scarlet Scarlet. 

Scarlet? 

Yes l Scarlet. 

Nerad? 

Yes. 

And did Ms. Coke and Ms. Nerad ask you questions on 

second visit? 

Oh l man l yes l they did. 

And what did they ask you about? 

To -- she was saying the things that came out of the 

19 declaration and which we/re speaking of -- was one of the 

20 situations that needed to be reevaluated by a judge and 

21 that I I m glad that it came out like that. I told her l "I 

22 told you the truth alreadYI so I basically can point to the 

23 shoe - - if you bring it in l I can show you out of a hundred 

24 shoes which one I gave him / " and that/s all I was trying to 

25 put the emphasis on l and she just wanted me to make sure 
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1 that that's what I meant. The second time she came, that's 

2 what she said. 

3 Q Now, when she came the second time and wanted to 

4 clarify, did she ask you again what shoe you gave to Kevin 

5 Cooper? 

6 A 

7 Q 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q 

14 A 

15 Q 

16 A 

Yes, she did. 

What did you tell her? 

Pro Keds. 

And did she accept that answer -

Yes. 

-- or did she ask you again? 

No, she accepted it. 

Was the conversation tape-recorded? 

No, it wasn't. 

Did Ms. Coke take notes? 

I believe -- vaguely. I can't say that we had a 

17 

18 

19 

conversation where she was taking notes -- no, I don't 

think so. 

Q Was Ms. Nerad taking notes? 

20 A Yes. 

21 Q Now, when you met with Ms. Coke and Ms. Nerad, did you 

22 sign a release for all of your records from CDC? 

23 A Well, being that I had nothing to hide, yes, I did. 

24 Q 

25 A 

And they requested you to sign a release? 

She said it would be best to do so, so she would know 
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1 things about me just in case it was necessary for the 

2 gentleman's defense. 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q 

And so you willingly signed that release. 

Yes, I did. I have nothing to hide. 

Now, since meeting with Ms. Coke and Ms. Nerad, have 

6 you had any additional contacts from anyone from the Cooper 

7 defense team 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

No. 

-- investigators, attorneys --

No, just a phone call letting me know what time this 

11 hearing was, and that was -- I don't even know who it was, 

12 but that was the extent of it. 

13 Q So you received a call from prison authorities or from 

14 someone outside the prison? 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 Q 

I believe it was someone outside the prison. 

And did they identify themselves? 

It was Ms. Scarlet -- Scarlet Nerad, the investigator. 

All right, so Ms. Nerad called to tell you what time 

19 you'd be testifying? 

20 A Yeah. 

21 Q And did she say anything else to you? 

22 A No. 

23 Q So just "Be here at certain date and certain time"? 

24 A Yeah. 

25 Q Okay. And there's been no other contact. 
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1 A 

2 Q 

3 A 

I have wrote (sic) her a letter. 

Okay. You wrote her a letter. 

Yes. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

Q Why did you write her a letter? 

A Well, there was a document for releasing my central 

file that she was supposed to send back to me that I needed 

because it was supposed to only go four years-- I mean, 

you can't just keep it for five years -- you sign the 

release from the year, day of signature -- the next year, 

same date -- that's all I was requesting from her -- one of 

the things I was requesting from her. 

Q Okay. So the release that you had signed was without 

any time constraints or limitations; is that correct? 

14 A 

15 Q 

16 A 

Yes, it was -- a year. 

Okay. The release was for a year? 

Yeah, but I needed the form in which I did -- which 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

she was going to go and legal-mail it back to me. 

Q All right. 

A And I never received it, but that's the extent of it, 

of the conversations. 

Q Okay, and your letter was strictly speaking -- solely 

on that topic. 

23 A And that I knew that I had to go to court because of 

24 what they called me up front and said 

25 basically it. 

and that was 
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1 A 

2 Q 

3 A 

I have wrote (sic) her a letter. 
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5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 
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20 
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She didn't know at the time if it would have been 

necessary for me to physically be here. 

21 

1 

2 

3 Q Okay. So I was asking about your letter the focus 

4 of your letter to Ms. Nerad. Did it relate only to your 

5 needing some paperwork from her with respect to your CDC 

6 file, or did you discuss the shoes or anything? 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

No, we never discussed anything about this. 

Okay. 

Nothing whatsoever. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

Q And it was in your phone conversation that you simply 

were told that you needed to be here on a certain date and 

time; is that correct? 

A Yes. 

14 Q And there was no other discussion. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

A No. No other I wanted to know, would I have to 

stay the duration of it, whatever, and I didn't -- she 

didn't know. 

Q Mr. Taylor, sitting here today, do you have any doubt 

whatsoever that the brand of shoes that you provided to 

20 Kevin Cooper prior to his escape from CIM that were not 

21 returned to you were Pro Ked tennis shoes? 

22 A I have no doubt that they were Pro Ked, and these are 

23 the models -- middle and bottom on -- whatever page you 

24 want to call that. 

25 Q So Exhibit CC that's in front of you now. 
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1 A 

2 Q 

22 

Yes. 

You're identifying the shoes that are photographed in 

3 the middle and at the bottom of the page. 

4 A 

5 Q 

Yes. 

And you're positive that that's the brand of shoes you 

6 gave Mr. Cooper. 

7 A 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 BY 

13 Q 

14 A 

15 Q 

It's the only one I give to the basketball 

MS. WILKENS: I have nothing further, 

THE COURT: Thank you. Cross? 

MR. YUHAS: Thank you, your Honor. 

CROSS EXAMINATION 

MR. YUHAS: 

Good morning, Mr. Taylor. 

How you doing, sir? 

team. 

your Honor. 

My name is George Yuhas. I'm here on behalf of Mr. 

16 Cooper. 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 A 

20 Q 

Okay. 

You and I have never spoken before, correct? 

I don't -- I don't think so. 

Now, I want to ask you some questions about the time 

21 you met with -- the first time you met with Ms. Coke, okay? 

Okay. 22 A 

23 Q Now, you say she interviewed you for three or four 

24 hours? 

25 A Yes. 
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1 

2 

3 

Q And at some point in time toward the end of that 

interview, 

A Yes. 

she gave you a declaration. 

Yes, she did. 

And it was -- she wrote it out, correct? 

Yeah. 

And then you initialed it? 

Yeah. 

23 

4 Q 

5 A 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q And you initialed it to make sure that everything that 

9 was on the declaration was accurate, correct? 

10 A Do you want just "yes" or "no" answers? 

11 Q If you can, sir. 

12 A 

13 Q 

Yes. 

Because you wanted the statements in the declaration 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

to be accurate, correct? 

A Yes, I did. 

Q And she didn't offer you any kind of inducement to 

sign the declaration? 

A No, the only circumstance was that she took 

collaborations of the -- of what I said 20 years ago to 

20 what I said now, and she said, "I'm going to write a 

21 declaration in retrospect to what you said, not to what 

22 people think to what you said." I already told her -- I 

23 said, "Well, you can write what you want 'cause I know what 

24 

25 

I said." 

Q My question, sir, is, in the course of your discussion 
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1 about your declaration and about what you recalled, Ms. 

2 Coke didn't say that she would offer you anything to 

3 provide your declaration. 

4 A 

5 Q 

No, she didn't -- no. 

She wasn't really in a position to provide you with 

6 anything, was she? 

7 A No, she never tried that. 

24 

8 Q And at some point in time, did she indicate to you in 

9 the course of this interview that Mr. Cooper had testified 

10 that he had never gotten any type of shoes from you? 

11 A Yes, she said that in that particular interview. 

12 Q Okay. And did she try to verify your recollection as 

13 to whether you had or had not gotten shoes? 

14 A Yes, she did. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Q And you were pretty firm in the view that you had 

given him some pair of shoes, correct? 

A Pretty cut and dry (sic). 

Q And you weren't going to change that because that's 

what you believe, correct? 

A That's what I believe. 

21 Q In the course of putting together this declaration, 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Ms. Coke didn't try to coach you in any way, correct? 

A No, she didn't. She let me know the seriousness of 

the truth, and that was the extent of it. 

Q And you were aware that the execution of Mr. Cooper at 
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1 

2 

that time was imminent -- was corning up pretty quickly? 

A Yeah, I was aware. 

3 Q And so you were aware of the seriousness of the 

circumstances. 

25 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

A Yeah. I wanted to make sure that the shoe that I said 

I gave to him and the one I'm positive -- that that was the 

shoe she was questioning about. 

(Pause. ) 

Q Before we get to the declaration, do you have Exhibit 

10 CC, the picture, in front of you? 

11 A Yes, sir. 

12 Q And at the top, there's a tennis shoe that's called 

13 P.F. Flyer -- do you see that? 

14 A Yes. 

15 Q Now, counsel asked you some questions about the types 

16 of shoes that you were issuing back in 1983 and 1984. 

17 A Yeah. 

18 Q And I think you testified that there was a good shoe 

19 that went to people on the basketball team and a shoe that 

20 wasn't quite as good that went to everybody else. Is that 

21 

22 

a fair statement? 

A That's accurate. 

23 Q Okay. And your recollection is that the shoe that 

24 went to everybody else was a -- what do you call it -- PIA? 

25 A Prison-made shoe. So 
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1 Q 

2 A 

Prison Industry Associates -- something like that? 

Yeah. Yeah. Prison-made shoe. 

3 Q Okay. It was not, in your recollection, the P.F. 

4 Flyers here. 

5 A No, that wasn't it. That's what we call Pro Keds. 

6 P. F. Flyers Pro Keds .. 

7 Q Now, am I correct, though, that you would also call 

8 this prison -- this PIA shoe -- you would call that P.F. 

9 Flyer, though, right? 

26 

10 A Oh, yeah. There's jokes you make -- you know, at that 

11 time, whoever the governor is they're -- like Michael 

12 Jordan shoes -- these are pro Jordan-made -- jokes like 

13 that -- P.F. Flyers. But the Pro Keds and these P.F. 

14 Flyers were not even in question. It was the prison-made 

15 shoe -- these Pro Keds -- the second and the last which 

16 appear to be the same shoe -- and various others like maybe 

17 Converse -- whatever got donated -- a pair of Converses 

18 here, a pair of Converses there -- nothing of per se the 

19 P.F. Flyers Pro Ked shoes. It was these right here that 

20 was called Pro Keds. 

21 

22 

THE COURT: "These" meaning 

THE WITNESS: Second and the third picture. 

23 BY MR. YUHAS: 

24 Q 

25 A 

My question is a little different, sir. 

Okay. 
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1 Q It was these PIA shoes that were issued to the non-

2 very-serious players -- those were, in your words, 

3 sometimes called P.F. Flyers, correct? 

4 A No. 

5 MR. 

6 (Pause. ) 

7 MR. 

8 THE 

9 THE 

10 THE 

YUHAS: 

YUHAS: 

COURT: 

CLERK: 

COURT: 

Your Honor --

May I approach, your Honor? 

Yes. 

Petitioner's 1. 

We'll give you a set of stickers. 

11 (Pause to confer.) 

12 BY MR. YUHAS: 

13 Q Mr. Taylor, do you recall at some point in time -- a 

14 couple months ago -- being visited by a couple of 

15 detectives? 

Yes, I do. 

27 

16 A 

17 Q 

18 A 

19 Q 

20 so? 

And that was Detective Pacifico and Detective Mahoney? 

Yes. 

Okay. And they interviewed you for about an hour or 

21 A Yes. 

22 Q And there was a tape recording of that interview. Do 

23 you recall that? 

24 A Yeah, I recall that. 

25 Q And in the course of that interview, they asked you 
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~, 

1 some questions about the PIA tennis shoes and a number of 

2 the matters we've been talking about here today, correct? 

3 A Uh-huh. 

4 THE COURT: Is that lIyes ll ? 

5 THE WITNESS: Yes. Yes. Yes. 

6 THE COURT: Okay. 

7 BY MR. YUHAS: 

8 Q In fact, if you take a look at page 10 of the 

9 interview portion 

10 A 

11 Q 

Gotcha. 

You told the detectives, as you told us today, right 

12 in the middle, that people that were coming to you for 

28 

13 tennis shoes that weren't on the basketball team would get 

14 PIA's, correct? 

Are you starting at the top, sir? 

No, sir, right in the middle. 

Okay. 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 THE COURT: Right in the middle -- right near the 

19 hole. 

20 THE WITNESS: Okay. 

21 BY MR. YUHAS: 

22 Q You see where it says, II Pro 

23 see that? 

24 A Okay. 

25 Q Do you see where it says - -

Keds P.F. Flyers II - - you 
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1 A 

2 Q 

3 A 

4 Q 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 And 

11 A 

12 Q 

29 

I gotcha, sir. 

You see where it says "LT" - - that's yourself? 

Okay - - I've never been known as that, but okay. 

You see where it says, 

"Pro Keds P.F. Flyers - - there was 

another basketball shoe that, if you're 

not trying out for the team, you can 

come get it anytime. We did an issue. 

DM: Those were PIA's. " 

then you say, "Yeah. " Do you see that? 

Yeah. 

Okay. And down below -- see where it says "DP" -- and 

13 that's one of the detectives, right? 

14 A 

15 Q 

16 

17 

18 

Yeah. 

And it says, 

"And that the P.F. Flyers, not the 

Pro Keds -- the P.F. Pro Ked has a 

different name." 

19 Do you see that? 

20 A Yeah. 

21 Q And you say, "We used to call them P.F. Flyers. " 

22 Now, will you turn to page 14 of your interview? 

23 A Yeah. I clarified that. 

24 Q You were also asked some questions as to whether you 

25 also identified the PIA tennis shoes as P.F. Flyers. See 
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1 at the top -- "DP" -- and that's Detective Pacifico,I 

2 believe. 

3 A Okay. 

4 Q He says, 

5 "That's why -- that's why we did 

6 the analogy of Nike Air Jordan as the 

7 make." 

8 And then LT: 

9 "Well, you know, we identified the 

10 prison-made shoe as P.F. Flyers. 

11 Believe me -- okay?" 

12 Do you see that? 

13 A 

14 Q 

Yeah, I see where you're at. 

So when you talked to the detectives, you said that 

30 

15 the PIA shoes were also identified as P.F. Flyers, correct? 

16 A 

17 Q 

18 

19 

20 

As a figure of speech, yeah. It's a figure of speech. 

And in fact, going on down, Detective Pacifico says, 

"Now, a couple of minutes ago, you 

also said that the P.F. Flyers say 

PIA. " 

21 You go on to say, et cetera, et cetera. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

"So P.F. Flyers are the prison 

shoes. 

[You answer] Yes, it says PIA 

right there, but --
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1 And Keds are not P.F. Flyers. 

2 No, they're not shoes. They're ... 

3 [and you go on] . " 

4 And then, finally, you say, down a little bit below that, 

5 "Hey, I can just tell you that I 

6 just gave him that one shoe in the 

7 morning, which we call Pro Keds, that 

8 you call P.F. Flyer, and the one that I 

9 gave him to play basketball in are 

10 called Pro Keds." 

11 Would you turn to page 19 of the interview? 

12 (Pause.) 

13 A Okay. 

14 Q Do you see at the top -- you say, as far as you're 

15 concerned, as far as you know, 

16 "P.F. Flyer is not the actual name 

17 of a shoe; it's a nickname that inmates 

18 use to refer to those shoes." 

19 You say, "That's the truth." Correct? 

20 A 

21 Q 

Yes. 

And that shoes you're talking about are the PIA's, 

22 correct? 

23 A The replica -- which is a replica of these P.F. 

24 Flyers. 

25 THE COURT: "These" meaning 

31 
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18 use to refer to those shoes." 

19 You say, "That's the truth." Correct? 

20 A 

21 Q 

Yes. 

And that shoes you're talking about are the PIA's, 

22 correct? 

23 A The replica -- which is a replica of these P.F. 

24 Flyers. 

25 THE COURT: "These" meaning 
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1 THE WITNESS: The first picture. 

2 THE COURT: Okay. 

3 THE WITNESS: I can explain it. It's really not 

4 as difficult as -- that's why me and Ms. Cokes had so much 

5 differences because -- it's very simple what I'm saying. 

6 Very simple, sir. 

7 BY MR. YUHAS: 

8 Q Am I correct what you're saying is the PIA's are 

9 called P.F. Flyers. 

10 A That's a prison lango. That's not a name that you're 

11 going to go get in the store for them. 

12 Q And are you also saying the P.F. Flyers are called Pro 

13 Keds? 

14 A Yeah. 

15 Q So P.F. Flyers could be PIA's, or they can be Pro 

16 Keds. 

17 A Or they can be Pro Keds. 

18 Q They can be anything. 

19 A Depends on what you're doing. 

20 Q Yeah. 

21 A Depends on what you're doing. 

22 Q Mr. Taylor, for identification, I'm going to hand you 

23 Exhibit 2, which is a copy of the declaration you talked 

24 about. 

25 MR. YUHAS: May I approach, your Honor? 
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1 THE COURT: You may. 

2 BY MR. YUHAS: 

3 Q Is that a copy of the declaration that you signed? 

4 A I can say it is. That/s my signature, yes. 

5 Q And on the left-hand side, are those the initials that 

6 you 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

put there? 

Yes. 

I want to direct your attention to the second page -

Okay. 

-- of your declaration. Do you see the paragraph with 

11 the number 3 on it? 

12 A Yes l I do. 

13 Q See where it says, 

14 "I issued only one pair of shoes 

15 to Kevin Cooper. I issued him a pair 

16 of P.F. Flyers." 

17 Do you see that? 

18 A Yes. 

19 Q And that's how the declaration read when you signed 

20 itl correct? 

21 A I gave him Pro Keds, so I can't say that -- you know, 

22 there's a discrepancy as to your terminology of Pro Keds 

23 and P.F. Flyers. I gave him Pro Keds. 

24 Q My question is, when you signed this declaration, that 

25 sentence reads just as it reads as we/re looking at it 
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1 right now. 

2 A Yes. Okay. Yeah. 

3 Q And later on in the declaration, it says, 

4 "Kevin did not trade these shoes 

5 in to me for a pair of Keds, nor did he 

6 trade these shoes in to me for any 

7 other pair ~ " 

8 Those words on the declaration when you signed it, correct? 

9 A It's not true. 

10 Q This was changed after you signed it? 

11 A It had to be. It's not true. It's not true. 

12 Q And why do you say that, sir? 

13 (Pause. ) 

14 A Because the point - - when I gave him a pair of Pro 

15 Keds Pro Keds - - it's for the basketball team. I'm 

16 setting like they're -- gave them to him for the 

17 basketball. This is not accurate. 

18 Q Okay. But other than believing now as you sit here 

19 today it's not accurate, do you have any reason to believe 

20 that this -- these statements were not on this piece of 

21 paper when you signed it and when your initials were right 

22 next on the left-hand 

23 A Yeah, I have reason to believe that. 

24 Q What reason do you have to believe that this 

25 information was put there somehow after you signed the 
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1 declaration? 

2 A Because I told her straight up -- I gave him a pair of 

3 Pro Keds, and I explained -- I even draw a picture of the 

4 shoe. That's the shoe I drew. 

5 Q Okay. So as you sit here today, you're saying that 

6 these words were not on this piece of paper were you signed 

7 it. 

8 A Obviously not. She may -- she could have wrote that, 

9 but I don't recall signing to that because I know that's 

10 contrary to what I did. 

11 Q Okay. Now, in your trial testimony -- am I 

12 correct -- your trial testimony was that you issued Mr. 

13 Cooper a pair of P.F. Flyers initially, and then he gave 

14 those back to you and you gave him a pair of Kedsi is that 

15 right? 

16 A 

17 Q 

18 sir? 

19 A 

20 Q 

21 A 

Can I explain? 

Is that your recollection of your trial testimony, 

No. No, it's not. 

Okay. 

My recollection is -- once you come in there as a 

22 regular inmate to play basketball, there's a specific shoe 

23 you're given -- just to play. You can tear them up that 

24 same day if you like. 

25 Those are shoes that are turned in based upon giving 
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1 your ID card. That's anybody. 

2 When you tryout for the basketball team, you're given 

3 a pair of Pro Keds 'cause they're a better shoe for the 

4 floor and for your health - - your ankles, et cetera. 

5 At that point in time, the morning scenarios had 

6 nothing else to do with it - - nothing else to do it. You 

7 don't like swap these shoes for those shoes. You want to 

8 tryout for the basketball team -- you make it, you get a 

9 brand-new pair of Pro Keds -- bottom line. That's what I 

10 gave him. 

11 Q So you're saying you only gave Mr. Cooper bne pair of 

12 tennis shoes, period? 

13 A That I can tell you today under oath that he did not 

14 give back. 

15 Q Okay. My question, though, sir, is, did you give him 

16 a pair of P.F. Flyers which he then gave back to you, and 

17 then you gave him a pair of Keds? 

18 A If he played basketball without being on the 

19 basketball team, then I could have. I could have. 

20 MR. YUHAS: Your Honor, I have marked as an 

21 exhibit his trial testimony as a separate, stand-alone 

22 exhibit just for the ease of reference. Is that 

23 appropriate? 

24 THE COURT: Sure. That's fine. Exhibits don't 

25 have to be in sequence. 
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1 BY MR. YUHAS: 

2 Q Mr. Taylor, Exhibit 3 is, I believe, a collection of 

3 all the trial testimony that you gave in this matter. 

4 A 

5 Q 

6 A 

7 Q 

Yeah. 

And I'd like to direct your attention to page 2510. 

Okay. 

Do you see at the top -- the question is asked, "Did 

8 you give Mr. Cooper any state-issue tennis shoes?" 

9 A 

10 Q 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

Yes. 

And you say, "Yes, I did." And you're asked, 

"Did you give him just one pair or 

more than one pair? 

[You say], I gave him more than 

one pair at one time. 

Question: Do you recall what type 

of shoes you gave him the first time? 

Answer: P.F. Flyers. 

Question: Where would that have 

been -- in the gym? 

Yes. 

Question: Did Mr. Cooper exchange 

those P.F. Flyers at another time for a 

different pair of tennis shoes? 

Answer: Yes, he did." 

25 And then down a little later, 

37 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

"How many days, if you remember, 

before Mr. Cooper left for Minimum did 

you give him a second pair of tennis 

shoes? 

Answer: It was over the course 

of, I'd say, three or four days." 

You go on to say what type of shoes you'd given him the 

second time -- Pro Keds. 

9 So just so I understand, sir, your trial testimony 

10 was, "I gave him P.F. Flyers. He gave them back, and I 

11 

12 

13 

14 

gave him Pro Keds." 

A That's a everyday procedure. 

Q Right. And those are two different types of shoes. 

A Yeah. Prison-made shoes and the Pro Keds. 

38 

15 Q You didn't say "prison-issued shoes." You said, "P.F. 

16 Flyers." 

17 A Okay, I understand the terms. That's why I say 

18 

19 

20 

21 

we're --

Q And in your declaration, which we marked as Exhibit 2, 

you said you issued one pair of shoes to Kevin Cooper, and 

that's a pair of P.F. Flyers, correct? 

That's not true. 

That's what your declaration says, correct? 

22 A 

23 Q 

24 A I read what it says -- yeah, I read what it says, but 

25 this is really -- I'm not trying to be difficult about 
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1 this, but it's very simple, sir. Very simple. 

2 At one point there's no personal basketball even 

3 involved. You've given just one standard pair of shoes. 

4 Yes, I gave him -- he played -- I do recall the face 

39 

5 vaguely, but when he tried out for the basketball team and 

6 made the basketball team, those shoes are no longer 

7 necessary for him. He got a pair of Pro Keds. That's what 

8 I did. 

9 Q Now, this testimony we've been looking at, just so I 

10 understand the sequence, you gave him three or four days 

11 before he went to Minimum 

12 

13 

the shoes, correct? 

A Which ones? 

that's when you first gave him 

14 Q Well, the P.F. Flyers -- right? 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A Well, no, no, no. See, you're missing it again. What 

takes place -- we corne through this door every morning to 

play basketball. You're not a basketball team; there's a 

standard shoe that I give you. Standard shoe no matter 

what. I give them to you every day. That could happen 

twice a day, let alone four days in a row -- it could 

happen twice a day. You can corne in the gym twice a day. 

Therefore, once you turn them back in to me, I give 

you back your ID card. 

Now, that may be the repetitious scenario that you're 

speaking of, but once you tryout for the basketball team 
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1 and make the basketball team l that/s an obsolete 

2 involvement for you anymore. You have a brand-new pair of 

3 Pro Keds to play and keep. 

4 Q Sir l if you/d take a look at page 2546 of your trial 

5 testimony. 

6 A 

7 Q 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

25 -- okaYI gotcha l sir. 

You see in the middle? It saysl 

"Question: OkaYI and do you 

remember when -- when you gave Mr. 

Cooper the Pro Keds? 

Answer: Yes l I do. The same 

Question: The same day as the 

P.F. Flyers? 

Answer: Right. 

day. 

Question: Had you ever checked 

out any tennis shoes to him before 

then? 

Answer: Prior to what? The P.F. 

Flyers? 

Question: Yeah. 

Answer: NO I I hadn/t." 

22 So at the time you testified at trial you said you/d never 

23 before checked out any tennis shoes to Mr. Cooper prior to 

24 the day that you gave him the P.F. Flyers and the Pro Keds. 

25 THE COURT: If you go back to the original -- the 

Echo Reporting l Inc. 

40 

1 and make the basketball team l that/s an obsolete 

2 involvement for you anymore. You have a brand-new pair of 

3 Pro Keds to play and keep. 

4 Q Sir l if you/d take a look at page 2546 of your trial 

5 testimony. 

6 A 

7 Q 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

25 -- okaYI gotcha l sir. 

You see in the middle? It saysl 

"Question: OkaYI and do you 

remember when -- when you gave Mr. 

Cooper the Pro Keds? 

Answer: Yes l I do. The same 

Question: The same day as the 

P.F. Flyers? 

Answer: Right. 

day. 

Question: Had you ever checked 

out any tennis shoes to him before 

then? 

Answer: Prior to what? The P.F. 

Flyers? 

Question: Yeah. 

Answer: NO I I hadn/t." 

22 So at the time you testified at trial you said you/d never 

23 before checked out any tennis shoes to Mr. Cooper prior to 

24 the day that you gave him the P.F. Flyers and the Pro Keds. 

25 THE COURT: If you go back to the original -- the 

Echo Reporting l Inc. 



41 

1 page that we were on before, it said, "Over the course of 

2 three to four days." Page 2440, line 20. "Answer: It was 

3 over the course of, I'd say, three to four days." 

4 MR. YUHAS: I'll clarify that, your Honor. I 

5 think that refers to how far before he left for Minimum, 

6 but I will clarify that with some other testimony here. 

7 BY MR. YUHAS: 

8 Q In fact, Mr. Taylor, if you'd take a look at page 

9 2547, see the top -- as -- "Well, did you give him the 

10 tennis shoes ... " 

11 A Just a minute, sir - - I'm sorry. 

12 Q I'm sorry. 

13 A What page? 

14 Q 2547. 

15 A I'm still 

16 Q See the question, 

17 "Well, did you give him the tennis 

18 shoes three or four days before he 

19 left? 

20 Answer: That was pretty close." 

21 A And your question, sir? 

22 Q The question is, when you - - first of all, I'll just 

23 ask you a question we'll take them one at a time. 

24 When you gave Mr. Cooper the P.F. Flyers and then you 

25 say you then replaced them with Pro Keds, that occurred 
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1 three or four days before he got transferred to Minimum, 

2 correct? 

3 A Yes, and I can understand that question. Yeah, I 

4 understand why that happened like that. 

5 Q Okay. And then my second question is -- and I'm 

42 

6 referring now to the testimony we just read -- that, before 

7 the day that you gave Mr. Cooper P.F. Flyers and then Pro 

8 Keds, you had never before checked out to him any tennis 

9 shoes. Isn't that what your testimony was at trial? 

10 A I can vaguely understand why, and I can understand if 

11 I said that -- what I meant. I'm the only person that 

12 worked in that particular spot. Do you see what I mean? 

13 Q My question, sir, is -- at the time of trial, you 

14 testified that that was the first and only time you checked 

15 out tennis shoes to Mr. Cooper -- was on the day that you 

16 gave him the P.F. Flyers and then later you say Pro Keds, 

17 correct? 

18 A I can't say I can't agree with you in that 

19 ordinance. I can't agree with you in that ordinance. 

20 Q Well 

21 THE COURT: I think it's 2546, line 18. 

22 MR. YUHAS: Yes. 

23 BY MR. YUHAS: 

24 Q Sir, if you'd take a look at page 2546 again, sir. 

25 A Line 18 - - okay. 
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1 Q Just so we can clarify this. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

A I can't agree with you in that ordinance. 

Q So you see where it says, "You remember when you gave 

Mr. Cooper the Pro Keds" -- do you see that? "Same day as 

the P.F. Flyers." See that? 

A Okay. 

7 Q 

8 

And then the question is, 

"Had you ever checked out any 

tennis shoes to him before then? 9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Answer: Prior to what? The P.F. 

Flyers? 

Question: Yeah. 

Answer: No, I hadn't." 

So your trial testimony was, before you gave him those P.F. 

Flyers referred to in this testimony, you'd never checked 

out any other tennis shoes to him; isn't that correct? 

A Regular state issue. 

Q Pardon me? 

A The P.F. Flyers are the -- the Pro Keds are the 

basketball shoes. I never -- I gave him basketball shoes 

prior to him using the gym for recreational use -- checking 

out tennis shoes. I do recall specifically giving him a 

pair of recreational tennis shoes, just to play basketball. 

Once he gave them back, I don't know what happened to them. 

Once he tried out for the team, he got a pair of Pro Keds. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

Yes, sir. 

How many times it's derived prior to me specifically 
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3 giving him the Pro Keds,as I do recall without any visual 

4 impairment of any aspect. 

5 Q 

6 A 

My question, sir, is 

I understand that, but you -- I understand that, but 

7 you've got me saying this is the same thing that Ms. 

8 Cokes kept doing and which -- and eventually it became 

9 turned to some other scenario. 

Well 10 Q 

11 A It's a simple process, sir, what I did. I understand 

12 the seriousness in which we're speaking, but it's a simple 

13 process in which I did --

14 THE COURT: Okay, let's have him ask the 

15 question, and then you can answer, and then, if there's 

16 clarification needed, then we can do that. 

17 BY MR. YUHAS: 

18 Q My question is we've looked at the testimony that 

19 indicated that on some day -- on the same day, three or 

20 four days before Mr. Cooper got trapsferred to Minimum, 

21 that you gave him P.F. Flyers, which he then turned in for 

22 Pro Keds. You see that? 

23 A That's a standard procedure, yes. 

24 

25 

Q And I believe you also testified -- the page we're 

looking at -- that, prior to giving him those P.F. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

1 Q 

2 A 

Yes, sir. 

How many times it's derived prior to me specifically 

44 

3 giving him the Pro Keds,as I do recall without any visual 

4 impairment of any aspect. 

5 Q 

6 A 

My question, sir, is 

I understand that, but you -- I understand that, but 

7 you've got me saying this is the same thing that Ms. 

8 Cokes kept doing and which -- and eventually it became 

9 turned to some other scenario. 

Well 10 Q 

11 A It's a simple process, sir, what I did. I understand 

12 the seriousness in which we're speaking, but it's a simple 

13 process in which I did --

14 THE COURT: Okay, let's have him ask the 

15 question, and then you can answer, and then, if there's 

16 clarification needed, then we can do that. 

17 BY MR. YUHAS: 

18 Q My question is we've looked at the testimony that 

19 indicated that on some day -- on the same day, three or 

20 four days before Mr. Cooper got trapsferred to Minimum, 

21 that you gave him P.F. Flyers, which he then turned in for 

22 Pro Keds. You see that? 

23 A That's a standard procedure, yes. 

24 

25 

Q And I believe you also testified -- the page we're 

looking at -- that, prior to giving him those P.F. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



45 

1 Flyers -- and then you say the Pro Keds -- that you had 

2 never checked out any tennis shoes to him before. You see 

3 that? 

4 A Obviously, I'm talking about I never gave him another 

5 pair of Pro Keds other than when he comes for the 

6 recreational basketball procedure, sir. 

7 Q But this testimony didn't say, "Did you ever give him 

8 Pro Keds?" It says, "Did you give him any tennis shoes 

9 before then?" Correct? 

10 A 

11 Q 

I've seen him play basketball before. I know I did. 

Would you take a look at page 2547? And I guess, to 

12 be fair, to go back to the question at the very bottom of 

13 2546 -- see the question, 

14 "What was Mr. Cooper wearing when 

15 he was playing basketball before you 

16 gave him the P.F. Flyers?" 

17 Okay? Your answer was, 

18 

19 

20 

"I don't recall him playing 

basketball until I gave him the tennis 

shoes." 

21 Okay? And the question was, 

22 "Well, did you give him the tennis 

23 

24 

25 

shoes three or four days before he 

left? 

Answer: That was pretty close." 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

See that? 

Then the next question, 

"So the first time that Mr. 

Cooper -- you saw Mr. Cooper playing 

basketball was three or four days 

before he left? 

No. [And you go on to say] When? 

The first time you saw him playing 

basketball. 

Answer: When he tried out for my 

11 team." 

12 Now, I'm just trying to understand -- I'm trying to 

46 

13 reconcile all your testimony, Mr. Taylor. You testified on 

14 the prior page that you had not checked out to him any 

15 tennis shoes prior to the P.F. Flyers three or four days 

16 before he left. 

17 Now, just so I'm clear, you came to the medium 

18 security facility about May 12th -- is that about right? 

19 A That was 20 years ago, sir. I've not 

20 refreshed -- this is all -- as you speak it. I don't 

21 recall the specific date. 

22 Q 

23 A 

24 that. 

25 Q 

That's not surprising, sir. I don't blame you. 

I mean, I haven't lost too much, but I can't recall 

If you take a look at page 2531, that might jog your 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

See that? 

Then the next question, 

"So the first time that Mr. 

Cooper -- you saw Mr. Cooper playing 

basketball was three or four days 

before he left? 

No. [And you go on to say] When? 

The first time you saw him playing 

basketball. 

Answer: When he tried out for my 

11 team." 

12 Now, I'm just trying to understand -- I'm trying to 

46 

13 reconcile all your testimony, Mr. Taylor. You testified on 

14 the prior page that you had not checked out to him any 

15 tennis shoes prior to the P.F. Flyers three or four days 

16 before he left. 

17 Now, just so I'm clear, you came to the medium 

18 security facility about May 12th -- is that about right? 

19 A That was 20 years ago, sir. I've not 

20 refreshed -- this is all -- as you speak it. I don't 

21 recall the specific date. 

22 Q 

23 A 

24 that. 

25 Q 

That's not surprising, sir. I don't blame you. 

I mean, I haven't lost too much, but I can't recall 

If you take a look at page 2531, that might jog your 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



,---::., 

47 

1 memory. You see in the middle -- it saYSi 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 A 

14 Q 

15 A 

16 Q 

"Question: Okay, well, that's in 

May, though -- in May of 1983. Did you 

go back -- arrive back -- be 

transferred from CIM Minimum back over 

to West on the same day that you got 

caught smoking marijuana? 

Answer: Yes, I did. 

Question: Wasn't that May 10th? 

Answer: I believe it was around 

May 9th or May 10th. I have a 115 

that's dated May 9th." 

I recall that. I recall that. 

So it was about then. 

It had yeah, I recall that. 

And do you recall that Mr. Cooper was transferred to 

17 Minimum sometime roughly the very end of May, early part of 

18 June? 

19 A 

20 Q 

Yeah, I could say I recall that. 

And so the time that we've been talking about -- the 

21 three or four days beforehand that you gave him P.F. Flyers 

22 and Pro Keds, that would have been sometime in the 28th or 

23 29th of May, correct? In that ballpark. 

24 A 

25 Q 

Yeah, in that ballpark, yes, sir. 

Now, during that time between, say, May 10th or so and 
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1 the end of May, you would see Mr. Cooper when he came in 

2 the gym on a regular basis, right? 

3 A Sir, are you quoting testimony once again? 

4 Q No, I'm just asking a question. 

5 A Okay. Will you repeat the question? 

6 Q Yes. The question just is, from May 10th or 11th, in 

7 that time period when you're now working at the gym --

8 A Uh-huh. 

9 Q and up until late May, Mr. Cooper would come into 

10 the gym from time to time to play basketball? 

11 A Periodically, yes, sir. 

12 Q In fact, he was trying out for the team? 

13 A I don't know if he was directly from day 1 trying out 

14 for the team or when my involvement with him derived. 

15 Q And at some point in fact, you know, you played on the 

16 same team with him, correct? 

17 A Yeah. Yeah. Player-coaches team. 

18 Q And, in fact, for about a three-week period, you dealt 

19 with Mr. Cooper pretty much on a day-to-day basis, wouldn't 

20 you say? 

21 A If he came to the rec facility that much, yes. 

22 Q NOW, during the time -- we're talking the three-week 

23 period when you saw Mr. Cooper, he wasn't wearing the hard 

24 shoes -- the Brogans, correct? 

25 A Once again, sir, are you quoting the testimony? 
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1 Q 

2 A 

Well, I can if you'd like. 

Yeah, I do recall, sir. Like I said, this has been 

3 awhile. I haven't had a chance to read none of this. 

4 Q 

5 A 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 

10 

11 

12 

Okay. 

If I said it, I say I said it. 

Okay. Would you take a look at page 2542? 

2542. Okay, sir. 

So you see where it says at the top, 

"At West, did you ever see Mr. 

Cooper? What was Mr. Cooper -- what 

kind what did he have on his feet 

when you first gave him a pair of 

13 tennis shoes?" 

14 And you answered, "Shower shoes." Do you see that? 

15 A Okay, I see where you're at, sir. 

16 Q And it goes on to say, "Did you ever see him wearing 

17 brown state-issue shoes?" And the answer is, "No, I 

18 didn't." 

19 A 

20 Q 

Dh-huh. 

So you never saw him wearing the Brogans, the brown 

21 

22 

state shoes, right? 

A I can say no, I haven't. 

49 

23 Q And in fact, when you first gave him tennis shoes, he 

24 was wearing shower shoes. 

25 A Yes. 
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23 Q And in fact, when you first gave him tennis shoes, he 

24 was wearing shower shoes. 

25 A Yes. 
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And can you explain what shower shoes are? 

Beach walkers. Beach thongs. 

Oh, okay. Like the flip-flop-type things? 

Yeah. 

50 

1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q Okay. And you can't play basketball in these kind of 

6 flip-flop-type things, correct? 

7 A 

8 Q 

I wouldn't recommend it, no. 

Okay. Now so, as I understand it -- if I can try 

9 to put it together -- when you saw Mr. Cooper during this 

10 three-week period, he's not wearing anything other than 

11 beach shoes, correct? 

12 

13 

A I can't quote his every essence, but -- in reference 

to basketball? 

14 Q Yeah. 

15 

16 

A If he came into the gym -- I would say he would have 

to check out shoes. 

17 Q But you don't recall. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A I don't recall. I know what I did. When we get to my 

involvement in this, that's where we're at. 

Q It's fair to say that your mind was probably a little 

bit more refreshed 20 years ago when you testified than 

today? 

A Well, vaguely, yeah. I think -- I don't want to say I 

lost anything, but I do -- as you mentioned, I recall the 

incident and the testimony. The situation is like 
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1 yesterday to me, but as far as intricacies of the 

2 testimony, I know what my emphasis was, and I know the only 

3 thing I said -- why I said what I said -- because I know 

4 what I did. Back to you. 

5 Q Thank you. At the trial, though, if your testimony 

6 was that, prior to giving him P.F. Flyers three or four 

7 days before he left, you had not checked out any shoes, you 

8 would agree with me that the testimony at that time was 

9 more likely to be accurate than testimony today, correct? 

10 A Sir, I can make the testimony today as accurate as you 

11 believe -- as far as what transpired. I can clear up any 

12 discrepancy you have as far as what the actual question is. 

13 Did I or didn't I give him a specific pair of shoes, 

14 and do I know what pair of shoes it was? I understand 

15 that. I can give you a direct answer, but as far as, did I 

16 say this prior to saying that, I can't give you the 

17 accurate answer, and I can say that the testimony I gave 

18 then is in reference to what I'm speaking upon now. I 

19 don't have any reason to differ. I ain't never gained 

20 anything then by it; I don't want to gain anything now by 

21 it. 

22 Q That's a good point. When you say you didn't have 

23 anything to gain then, after you testified, were you aware 

24 that at some point in time a request -- a recommendation 

25 was made for a reduction in sentence? 
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1 A I heard vaguely about that, but I can tell you the 

2 outcome of it and why. 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q 

We'll get to that in a second. 

Okay. 

When you say you heard vaguely about that, did you 

6 ever see a piece of paper which actually was the 

7 recommendation? 

8 A I probably have. I -- you know, I probably have. I 

9 probably had seen it. 

10 (Pause. ) 

11 

12 

MR. YUHAS: May I approach, your Honor? 

THE COURT: You may. 

13 BY MR. YUHAS: 

14 Q 

15 A 

16 Q 

Mr. Taylor 

Yes, sir. 

Exhibit 4 for identification is a memorandum -- if I 

52 

17 can find it in my binder -- dated March 7, 1985 from the 

18 Office of Investigative Services to Midge Carroll. Do you 

19 see that? 

20 A Yes, I do, sir. 

21 Q Have you seen this before today? 

22 A Pardon? 

23 Q Have you seen this document before you sit here today? 

24 Is this the first time you've seen this document? 

25 A First time. 
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1 Q Okay. In or about March or so of 1985, were you aware 

2 that this type of recommendation had been made? 

3 A I was made aware after it transpired. 

4 Q After the recommendation was made? 

5 A 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

Yes. 

And how were you made aware of that fact? 

By the guy -- Zeke Hernandez. 

Okay. And what did Mr. Hernandez say? 

Well, he -- in essence, he told me why it was being 

10 terminated, but he also then told me that -- you know, 

11 don't feel like, you know, you've been like 

12 overlooking -- 'cause I never asked for anything. You 

13 know, once I was questioned, I just told him what happened, 

14 but I was never asked -- I never asked for anything out of 

15 this. That wasn't an intent at any point. 

16 What Mr. Hernandez brought to my attention was that he 

17 had done a document and, as you got here today, it 

18 transpired -- such as this. And he told me that he had 

19 done that, but his real reason for -- he even let me know 

20 he had done it -- was to let me know why it was no good. 

Had it been turned down? 21 Q 

22 A Yeah, why it hadn't -- it didn't fly. How's that? 

23 

24 

Q When Mr. Hernandez first let you know that a sentence 

reduction had been recommended, did that come as a surprise 

25 to you? 
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1 A It came at the same time he told me that it wouldn't 

2 fly. 

3 Q So there had been no prior discussions - -

4 A No prior discussion. 

5 Q Sir, you have to let me finish my discussion before 

6 you answer; otherwise, the court reporter --

7 A 

8 Q 

All right. 

So prior to Mr. Hernandez telling you that the 

9 recommendation had been turned down, you had no awareness 

10 that a sentence reduction recommendation had been made. 

11 A 

12 Q 

I had no knowledge of it. 

And you had never discussed the possibility of a 

13 sentence reduction in exchange for your testimony with 

14 anyone at CIM? 

15 A I never had. 

16 Q Or anyone at the district attorney's office? 

17 A Never. Never, sir. 

18 MR. YUHAS: May I approach, your Honor? 

19 THE COURT: You may. 

20 BY MR. YUHAS: 
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21 Q For identification, Exhibit 5 is a letter dated March 

22 11, 1985 to a Mr. Daniel McCarthy of the Department of 

23 Corrections. It appears to be signed by a John Kochis. 

24 Have you seen this before today, Mr. Taylor? 

25 A I've never seen this. 
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1 Q Okay. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

A Never seen it. 

Q When you had your discussion with Mr. Hernandez, did 

he indicate to you at that time that the district 

attorney's office had joined in the recommendation for a 

sentence reduction? 
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7 A No, I mean, he never indicated that. I don't mean to 

8 sound -- put any humor to this, but this is one of the 

9 reasons why~it didn't transpire -- because of 

10 something -- because something like this didn't derive 

11 (sic). 

12 What I mean is the reason why the institution couldn't 

13 do it -- because forgive me for bring up any bad cells 

14 or anything, but the alleged situation didn't derive on 

15 state property -- for my testimony to be taken at that 

16 time -- in reference to the state. 

17 I never knew that that was going to derive, but I also 

18 didn't not know if that transpired, either -- or it should 

19 happen. I mean, hindsight is 20/20 it should have 

20 happened with this -- I don't know why it didn't, but I 

21 never asked for anything like that, no. We never had 

22 anything discussed of that magnitude. 

23 Q Okay. Just a couple last questions, just so I give 

24 you the chance to do any other explanation that you want to 

25 give. 
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1 

2 A 

3 

4 

5 

6 

If you take a look back at your declaration -

Okay. 

THE COURT: Exhibit--

MR. YUHAS: I'm sorry -- Exhibit -

THE COURT: 4? 

MR. YUHAS: No, I think that's Exhibit 2, I 

7 believe. 

8 THE COURT: 2. 

9 MR. YUHAS: 2. I apologize, your Honor. 

10 BY MR. YUHAS: 

56 

11 Q And, again, focusing on the paragraph 3 on the second 

12 page -- I just want to make sure we're on the same page as 

13 to exactly what your current belief and position is on this 

14 paragraph. 

15 Your belief is the sentence -- the last sentence that 

16 begins, "Kevin did not trade the shoes in to me for a pair 

17 of Keds" -- that that sentence wasn't on this declaration 

18 when you signed it, correct? 

19 

20 A 

(Pause.) 

That's I don't believe that was there. I wouldn't 

21 have signed it in that context because I know what 

22 issue -- I know what I meant. Maybe we need to talk about 

23 what I meant. 

24 Q Well, the sentence that begins at the beginning, "I 

25 issued only one pair of shoes to Kevin Cooper" -- is it 
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1 your belief that that sentence was there when you signed 

2 the declaration or not? 

3 A Yeah, this has been rewritten, obviously, because 

4 that's not -- it's totally contrary to what --

5 Q Sir, my question is very simple. 

57 

6 A It's hard for me to say, sir. I can tell you what you 

7 need to know about it, but I can't answer that. 

8 Q Let me just -- so we have a clear record -- to the 

9 best of your recollection and knowledge as you sit there 

10 today, is it your belief that, when you signed this 

11 declaration, this first sentence of paragraph 3 was not as 

12 it is on Exhibit 2? 

13 A 

14 Q 

Well, to the best of my recollection, it wasn't. 

Okay. And taking it to the next sentence that says, 

15 "I issued him a pair of P.F. Flyers" -- okay -- is it your 

16 belief that that sentence was not on this declaration when 

17 you signed it? 

18 THE COURT: Would it help to see the original? 

19 Do you have the original? 

20 MR. YUHAS: I do not have the original, your 

21 Honor. 

22 THE COURT: Okay. 

23 MR. YUHAS: I don't know if the original was 

24 filed with the Court or not. 

25 THE COURT: Probably. 
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1 THE WITNESS: I can say that this is not the same 

2 wording in which I signed. I can say that. 

3 BY MR. YUHAS: 

4 Q Now, would you agree with me, sir, that one of the 

5 reasons -- and I understand your concern and 

6 confusion -- would you agree with me that one of the 

7 reasons why you believe that this declaration must not 

8 reflect what you signed is because the statements here in 

9 your view are inconsistent and contrary to what you 

10 testified to at trial? 

11 A 

12 Q 

13 A 

14 Q 

15 

That's true. They're not. They are. 

Okay. 

These are not the statements I made -- the scenario. 

Okay. 

MR. YUHAS: Your Honor, we would offer into 

16 evidence each of the exhibits that we've tendered, and with 

17 that I have no further questions. 

18 THE COURT: I think we'll have to go over those 

19 one by one and see if there's an evidentiary basis for 

20 that. 

21 MR. YUHAS: That's fine. Well, for right now, 

22 we'd offer into evidence the declaration. 

23 THE COURT: There's no problem with the 

24 declaration -- or what? 

25 MS. WILKENS: Your Honor, I think they probably 
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1 did, in fact, give the original to the Ninth Circuit, but I 

2 would like the original, based on 

3 MR. YUHAS: Your Honor, I will commit to 

4 MS. WILKENS: If it's being offered into 

5 evidence, it needs to be the original. 

6 THE COURT: What we'll do is check during the 

7 morning recess break at 10:30 and see if we can track down 

8 the original, and then subject to you offering the 

9 exhibits, we'll make -- the Court will make a ruling. 

10 MR. YUHAS: Fine, your Honor. And we will 

11 certainly use best efforts to try to locate the original or 

12 get it back from the court if we can. 

13 THE COURT: All right. 

14 (Pause.) 

15 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

16 BY MS. WILKENS: 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Q Mr. Taylor, just briefly, you testified that Ms. Coke 

wanted to verify your recollection with respect to the 

shoes that you gave to Mr. Cooper; is that correct? 

A Uh-huh. 

21 Q Did she bring any shoes to show you when you spoke 

22 with her the day that you met with her for four hours? 

23 A No, I -- she didn't. 

24 Q Did she have any photographs of shoes that she showed 

25 you? 
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1 A 

2 Q 

3 A 

4 Q 

5 A 

6 Q 

I want to say yes, she had one. 

She had a photograph? 

I think so. 

Do you recall what the photograph was of? 

A pair of Pro Keds. 

All right, so it was the same as the photograph in 

7 Exhibit C which would be the middle photo and the third 

8 photo? 

Yes -- yeah, those are the same shoes. 

60 

9 A 

10 Q All right. Now, you indicated that you drew a picture 

11 of the shoe for Ms. Coke; is that correct? 

12 A 

13 Q 

I drew the picture for Ms. Nerad. 

All right, so you drew the picture in the second 

14 meeting. 

15 A Right near the bottom, yeah. 

16 Q All right. Do you know what happened to your drawing? 

17 A No, I don't. 

18 Q Did you leave with it? 

19 A No, I didn't. 

20 Q Now, you testified that Pro Keds can be called P.F. 

21 Flyers depending upon what you're doing. Can you explain 

22 what you mean by that? 

23 A What I mean, ma'am -- and that's a good question 

24 because in prison you try to get the best possible shoes 

25 for the recreation process. But everyone can't have the 
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1 best shoes. So we reserve those for the individual 

2 basketball teams who play other teams coming from other 

3 yards or from outside agencies, et cetera, but we play 

61 

4 again as a joke -- "Oh, you want some P.F. Flyer Pro Keds," 

5 or "You want some Pro Keds? We've got some P.F. Flyers for 

6 you -- some Pro Keds" -- and the prison-made shoe -- none 

7 of this -- of the top Pro Keds would be identified in that 

8 context. 

9 What context it would be identified in is would be Pro 

10 Keds -- "We've got some Pro Keds P.F. Flyers for you." You 

11 know what I mean? It would be identified as a difference. 

12 Q Now, when you testify in court, how do you use the 

13 term, "P.F. Flyer"? Are you using slang when you --

14 A 

15 Q 

16 A 

Slang. 

-- testify? 

Yeah. In retrospect to that, yes. That's why I felt 

17 I, was saying from the first time I sat down. That's why I 

18 wanted to explain that. That's slang. 

19 Q Now, your declaration -- your declaration that Ms. 

20 Coke wrote out for you how did that work? Did you tell 

21 her what you wanted it to say? 

22 A No. 

23 Q Or did she just write it out? 

24 A She wrote it out. 

25 Q Okay. Now, I notice that there are initials on every 
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1 line on both pages. 

Uh-huh. 2 A 

3 Q Now, did you just write those initials all at once, or 

4 did you read a line --

5 A I wrote them all -- just wrote them on all at once. 

6 didn't think there would be a discrepancy such as it is. 

7 Q All right, and who asked you to initial each line? 

8 A Well, I kind of figured that it was best that I 

9 initial it so I can verify what I wrote and didn't what 

10 I said and didn't say - - 'cause I didn't write any of it. 

11 Q All right, so Ms. Coke didn't ask you to initial each 

12 line. 

13 A 

14 Q 

15 A 

Pardon? 

Ms. Coke didn't ask you to initial each line? 

Well, yes, she did, but that's kind of like the 

16 standard procedure, isn't it -- for a document such as 

17 this? If I'm going to tell somebody, "This is what I 

18 said," I want to be able to verify that by initialing what 

19 I said, and I guess that wasn't good at all, either. 

20 Q Okay, now, I notice -- do you still have a copy of 

21 your declaration in front of you, Mr. Taylor? Do you have 

22 that with you at the witness stand? 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT: Exhibit 2? 

MS. WILKENS: That would be the Exhibit 2. 

THE COURT: This one? 

I 
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1 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

2 BY MS. WILKENS: 

3 Q Is it in front of you? All right. Now, looking at 

4 the first line, it says, "I, James Taylor, declare ... " and 

5 I notice that "Taylor" had to be added. Now, did Ms. Coke 

6 add that, or did you add that? 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

I never wrote any of this. 

Okay. 

All I did was initial it. 

Did you point out to Ms. Coke that your last name 

11 wasn't in the declaration? 

12 A No, I didn't. 

13 Q All right. When you read it, do you recall if it had 

14 your full name - - when you read it? 

15 A No, I recall my name being on the top. 

16 Q Okay. 

17 A And that was enough - - I assumed enough to - -

18 Q Now, after Ms. Coke wrote out the declaration - - she 

19 handwrote it did she sit down and read it before she 

20 handed it to you? 

21 A She vaguely told me what she was writing in reference 

22 to testimony and what she felt as far as testimony as to 

23 what I'm still identifying to her as. 

24 Q Now, did she tell you what was going to go into the 

25 declaration as she was writing it or before she wrote it? 
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1 

2 

3 

A No, she told me while writing it as well as after 

writing it what she -- "This is what I'm writing; this is 

what I'm saying." 

64 

4 Q And what did she tell you with respect to what she was 

5 

6 

7 

8 

putting in the declaration -- as she was conversing with 

you and explaining what she was writing, what did she tell 

you the declaration was going to say? 

A That I gave him a pair of Pro Ked tennis shoes. 

9 Q Now, on the second page of your declaration, I notice 

10 on the fifth line it says, "A pair of P.F. Flyers," and 

11 then it looks like the word "which" has been crossed out. 

12 Is that how it appeared when you signed it, if you 

13 recall? 

14 A 

15 Q 

I don't think so. 

You don't remember anything being crossed out when you 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

signed it? 

A No. 

Q Okay. Now, when you initialed each line, was there 

writing on each line as you initialed it, or did you just 

initial the entire page? 

A The document that I had wrote -- I initialed 

it -- wrote out. 

Q Okay, so you wrote --

A That's why I know this is not what I said -- what I 

would have said. 
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1 Q Okay. Well, what I'm trying to clarify, Mr. Taylor, 

2 are you saying that your declaration doesn't say what you 

3 thought it said, or are you saying that it's been changed 

4 since you signed it? 

5 A I'll go farther than that. This is not the 

6 same -- just my signature, but this is not what I -- no, 

7 it's not saying what I thought it said. 
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8 Q Okay. So it -- when you read it over, you understood 

9 it to. say something different than you're now reading. 

10 A 

11 Q 

Yeah. I meant to say something different. 

Okay, but you're not saying that someone later took 

12 this declaration and changed what was on it. You're not 

13 saying that, are you? 

It's a possibility. 

Okay. So you have no way of knowing. 

14 A 

15 Q 

16 A I have no way of knowing. That's why I made a phone 

17 call to try to get some copies and some stuff sent in from 

18 her that never came - - you know. 

19 Q Well, you made a phone call to Ms. Coke to request 

20 A Not Ms. Coke. No, I didn't make a phone call - - I 

21 wrote - - what's her name? Scarlet? 

22 Q Okay, so you wrote to Ms. Nerad. 

23 A And - -

24 Q Okay, my understanding was that you had written to Ms. 

25 Nadir to get something back relating to your CDC file. 
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1 Q Okay. Well, what I'm trying to clarify, Mr. Taylor, 

2 are you saying that your declaration doesn't say what you 

3 thought it said, or are you saying that it's been changed 

4 since you signed it? 

5 A I'll go farther than that. This is not the 

6 same -- just my signature, but this is not what I -- no, 

7 it's not saying what I thought it said. 
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1 A Yeah. 

2 Q Did you also request a copy of your declaration? 

3 A No, not the declaration per se but whatever - - in 

4 reference to what I was coming here for, I wanted a copy 

5 of. 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q 

Okay, and that was in your letter. 

Yes. 

Now, did Ms. Coke leave a copy of your declaration 

9 with you that day? 

10 A 

11 Q 

No, I never got anything. 

So you haven't seen your declaration aga~n until 

12 todaYi is that correct? 

It's the first time I've seen it. 
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13 A 

14 Q When Ms. Coke came back with Ms. Nadir, did they have 

15 a copy of your declaration for your second visit? 

16 A 

17 it. 

18 Q 

19 A 

You know what? I want to say yes, but I didn't read 

All right. So they may have had it with them? 

Yes. I think so. I just want to be as honest as I 

20 can -- recollect. I think she did have it. 

21 Q Now, your recollection in 2004 is probably less than 

22 your recollection in 1984; is that correct? 

23 A I would say that. I think I can remember 2004 better 

24 than I can 1984. 

25 Q Well, sitting here today, do you have a specific 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

1 A Yeah. 

2 Q Did you also request a copy of your declaration? 

3 A No, not the declaration per se but whatever - - in 

4 reference to what I was coming here for, I wanted a copy 

5 of. 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q 

Okay, and that was in your letter. 

Yes. 

Now, did Ms. Coke leave a copy of your declaration 

9 with you that day? 

10 A 

11 Q 

No, I never got anything. 

So you haven't seen your declaration aga~n until 

12 todaYi is that correct? 

It's the first time I've seen it. 

66 

13 A 

14 Q When Ms. Coke came back with Ms. Nadir, did they have 

15 a copy of your declaration for your second visit? 

16 A 

17 it. 

18 Q 

19 A 

You know what? I want to say yes, but I didn't read 

All right. So they may have had it with them? 

Yes. I think so. I just want to be as honest as I 

20 can -- recollect. I think she did have it. 

21 Q Now, your recollection in 2004 is probably less than 

22 your recollection in 1984; is that correct? 

23 A I would say that. I think I can remember 2004 better 

24 than I can 1984. 

25 Q Well, sitting here today, do you have a specific 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



1 recollection as to giving Mr. Cooper the Pro Ked tennis 

2 shoes? 

3 A 

4 Q 

Yes, I do. 

And do you have a specific recollection that he did 

5 not return those shoes to you? 

Yes, that is of the same answer. 

67 

6 A 

7 Q And with respect to your declaration, at the time you 

8 signed it, that you believed that it was consistent with 

9 your recollection that you gave Mr. Cooper a pair of Pro 

10 Ked shoes that were not returned; is that correct? 

11 A 

12 

I did believe it was in the same accord with that. 

MS. WILKENS: Thank you, your Honor. I have no 

13 further questions. 

14 

15 

THE COURT: Anything else? 

MR. YUHAS: Just a couple, your Honor. I 

16 apologize. I was hustling with papers. 

17 RECROSS EXAMINATION 

18 BY MR. YUHAS: 

19 Q Mr. Taylor, when Ms. Coke and Ms. Nerad came back to 

20 you the second time, did you say that they had a copy of 

21 the declaration that you had signed? 

22 A I think so. 

23 Q Okay. And did they show it to you at that time? 

24 A No, they never showed it to me at that time. 

25 Q Did you ask to see it? 
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A Well, I asked where were the other documents that I 

was supposed to get in the mail. I wanted everything to 

arrive in the mail from--youknow.soIcan see what the 

heck was going -- really needed to be done. 

Q NOw, you had -- in response to counsel's 

question -- indicated that at some point in time you may 

have been shown a picture of a tennis show. 

A Yeah. 

Q Do you know whether that was during the first visit or 

the second visit 

11 A That would have been during the first statement. 

12 Q And just so I'm clear because there's been a lot of 

13 back and forth -- the declaration that you signed -- right 

14 now, you have some reason to believe that the words on that 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

declaration were not there when you signed it -- the ones 

we've marked as Exhibit 2, correct? 

A Well, I don't believe that it's accurate to what I 

said, to what I -- see, we didn't I'm saying this to 

you, we've -- she wrote on the meeting we had, this is 

her final analysis of what this declaration should be from 

the meeting we had. 

I gave the input in reference to me being the other 

substance involved that you were saying I gave him one pair 

of tennis shoes which were the Pro Keds, and I never got 

them back. That was the extent of my involvement. 
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1 Q Well, but to the extent of your involvement, am I 

2 correct from your prior testimony -- you also -- when she 

3 was done writing out the declaration, you actually read it, 

4 correct? 

5 A Well, no, I didn't. I just signed it. 

6 Q So now you're 

7 A I just 

8 Q Excuse me - - were you done? 

9 A Yeah. 

10 Q So now you're saying that you didn't read the 

11 declaration at all. 

12 A 

13 Q 

This is not the same wording that I read. How's that? 

Well, okay. Did you read it and this is different 

14 wording, or did you not read it at all? 

15 A I signed what I said what -- from my perspective 

16 which was that I had gave him a pair of Pro Keds and that 

17 he never returned those particular shoes. The only reason 

18 that the P.F. Flyers was involved was those were -- a slang 

19 name could be used -- Pro Con. You know what I mean? 

20 Those were the ones given at any annual time; however, we 

21 do call these Pro Keds sometimes -- P.F. Flyers. 

22 Q 

23 A 

I understand 

That's what I told her -- and ever what she could word 

24 it up to be is what it is, but I did sign it. 

25 Q Okay. Let's -- let's talk about now just the process, 
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1 okay? 

2 A Okay. 

3 Q First question is, after you had your discussion and a 

4 declaration was prepared -- you know -- did you read it 

5 before you signed it? 

6 A Well, we had -- a paragraph per paragraph -- and I was 

7 signing it. Then, as she kept going, I just kept signing 

8 it because I know what we were saying. 

9 Q So you read part of it but not all of it. Is that 

10 what you're saying now? 

11 A Listen to me, sir. As she expounded on what she was 

12 saying, I signed it because we had just had the 

13 discussion -- just fresh like that. I mean, there was no 

14 room for error -- no room for discrepancy what I wanted to 

15 say. That is error that's in there -- from what I wanted 

16 to say at that particular point in time. 

17 Q Okay. We're just not connecting, so I'll try to make 

18 it clearer. 

19 As I understand it, you had this meeting with Ms. 

20 Coke 

21 A 

22 Q 

Yes. 

-- and towards the end of the meeting, she wrote out 

23 this declaration. 

24 A 

25 Q 

Yes. 

Then she gave it to you, correct? 
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2 

3 

A No. She wrote it out; we discussed what the 

intricates were of it, and I signed it. 

Q Right. And so she handed it to you to sign. 

4 A 

5 Q 

Yes. And I initialed it. 

And the question is, before you signed it, did you 

6 read each paragraph, each sentence in the declaration? 

7 A Verbatim -- verbatim, no, I didn't. 
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8 Q And so how is it that you believe now well, strike 

9 that. We probably covered that adequately. 

10 MR. YUHAS: Your Honor, just -- I don't want to 

11 belabor this morning's testimony, but one of the exhibits 

12 that I marked is a transcript of the interview with this 

13 witness and a couple of the detectives. I can have this 

14 witness go through and testify as to whether that whole 

15 transcript accurately reflects the substance. We have a 

16 declaration from the detectives that in fact that is the 

17 case, and we have the tape. 

18 So I don't want to lose this witness if he's a 

19 necessary foundation witness, but I'm prepared to accept 

20 the declaration for that -- for purposes of authenticating 

21 the transcript and avoid that, if that's possible. 

22 THE COURT: All right. Then we'll --

23 MR. YUHAS: So -- we would offer the transcript 

24 into evidence at this point in time. 

25 THE COURT: All right. Any objection? 
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2 

MS. WILKENS: No objection, your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. That's received, and I 

3 need the exhibit number. 

4 MR. YUHAS: I'm sorry -- that's Exhibit I, I 

5 believe. 

6 THE COURT: I think we'll receive 2. The Ninth 

7 Circuit already has it -- so that's the declaration. 

8 3 is on --

9 MR. YUHAS: Exhibit 3 is the trial testimony, 

10 your Honor. 

11 THE COURT: 3 is the trial testimony. 

12 MR. YUHAS: That was just for convenience. 

13 THE COURT: It's already incorporated. 4 and 5 

14 are the letters which he didn't write - -

15 MR. YUHAS: We would reserve on that. We think 

16 other witnesses can provide the foundation. 

72 

17 THE COURT: I don't think that that's going to be 

18 an issue. 

19 MR. YUHAS: No, they were actually in, I think, 

20 the documents provided by the state. 

21 

22 

23 

THE COURT: And is that all of them? 

MR. YUHAS: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right, thank you. Then 

24 we're -- are we finished? 

25 MS. WILKENS: No further questions, your Honor. 
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THE COURT: All right, thank you. One thing I'd 

2 like you to do -- we'll take our morning recess break. 

3 It's been 20 years since you gave your testimony. What I'd 

4 like you to do over the recess is read your trial testimony 

5 and then be prepared to answer the Court's question -- was 

6 this true testimony that you gave or not. 

7 MR. YUHAS: Your Honor, I also have the 

8 preliminary hearing testimony if that would --

9 THE COURT: I'll just do the trial testimony 

10 and -- because apparently nobody has shown him the trial 

11 testimony, so I'd like you to read this during the morning 

12 recess break, and then say whether this is true or not 

13 true -- to the best of your recollection. Thank you. 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE CLERK: We're in recess. 

(Proceedings recessed briefly.) 

THE COURT: We'll bring on our witness. 

THE CLERK: I'll tell the marshal. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

(Pause. ) 

THE COURT: Welcome back. Have you had a chance 

to read your trial transcript? 

THE WITNESS: Yes. Well (indiscernible) . 

THE COURT: All right. And is that testimony 

true and accurate? 

THE WITNESS: Yes, it is, ma'am. 
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10 

further? 

thank you 

THE COURT: All right, thank you. Anything 

Submitted? 

MR. YUHAS: Submitted, your Honor. 

MS. WILKENS: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. You're excused. And 

- - you may take him back. 

Next, the - - we have the warden. 

MR. ALEXANDER: We do, your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Before -- with the Court's 

11 permission, if I can just briefly address the matter, and 

12 then you can decide whether you want to address it or now 

13 or later -- at the Court's pleasure. 

14 We received yesterday at some time late in the 

74 

15 afternoon 5:30 or so -- what is before you here and what 

16 is before the table here --

17 THE COURT: These are the notes of the 

18 warden -- the lodgements? 

19 

20 

21 

MR. ALEXANDER: No, your Honor. 

THE COURT: No? 

MR. ALEXANDER: These are documents -- frankly, I 

22 don't know what's all in the documents because we got them 

23 so late yesterday, but these are apparently documents that 

24 were obtained from the vault that was maintained at Chino 

25 Institute for Men and relate to Kevin Cooper. 
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1 Now, according to the lodgment that was submitted 

2 with the documents, the Attorney General's office has had 

3 these documents since actually before we were here last 

4 time. They obtained the documents on March 26th and 29th. 

5 They then went through them, and as of April 20th -- so 

6 

7 

8 

9 

we're well over a month -- they have had these documents. 

They were apparently sent by Federal Express late last 

Friday afternoon. They were not received by us, except in 

our San Francisco office or maybe I think it was in San 

10 Francisco -- until yesterday, and we were making 

11 arrangements to see if we could get a hold of them. 

12 Then we called Ms. Wilkens' office, and they made 

13 additional--

14 THE COURT: Do you have Ms. Coates (sic) here? 

15 MR. ALEXANDER: Ms. Coates? 

16 THE COURT: Coke. 

17 MR. ALEXANDER: We do not, although --

18 THE COURT: Because of the Court's order? 

19 MR. ALEXANDER: Yes, but we --

20 THE COURT: Okay, do we have the -- who's the 

21 Stride Rite company --

22 MS. WILKENS: Mr. Luck's arriving at 11:00. 

23 THE COURT: At 11:00. We'll take 

24 

25 

MS. WILKENS: We have Lieutenant Smith. 

THE COURT: -- Mr. Luck. You'll have the lunch 
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1 recess to peruse the documents. 

2 MR. ALEXANDER: Well, let me be -- okay --

3 complete about it, if I might. 

4 Number one, I don't know why these were not 

5 provided to us until the last second, and only counsel can 

6 indicate that. 

7 Number two, I don't know that in the course of a 

8 lunch hour we're going to be able to get through all of 

9 those documents and find out 

10 THE COURT: I think with the three of you, you'll 

11 be able to divide up the notebooks and review them, so what 

12 we'll do is we'll take Mr. Luck who 

13 MS. WILKENS: Your Honor, can we take Lieutenant 

14 Smith because he is here -

IS THE COURT: Sure. 

16 

17 

MS. WILKENS: -- and we can take --

THE COURT: All right. We can take Mr. Smith, 

18 and then we'll take Mr. Luck, and you'll have the -- if the 

19 warden is here, we can take her after lunch. 

20 MR. ALEXANDER: May I make an alternative 

21 suggestion to the Court? I'll start with Midge 

22 Carroll -- with Ms. Carroll, and I don't know what time 

23 we're planning to break for lunch, and then we'll look at 

24 the documents during the lunch hour, and if there's 

25 anything further, then I can pick it up right afterwards 
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1 'cause I would like to get to her now at this time 

2 THE COURT: Well, in view of -- what I'd prefer 

3 is we'll do Mr. Luck who's getting or the detective, and 

4 then you'll have the lunch recess, so if you want to tailor 

5 your direct in any way, you may. 

6 MR. ALEXANDER: Here's my concern -- as I've 

7 advised the Court, and this is a matter of --

8 THE COURT: Or is this on your schedule 

9 personal schedule? 

10 

11 

12 

MR. ALEXANDER: This is on my personal matter. 

THE COURT: All right. Okay. 

MR. ALEXANDER: And if it weren't so -- you know, 

13 if it wasn't such an important matter in my life --

14 THE COURT: Sure. All right. 

15 MR. ALEXANDER: That's why I would prefer to 

16 start with Midge Carroll. 

17 THE COURT: You're not coming back tomorrow. 

18 MR. ALEXANDER: Oh, I am. 

19 THE COURT: You are coming back tomorrow. 

20 MR. ALEXANDER: Yes. But I think, if we get 

21 going with Ms. Carroll 

22 MS. WILKENS: Your Honor, Lieutenant Smith is 

23 quite brief. He's been here all morning. 

24 MR. ALEXANDER: As has Ms. Carroll 

25 THE COURT: But Lieutenant Smith is somebody 
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1 else's witness; is that right --

2 MR. ALEXANDER: Yeah, not 

3 

4 

5 

THE COURT: Not yours. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Right. 

THE COURT: Okay. To accommodate counsel's 

6 schedule, you've divided up the workload; is that right? 

7 

8 

MR. ALEXANDER: Yes. 

THE COURT: All right. We'll put on Midge 

9 Carroll now. You'll have the lunch recess to review the 

78 

10 documents and -- without prejudice if we think that we need 

11 additional--

12 MR. ALEXANDER: I would request that, in the 

13 future, since we were lodged as exhibits, that, before a 

14 lodgment occurs, if the Court could order both sides to 

15 show them to the other side before the lodge --

16 THE COURT: I'm not going to do that --

17 MS. WILKENS: Your Honor, to clarify, they were 

18 not lodged as exhibits, and we did not receive them on 

19 March 26th and March 29th. That's when they were removed 

20 by Internal Affairs. 

21 MR. ALEXANDER: Here's their papers -- I don't 

22 need to get into --

23 THE COURT: I don't think we need to get that. 

24 Why don't we call Midge Carroll --

25 MR. ALEXANDER: All right. 
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1 THE COURT: -- and then at the lunch 

2 recess -- due to the schedule, we had initially decided, to 

3 save cost and expense, to go 10:30 to 6:00 or whenever, but 

4 since counsel is already here in town, we were able to move 

5 it to 9:00 which helps me out because I have a judicial 

6 meeting that I was going to miss. Now I can do that. I'll 

7 give you an hour or an hour and a half, depending on what 

8 you think of your schedule --

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

THE COURT: for lunch. 

MR. ALEXANDER: We don't need anywhere near that. 

THE COURT: Then an hour. 

MR. ALEXANDER: I think a half hour, hour, 

14 whatever the court staff 

15 THE COURT: An hour for lunch. We'll break from 

16 12:00 to 1:00, and then we'll resume at 1:00. All right. 

17 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you, your Honor. 

18 THE COURT: And then you'll be on your way. 

19 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you very kindly. 

20 THE COURT: Thank you. 

21 MR. ALEXANDER: Let me say finally that, in light 

22 of your Honor's orders we just raised, we don't have either 

23 Ms. Coke or Ms. Nerad -- I think it was 

24 mispronounced -- it's N-E-R-A-D for everyone's 

25 benefit -- but we certainly would offer to bring them if 
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1 the Court so desires. 

2 THE COURT: All right, or if the parties wish to. 

3 MR. ALEXANDER: Yes. 

4 THE COURT: So you can give that some thought 

5 over the lunch. 

6 So let's call Ms. Carroll at this time. And I do 

7 note for the record that there has been no motion to 

8 exclude witnesses. 

9 

10 

11 

THE CLERK: Raise your right hand, please. 

MIDGE CARROLL, PETITIONER'S WITNESS, SWORN 

THE CLERK: Would you state your name and spell 

12 your first and last name for the record. 

13 THE WITNESS: My name is Midge Carroll, 

14 M-I-D-G-E, C-A-R-R-O-L-L. 

15 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

16 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

17 Q 

18 A 

Good morning, Ms. Carroll. 

Good morning. 

19 MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, I forgot one item. 

20 We have an agreement between counsel as to Exhibits 4 and 

21 5. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. ALEXANDER: That they may come in. 

THE COURT: Thank you. They're received. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you, your Honor. 
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BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

Q Ms. Carroll, it would be helpful if you might briefly 

3 describe your educational background to the Court and to 

4 counsel. 

5 A 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q 

I have a bachelor's degree from San Bernardino State. 

All right. 

Went to high school, went to grade school. 

All right. And, again, briefly, leading up to the 

9 time of your becoming the warden at the Chino 

10 Institute -- Institution or Men, would you describe your 

11 work background? 

12 A I started at the California Institution for Women in 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

April 1966. I worked as a correctional officer. I was 

promoted to correctional sergeant at Norco California 

Rehabilitation Center. I was promoted to lieutenant. I 

went out to the field in San Bernardino County in Region 4 

and worked as a parole agent. 

I then worked at Chino at what they called RC West to 

process parole violators back into the system. It was the 

beginning of Morrissey Ganyon (phonetic), and they were 

involved 

Q I'm sorry -- the beginning of --

A Morrissey Ganyon had just become law, and we had to do 

administrative hearings before we could violate a person's 

parole, so I helped set up that unit. 
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From there, I went back to Los Angeles, Region 2 area, 

2 was a parole agent and a parole agent supervisor. Then I 

3 went back to California Institution for Women as a 

4 correctional captain. 

5 Then I went to CR Conservation Center as an associate 

6 warden, and then I went to Chino as the warden. You want 

7 up to that point? 

8 Q Yes. 

9 A All right. 

10 Q Let's stop right there. 

11 A All right. 

12 Q So we've now gone from 1966 when you started with the 

13 California Institution for Women until you're becoming the 

14 warden at Chino Institution for Men in what year? 

15 A 1982. 

16 Q Do you remember more precisely when that was? 

17 A I believe it was May 1st. 

18 Q May 1st. Okay. Now, while we're at that, you're 

19 familiar with Sheriff Tidwell? 

20 A 

21 Q 

Yes, I am. 

Can you tell us if you especially recall approximately 

22 when he started -- become the sheriff of San Bernardino 

23 County? 

24 A I believe it was within a month or six weeks or Kevin 

25 Cooper's escape from Chino. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

1 

82 

From there, I went back to Los Angeles, Region 2 area, 

2 was a parole agent and a parole agent supervisor. Then I 

3 went back to California Institution for Women as a 

4 correctional captain. 

5 Then I went to CR Conservation Center as an associate 

6 warden, and then I went to Chino as the warden. You want 

7 up to that point? 

8 Q Yes. 

9 A All right. 

10 Q Let's stop right there. 

11 A All right. 

12 Q So we've now gone from 1966 when you started with the 

13 California Institution for Women until you're becoming the 

14 warden at Chino Institution for Men in what year? 

15 A 1982. 

16 Q Do you remember more precisely when that was? 

17 A I believe it was May 1st. 

18 Q May 1st. Okay. Now, while we're at that, you're 

19 familiar with Sheriff Tidwell? 

20 A 

21 Q 

Yes, I am. 

Can you tell us if you especially recall approximately 

22 when he started -- become the sheriff of San Bernardino 

23 County? 

24 A I believe it was within a month or six weeks or Kevin 

25 Cooper's escape from Chino. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



'~. 

1 Q 

2 A 

3 

4 Q 

Sometime early in 1983. 

Yes. 

(Pause. ) 

Now, again, just to get this background information, 

5 when you came to the Chino facility in May of 1982 as the 

6 warden, whom did you replace? 

7 A 

8 Q 

Bertrand Griggs (phonetic) 

And again, would you describe for us the type of 

9 prisoners at that time that were housed at the Chino 

10 Institution for Men? 

11 MS. WILKENS: Objection; relevance. 

12 THE COURT: Overruled. 
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13 THE WITNESS: Chino was the largest prison in the 

14 state of California. It was actually four prisons in one, 

15 four separate facilities. There was Minimum, East, West, 

16 and Central, and Central had a prison within a prison that 

17 was called Palm Hall which took the most violent -- and the 

18 gang leaders throughout the state were housed there. 

19 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

20 Q Now, this is before Pelican Bay was constructed? 

21 A Right. 

22 Q So is it correct, then, that the most dangerous 

23 prisoners in the state of California were housed at Chino 

24 at that time in Palm Hall? 

25 A Many of them were, yes. 
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Okay. And would it be a fair characterization to say 

2 that, in terms of the minimum security portion, that you 

3 went from in some sense the lightest to the heaviest of 

4 prisoners? 

5 A Yes, we did. 

6 Q In terms of the seriousness of crimes and their 

7 

8 

punishments. 

A Correct. 

9 Q All right. Thank you. Now, just so we're clear, 

10 before today, you and I have spoken; isn't that correct? 

11 A 

12 Q 

That is correct. 

All right. And in addition, you have also met with 

13 Detectives Pacifico and Mahoney? 

14 A I did not meet with them. I talked to them on the 

15 telephone. 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Q Oh, very well. Thank you. I'm sorry. And 

approximately how long was that conversation? 

A Well, the first one was with Detective Pacifico, and I 

would guess 30, 40 minutes. 

20 Q Okay. And there was an additional conversation? 

21 

22 

23 

A Yes, they asked me to call him back with some 

information, which I did, and I would say that was brief. 

I don't know -- five, ten minutes. 

24 Q Uh-huh. At the time you received the first call from 

25 the detectives, were you aware that that call was being 
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2 

tape-recorded? 

A No, I was not. 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q 

Have you subsequently been notified of that fact? 

You notified me of that. 

All right. And have you listened to and reviewed a 

6 transcript of that telephone conversation? 

7 A I listened to the tape. 

8 Q Okay. Have you reviewed the transcript? 

Actually, I did not. 

85 

9 A 

10 MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, we would -- as we did 

11 in the case of Mr. Taylor -- offer into evidence the tape 

12 recording done by the detectives for the Attorney General's 

13 office and can provide a transcript. 

14 THE COURT: IJ there's a stipulation and 

15 agreement, then that will be received. Technically, it's 

16 not evidence, but is there any objection? 

17 MS. WILKENS: No objection. 

18 THE COURT: All right. It's received. 

19 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you very much, your Honor. 

20 Thank you, counsel. 

21 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

22 Q Now, when you again, just briefly so we can get 

23 some background -- when you started in May of 1982 at the 

24 Chino Institution for Men, was there an agenda or a 

25 directive that you had? 
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Yes, there was. 1 A 

2 Q And would you describe again rather briefly what that 

3 agenda concerned? 

4 A The institution was involved in scandal and 

5 mismanagement. It was being investigated by the California 

6 legislature. They were holding hearings in downtown Chino. 

7 It was making headlines in the local papers and with the 

8 Los Angeles Times and all the news media. 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 

12 

13 

14 

What were the issues? 

On~ was security --

MS. WILKENS: Objectioni relevance -

THE COURT: Pardon me? 

MS. WILKENS: Objectioni relevance. 

THE COURT: Overruled for now. 

15 MR. ALEXANDER: I'm going to be brief on this, 

16 your Honor. 

17 

18 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

19 THE WITNESS: One was for security, and one was 

20 procurement and business services. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Okay. 

BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

21 

22 

23 Q And just very briefly -- let's take the second one 

24 first -- what was the nature of the issue regarding to 

25 procurement? 
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1 A It was very complicated -- there were many of them, 

2 but basically they had not followed state regulations and 

3 procedures in procurement, in record-keeping and 

4 management basically that's the gist of it. 

5 Q How did it manifest itself -- when you say they had 

not 

A Well, one --

Q -- they had not maintained records? 

87 

6 

7 

8 

9 A There was food rottingi inmates were being served food 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

with bugs and worms in it because they had over-ordered and 

had not -- did not have enough cold storage to keep the 

food adequate. 

There were buildings allover this 2,600 acres filled 

with products they had purchased and they had forgotten 

15 about. Some had been left to rot. Some had been misued by 

16 inmates. 

17 They had a purchasing system that was not following 

18 regulation where they gave people -- like blank sections 

19 that they could go order things, whereas this is not -- I 

20 don't know if it's a criminal offense, but it certainly was 

21 not regulation. 

22 California has very specific regulations on 

23 purchasing. It's very closely monitored -- should be 

24 closely monitored. I think since this time it has been 

25 closely monitored. 
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1 A It was very complicated -- there were many of them, 
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1 But anyway, there was a lot of scandal about the 

2 mismanagement of state supplies, state funds. 

3 Q How about the use of state automobiles? Was that an 

4 issue? 

5 A Yes, it was. 

6 Q And what was that issue? 

7 MS. WILKENS: Objection; relevance. 

8 THE COURT: Sustained. 

9 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

10 Q Was there a part of the procurement -- did you become 

11 aware of instances where guards would remove some of the 

12 goods and things that were bought and taken home? 

13 A It wasn't guards, necessarily. It was kind of an open 

14 system. 

15 They had a system where anything that an employee 

16 wanted to pick up from the dump, they could take, and as it 

17 turned out under investigation, many brand-new pieces of 

18 equipment -- new typewriters and that sort of thing were 

19 found still in the boxes -- were in the dump. 

20 

21 Q 

That was one example. What was your question again? 

I was asking about the over-ordering and whether or 

22 not some of those goods were removed --

23 A 

24 Q 

25 A 

Oh, yes. 

-- from the facility by either guards or others. 

They had a system in the culinary that they allowed 
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1 employees to bring in meat and have the inmates that work 

2 in the culinary cut it, and they always -- well, the 

3 investigation revealed that they took out more than they 

4 brought in. 

5 Q Now, you mentioned also -- and pertinent here -- the 

6 issue of security. Would you briefly describe what the 

7 security issue was? 

8 A The security issue was that an inmate that was doing 

89 

9 life for murder was on the Minimum yard, and he was allowed 

10 to take 72-hour passes out to the community to do various 

11 things, and he was also given a state car to drive. He 

12 also had an office with a refrigerator in it on the Minimum 

13 yard. 

14 Q And you're referring to a specific incident -- or was 

15 that more common? 

16 A To a specific incident, but the security on the 

17 Minimum yard was basically nonexistent. 

18 Q And were there security issues relating to the medium 

19 security aspects of the prison? 

20 A The other three facilities were In much better shape, 

21 security-wise. It was Minimum that was the problem. 

22 Q Now, I'm -- let me ask you about this. Well, let me 

23 do this. 

24 MR. ALEXANDER: With your Honor's permission, I 

25 would like -- 'cause I think it would be instructive to all 
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1 of us and it relates to some of the places we've heard 

2 about -- to ask Ms. Carroll to just do a very brief outline 

3 of the facility so you can see where various things are 

4 located. 

5 THE COURT: I'd prefer if you just move that over 

6 here--

7 MR. ALEXANDER: Yes, I will do that. 

8 THE COURT: and then she may do that for now. 

9 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

10 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

11 Q Ms. Carroll, I know you're not an artist, but - -

12 A I'm definitely not. 

13 Q you'll be a better artist than I am. 

14 MR. ALEXANDER: Ms. Wilkens, does that work for 

15 you? You can see that? 

16 MS. WILKENS: Fine, thank you. 

17 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

18 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

19 Q I'm going to give you - - take your pick. Could you as 

20 best as possible draw - - describe the portion of the 

21 (Pause. ) 

22 A This is Central Avenue, and this would be the gate and 

23 the road in Chino. Over in this section is staff housing. 

24 Q I'm going to put a "1" next to staff housing. 

25 A Okay. There was a gate house of a sort there. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

90 

1 of us and it relates to some of the places we've heard 

2 about -- to ask Ms. Carroll to just do a very brief outline 

3 of the facility so you can see where various things are 

4 located. 

5 THE COURT: I'd prefer if you just move that over 

6 here--

7 MR. ALEXANDER: Yes, I will do that. 

8 THE COURT: and then she may do that for now. 

9 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

10 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

11 Q Ms. Carroll, I know you're not an artist, but - -

12 A I'm definitely not. 

13 Q you'll be a better artist than I am. 

14 MR. ALEXANDER: Ms. Wilkens, does that work for 

15 you? You can see that? 

16 MS. WILKENS: Fine, thank you. 

17 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

18 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

19 Q I'm going to give you - - take your pick. Could you as 

20 best as possible draw - - describe the portion of the 

21 (Pause. ) 

22 A This is Central Avenue, and this would be the gate and 

23 the road in Chino. Over in this section is staff housing. 

24 Q I'm going to put a "1" next to staff housing. 

25 A Okay. There was a gate house of a sort there. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



~, 

91 

1 Q Okay, we'll call that "2" . 

2 A Okay. Over in this direction was RC West. 

3 Q " 3 " . Let me just ask you - - what is RC West? 

4 A It is Reception Center West. It took the overflow 

5 from Central. Central's primary function was to be a 

6 reception center. That means you take all inmates. We at 

7 that time were taking all inmates from Fresno to the 

8 Mexican border who were going to prison -- came through 

9 Central. 

10 Q And then from there they would either stay at Chino or 

11 brought to other institutions. 

12 A 

13 Q 

14 A 

Correct. 

Thank you. 

This is Euclid, and Youth Authority is here, and they 

15 built a facility -- put kind of back here -- which was East 

16 facility. It's closer to Youth Authority than us. 

17 Q 

18 A 

19 Q 

20 A 

Okay, I'm going to call Youth Authority "4" and 

It was actually CIM East. 

CIM East is 5. 

I haven't got to Minimum yet, and I haven't got to 

21 Central yet. 

22 Q 

23 A 

Very well. 

Okay. There was a big yard here (indicating), and 

24 then the administration building, and then back in here 

25 were various dorms. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

I'm going to make 6 the administration building. 

Okay. This is CIM Minimum. 

7 is the yard, and then we have CIM Minimum. 

92 

4 A My proportions are out -- CIM East is -- when I drove 

5 it, it was two and a half miles from my office. 

It's not to scale. 

No, definitely not. 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q 8 is CIM Minimum. Let me stop you there so we get a 

9 sense. 

10 From one end of the prison grounds to the other, 

11 moving from Central to Euclid, how long a distance is that, 

12 

13 

14 

15 

would you estimate? 

A A block and a half is all. 

Q Okay. 

A Because Central would be from the front gate. 

16 guess it's probably a block from here to here. 

When you say "here to here", you're saying 

From Central to the front gate. 

To the front gate. 

I would 

17 Q 

18 A 

19 Q 

20 A 

21Q 

And it'd be another block or a little less to Central. 

Okay. And I'm going to make Central 9. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A There were a lot of other buildings around the ground, 

but those are the main ones. There's an education building 

over in this area. 

Q And we'll call that 10. 
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1 A And then there's maintenance offices in the back of 

2 Minimum and lots of other buildings. 

3 Q All right, and then up here, which we'll call 11 is 

4 maintenance facility -- did you say? 

Yeah, in the back there somewhere. 5 A 

6 Q Now, while I've got you, where was the -- was there a 

7 dairy at the facility? 

8 A Yes. 

And where was that located? 

It was back in this area. 

Okay. 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A So basically those cows were free to roam back in all 

13 this area. I lived in a house over here --

14 Q Near the staff housing? 

15 A I was in the staff housing, and the cows would corne 

16 over -- around in this area (indicating), so they had free 

17 rein, pretty much. 

18 Q We're going to put 12 in that -- the dairy. 

19 A Yeah. 

20 

21 

Q And the cows were able to roam around Minimum and the 

maintenance facilities, all the way up to staff housing. 

22 A Yeah, there was a lot of different lots. There was a 

23 lot of different cow fences. 

24 

25 

MS. WILKENS: Objection; relevance. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, I'll get to that in a 
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1 minute. 

2 THE COURT: All right. 

3 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

4 Q 

5 A 

6 Q 

From -- is this West? 

RC West, yes. 

RC West -- to the end of the facility past the 

94 

7 maintenance facility, what distance are you talking about? 

8 A I wouldn't know how to guess that - - half a mile. 

9 Q Half a mile. 

10 A . Maybe more. 

11 Q All right. Okay. Thank you. 

12 Now, can you see the graph well enough there - -

13 A Okay. 

14 Q Was there - - you mentioned security - - was there a 

15 fence around the Minimum facility? 

16 A 

17 Q 

No. 

Was there any sort of barrier from the dairy around to 

18 where the housing was? 

19 A Only the cow fences. 

20 Q A cow fence. 

21 A Yeah. 

22 Q So the purpose of that fence was to keep the cows outi 

23 is that correct? 

24 A That is correct. I'd like to add that the purpose of 

25 CIM Minimum - - it was an experiment done in penology - -
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2 

3 

THE COURT: Okay, why don't we move on to -

MR. ALEXANDER: Very well. 

THE COURT: We've got the preliminaries. Now 

4 let's get to the issue. 

5 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

6 Q Was there a fence to keep the prisoners in around 

7 Minimum? 

8 A No. It was built to not have a fence. 

9 Q All right. 

10 A That was his whole original concept. 

11 Q Now, you mentioned, Ms. Carroll, the dairy. Was 

12 there were there other industries that manufactured 

13 items at the facility? 

Yes. 14 A 

15 Q All right. And among the items, were tennis shoes 

16 manufactured at Chino? 

17 A No. 

95 

18 Q All right. You were here when Mr. Taylor testified a 

19 little earlier, correct? 

Yes. 20 A 

21 Q And did you hear him refer to prison-made tennis shoes 

22 as one of the industries? 

Yes, I think so. 23 A 

24 Q All right. And that certainly wasn't the case at 

25 Chino. 
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A There were no tennis shoes made at Chino. 1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

Q All right. And are you aware, based on your years as 

head at -- or the warden at Chino -- whether or not there 

were gym shoes, basketball shoes or the like manufactured 

at any facility in California 

6 A 

7 Q 

They were not made. 

Okay. 

any prison facility? 

8 A The brown work shoes was the shoes made by Prison 

9 Industry Authority. 

10 Q 

11 A 

And that's just the brogans. 

Yes. 

12 Q All right. Now, you became aware, did you not, Ms. 

13 Carroll, in early June of 1983 that there had been 

14 a -- crimes committed in the Chino Hills? 

Correct. 15 A 

16 Q All right. And you were also aware, were you not, 

17 that there had been at least one -- perhaps more -- escapes 

18 from the institution in the recent past before those 

19 murders occurred, were you not? 

20 A I believe there were two the following -- the week 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

preceding the murders in Chino Hills. 

Q Okay. And did that cause you to make a telephone call 

to anybody? 

A I did. 

Q Who did you call? 
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1 A I called the detectives and San Bernardino sheriff's 

2 office. 

3 Q And do you recall who it was you called on that 

4 occasion? 

5 A At that point, it was the lead detective, and I can't 

6 remember names after all these years. 

7 Q Was it a Hispanic name? 

8 A No. 

9 Q Was it a difficult or complicated name? 

10 A No, it was a simple name - - an ordinary name. 

11 Q Did you refer to that person by his or her first name 

12 or last name? 

13 A I probably referred to him -- I don't know; I can't 

14 remember. 

15 Q Okay. If I suggest the name "Billy", does that sound 

16 familiar? 

17 A 

18 Q 

Well, it was a common name. It might be Billy. 

Uh-huh. Do you remember a Billy Arthur? Is that a 

19 name that's familiar to you? 

20 A 

21 Q 

Yeah, I think that was the lead investigator. 

That was, and so more likely than not, that's the 

22 individual you believe you called? 

23 A I think on the first conversation I was -- I'm sure I 

24 talked to the lead investigator. 

25 Q Okay. Now, what did you say to that individual -- Mr. 
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1 Arthur or whoever it was -- on that occasion? 

2 A I said I had heard on the news over the weekend that 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

there had been a terrible situation in Chino Hills, and I'd 

had two escapes that week -- were my escapees suspects? 

Q And what was said to you? 

A He said there is nothing to indicate they have any 

connection with the crime whatsoever --

Q Okay. 

A -- and he reassured me -- because I was very concerned 

they were at large -- I was very concerned. He reassured 

me and told me, if anything changed, to call. 

Q All right. Now, during the course of -- or after the 

period of time that you learned of the murders on 

television or in the press, did you have a conversation 

with Sheriff Tidwell? 

16 A Well, we talked on occasion. I can't remember any 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

specific telephone call. 

Q Did sheriff deputies come to visit the prison sometime 

shortly after the murders occurred? 

A Absolutely. 

Q And did you -- did that cause you to have a 

conversation with either of those detectives or Sheriff 

Tidwell? 

24 A What I did was open the doors of the prison to the 

25 sheriff's office detectives and said, "We're here at your 
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1 service. Anything you want and need r we will supply you." 

2 And I had loaned them three of the CIM investigators to 

3 help in the investigation r and they were actually the 

4 people who dealt mostly with the sheriffrs investigation. 

5 Q Now r you mentioned you opened the doors. Can you 

6 elaborate on what you meant by that? 

7 A Well r we were trying to help them. We gave them 

8 everything we could -- that we thought would help. We gave 

9 them our timer our resources. We collected any data they 

10 asked for. 

11 Q What kind of days were you spending in terms of 
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1 for Men? 

2 A At that time, it was Zeke Hernandez, I believe Teresa 

3 Cordua--

4 Q 

5 A 

6 Q 

Cordua? 

Yeah, I'm not sure I'm pronouncing that correctly. 

Okay. I think ~t's C-O-R-D-U-A. Does that sound 

7 familiar? 

8 A Yeah. That's right. And Don Smith and later John 

9 Laudaman (phonetic). 

10 Q Okay. Now, during the period of time from the crimes 

11 being committed in early June of 1983 until the trial 

12 began -- I think sometime late 1984 -- did you have 

13 regular -- pretty regular contact with the detectives from 

14 the sheriff's department including Sheriff Tidwell? 

15 A My contacts with Tidwell were sporadic, depending on 

16 what was happening. I knew he was under a lot of pressure, 

17 and I didn't bother him. 

18 Q 

19 A 

Were you under a lot of pressure? 

Absolutely. The detectives were in and out of Chino 

20 on a regular basis. 

21 Q The sheriff's detectives. 

22 A Yes. 

23 Q All right. And - -

24 A I would say maybe even daily for long periods of time. 

25 Q And would you generally chat with - - or more than chat 
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1 with but discuss the case and what they were looking 

2 into on a pretty regular basis with the detectives? 

3 A No, I got that from my own people. 

4 Q All right, and who were those people? 

5 A The investigators. 

6 Q Very well. Now, you mentioned -- I just want to do 

7 this very briefly -- is it fair to say that there was 

8 substantial anxiety and the like in the community at that 

9 time until someone was arrested? 

Yes. 10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q 

And was that part of how you spent your time? 

Yes. 

And could you describe briefly the atmosphere at that 

14 time and also tell the Court about the meeting at the Chino 

15 High School? 

16 A Well, the community was outraged and frightened --

17 THE COURT: I think we're getting beyond the 

18 scope here. 

19 MR. ALEXANDER: This is my only question on it, 

20 your Honor. 

21 THE COURT: I think we're getting beyond the 

22 scope. 

23 MR. ALEXANDER: Okay. 

24 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

25 Q NOW, did there come a time, Ms. Carroll, when -- well, 
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1 let me ask you this. 

2 Did you follow the trial after it started? 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q And how was that done? 

5 A Through my staff. 

6 Q And also did you learn about it through TV and radio 

7 and 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 Q 

Oh, of course. 

-- and newspapers? 

Absolutely. 

And did there come a time when you learned about an 

12 issue related to gym shoes? 

13 A 

14 Q 

Yes. 

Would you tell the Court what you had learned and how 

15 you had learned it? 

16 A One of the newspapers said that the key piece of 

17 evidence was that a tennis shoe print was found at the 

18 crime scene, and it was a prison-made tennis shoe, a 

19 special shoe that had to come from a prison, and we -- I 

20 had staff in my office, and we discussed that, and there 

21 was no tennis shoes being made in Corrections at that point 

22 in time, and I was curious about a special shoe, so I asked 

23 the staff to look into this special shoe and get back to 

24 me. 

25 Q Do you recall who some of the people were present when 
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1 this discussion occurred? 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q 

I know who the likely people were. 

Yes -- would you tell us, please? 

My administrative assistant, Regina Stevens. 

Yes. 

6 A Bob Bales, associate warden and might have been an 

7 acting deputy at the time. 

8 Q Okay. 

103 

9 A Business manager, Hal Panner, and there may have been 

10 others. 

11 Q Did Ms. Stevens have responsibilities related to 

12 purchasing for the prison? 

13 A She later did. She didn't at that time. She was my 

14 administrative assistant. 

15 Q All right, very well. Now -- and you said you talked 

16 to these people 

17 A Well, I told them, "Go find out about this special 

18 shoe and get back to me. I want to know about the special 

19 shoe." 

20 Q 

21 A 

And what was reported back to you? 

That there was no special shoe, that the shoes we had 

22 and that we issued were common, ordinary shoes that were 

23 commonly manufactured and sold in retail stores such as 

24 Sears and Roebuck -- or Sears and Roebuck -- there were 

25 thousands of them all around. There was not a special 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

1 this discussion occurred? 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q 

I know who the likely people were. 

Yes -- would you tell us, please? 

My administrative assistant, Regina Stevens. 

Yes. 

6 A Bob Bales, associate warden and might have been an 

7 acting deputy at the time. 

8 Q Okay. 

103 

9 A Business manager, Hal Panner, and there may have been 

10 others. 

11 Q Did Ms. Stevens have responsibilities related to 

12 purchasing for the prison? 

13 A She later did. She didn't at that time. She was my 

14 administrative assistant. 

15 Q All right, very well. Now -- and you said you talked 

16 to these people 

17 A Well, I told them, "Go find out about this special 

18 shoe and get back to me. I want to know about the special 

19 shoe." 

20 Q 

21 A 

And what was reported back to you? 

That there was no special shoe, that the shoes we had 

22 and that we issued were common, ordinary shoes that were 

23 commonly manufactured and sold in retail stores such as 

24 Sears and Roebuck -- or Sears and Roebuck -- there were 

25 thousands of them all around. There was not a special 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



~ 

-

1 shoe. 

2 Q Now 

3 THE COURT: Is there -- go ahead. 

4 MR. ALEXANDER: Yes, your Honor? Okay. 

5 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

6 Q Now, when you mentioned that these shoes were 

7 were told they were available in stores like Sears or 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 Q 

I remembered they said we bought them at Sears. 

That may have 

Perhaps not. 

Okay. But do you remember who specifically made 

12 reference to the Sears 

104 

you 

13 A I've tried. I've racked my brain. I've asked Regina 

14 Stevens, and she won't discuss it with me. 

15 Q Who does it sound like it was? 

16 A Robert - - Bob Bales. 

17 Q Bob Bales. Kind of the way he talked? 

18 A Yeah. 

19 Q Okay. Now, what did you then do when you learned that 

20 information? 

21 A I called the sheriff's department. 

22 Q And did you talk to the lead detective again? 

23 A I believe I did. I can't remember exactly. I believe 

24 it was. 

25 Q And this is this Billy fellow? 
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1 MS. WILKENS: Objection; assumes facts not in 

2 evidence. 

3 THE COURT: Sustained. 

4 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

5 Q Well, do you recall the name of the person with whom 

6 you spoke? 

7 A 

8 Q 

No, I do not. 

Okay. Again, it was not a Hispanic name? 

9 A No. 

10 Q 

11 

What I said was correct it was not a Hispanic name. 

12 

13 

14 

THE COURT: Was it or was it 

THE WITNESS: It 'was not. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you, your Honor. 

15 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

16 Q And it was not a complicated name? 

17 A No, it was not. 

18 Q Was it the person you had generally been talking to 

19 when you talked to the detective person? 

20 A It was one of the two. There were two I talked to. 

21 honestly can't remember who it was. 

22 Q All right, so Mr. Arthur was one of the lead 

23 detectives. It was him or the other lead detective. 

24 A 

25 Q 

Yes. 

All right. 

I 
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1 MS. WILKENS: Objection; assuming facts in 

2 evidence. It's not evidence. 

3 THE COURT: If you know. 

4 THE WITNESS: What? 

5 THE COURT: If you know. 

6 THE WITNESS: I don't know who I· talked to. 

7 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

8 Q But it was one of those two persons. 

9 A Yes. 

10 Q Thank you. Now, what was - - did the person or what 

11 did you say to the person when you called - - one of the two 

12 detectives? 

13 A I said that I had read that there was this shoe made 

14 by the Department of Corrections of Chino and that we 

15 didn't make shoes. We didn't make tennis shoes -- and that 

16 my information was we didn't buy or purchase special shoes, 

17 that it was common, ordinary tennis shoes. 

18 Q Were there regulations -- you've mentioned 

19 regulations -- regarding purchasing of clothing and shoes 

20 and foods and things that governed the prisons? 

21 A 

22 Q 

Absolutely. 

And what was the principal criteria, as you recall as 

23 the warden? 

24 A You were using the taxpayers' money. You buy things 

25 as cheaply as you can. In fact, that is written into 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

106 

1 MS. WILKENS: Objection; assuming facts in 

2 evidence. It's not evidence. 

3 THE COURT: If you know. 

4 THE WITNESS: What? 

5 THE COURT: If you know. 

6 THE WITNESS: I don't know who I· talked to. 

7 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

8 Q But it was one of those two persons. 

9 A Yes. 

10 Q Thank you. Now, what was - - did the person or what 

11 did you say to the person when you called - - one of the two 

12 detectives? 

13 A I said that I had read that there was this shoe made 

14 by the Department of Corrections of Chino and that we 

15 didn't make shoes. We didn't make tennis shoes -- and that 

16 my information was we didn't buy or purchase special shoes, 

17 that it was common, ordinary tennis shoes. 

18 Q Were there regulations -- you've mentioned 

19 regulations -- regarding purchasing of clothing and shoes 

20 and foods and things that governed the prisons? 

21 A 

22 Q 

Absolutely. 

And what was the principal criteria, as you recall as 

23 the warden? 

24 A You were using the taxpayers' money. You buy things 

25 as cheaply as you can. In fact, that is written into 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



1 regulation, that you are required to have three bids and 

2 you take the cheapest bid. 

3 Q Okay. And I think I may have interrupted you. I 

107 

4 wanted to make sure you'd completed your answer of what you 

5 told to one of these two lead detectives. 

6 A That was the gist of it. 

7 Q Okay. And what was the response, if any, that was 

8 given? 

9 A 

10 Q 

11 A 

Well, there wasn't a response. 

Did they say anything or 

No. They didn't comment on my information. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

Q Did they say, "Thank you very much," or was anything 

at all said? 

A I can only remember -- the thing I remember is that I 

felt I'd been given a bum brush. 

Q Well 

THE COURT: We're not interested in your 

18 speculation. 

19 MR. ALEXANDER: Right. 

20 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q Let me do this, Ms. Carroll. You provided the 

information to one of the detectives, and did they say, 

"Thank you very much," and then basically that was the end 

of the conversation? 

A Yes. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

Nothing substantive from the other side. 

No. 

Okay. Now, do you have a strong recollection of 

having had that conversation? 

A I do. 

108 

4 

5 

6 Q All right. And is there a reason why you have such a 

7 strong recollection about this conversation? 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 me. 

14 Q 

I felt a little put off by it. 

Can you just answer "yes" or "no" first -

Oh. Yes. 

-- and then let me ask it. 

Okay. Ask me that again. I'm not sure what you asked 

All right, fair enough. Do you have a strong 

15 recollection of that conversation with one of the two lead 

detectives? 

A I do. 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Q All right. Now -- and is there a reason why you have 

that strong recollection? 

A I felt rebuffed. I felt 

Let me explore that with you. 

-- put down. 

21 Q 

22 A 

23 Q Did you make efforts to contact the sheriff's 

24 department -- the detectives -- subsequent to this 

25 conversation regarding events related to the crime? 
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1 A 

2 Q 

3 A 

4 Q 

5 A 

6 Q 

7 A 

Yes. 

On how many occasions, if you recall? 

A couple. 

A couple -- more than a couple? 

No, I don't think so. 

All right. Were those calls ever returned? 

They were not. 
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8 Q Okay. Did you, subsequent to this conversation, ever 

9 get any calls back from the sheriff's department about the 

10 crime or any events related to the trial or the crime? 

11 A I don't believe so. 

12 (Pause. ) 

13 Q Now, have you subsequent -- and more recently, since 

14 being subpoenaed -- taken any steps to confirm your 

15 recollection of the events that you've just told us about 

16 regarding the call to the sheriff and the whole issue of 

17 whether or not there are shoes that are specially made for 

18 prisons? 

19 A Yes. 

20 

21 

22 

23 

Q All right. And would you tell her Honor what you've 

done in that regard? 

A Well, first of all, I asked my husband -- he used to 

be a business manager and was responsible for procurement. 

24 Q 

25 A 

Where? 

Tracy. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 

6 

7 

Okay. 

A Northern California prison. 

And what did he say? 

He was --

MS. WILKENS: Objection; relevance. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Well, your Honor -- all right, 

8 well, we would then offer up Mr. Carroll -- I'm not sure 

9 this is coming in necessarily for the truth but to 

110 

10 corroborate, at least in her own mind, the events back in 

11 1983. 

12 THE COURT: 403. 

13 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

14 Q Let me ask you this. Did you call anybody else? 

15 A Yes. 

16 Q All right. And who else did you call? 

17 THE COURT: We need a timeframe. 

18 MR. ALEXANDER: Yes, I'm sorry. I apologize, 

19 your Honor. 

20 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

21 Q Did you call anyone else recently -- within the last 

22 few weeks or so and after you got a subpoena and knew you 

23 would be here 

24 A 

25 Q 

Yes, you did. 

Okay, and just tell me the names of the individuals 
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1 you spoke to. 

2 A Bob Deninger and Regina Stevens. 

3 Q Regina - -

4 A Stevens. 

5 Q Okay. Just tell us briefly - - who was Mr. Deninger at 

6 the time in 1983 and 1984? 
... ;-

7 A He was the assistant deputy director, Institutions 

8 Division. 

9 Q For all the facilities ln California? 

10 A Correct. 

11 Q All right. And had he previously been associated as a 

12 warden at any particular facility? 

13 A He worked at CMC -- I don't know what capacity. 

14 Q Okay. Do you know whether or not he was at the Men's 

15 Colony at San Luis Obispo? 

16 A Yeah, that's CMC. 

17 Q I'm sorry? 

18 A That is CMC. 

19 Q That is CMC - - I'm sorry. Oh, that's the - -

20 A California Men's Colony. 

21 Q - - California Men's Colony, okay. I'm not as good on 

22 the acronyms as I should be. Thank you. 

23 Now, I don't want you -- well, let me ask you this. 

24 Did anything you heard change your recollection of the 

~, 
25 event? 
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1 A 

2 Q 

No. 

Did what you heard confirm your recollection of the 

3 events -- of the events that you had 

Yes. 

112 

4 A 

5 Q -- with regard to shoes and whether they were unique 

6 to California prisons. 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

11 the 

12 A 

13 Q 

Right. 

What I said is correct. 

Yes. 

All right. Now, Ms. Carroll, you did not testify at 

trial in this action, correct? 

Correct. 

And did you testify in connection with any proceedings 

14 in connection with the Kevin Cooper matter? 

15 A Well, there were numerous investigations into the 

16 escape but not at any trials on his guilt. 

17 Q Okay. And by those "numerous investigations," would 

18 you just briefly tell the Court -- I don't want to go 

19 into -- what the nature of those investigations were? 

20 

21 

22 

MS. WILKENS: Objection; relevance. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

MR. ALEXANDER: All right. 

23 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

24 Q But in terms of actual sworn testimony in connection 

25 with the prosecution of Kevin Cooper, did you testify? 
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1 A No. 

2 Q All right. Subsequent to your conversation with the 

3 sheriff -- the lead sheriff detectives sometime after the 

4 trial started and when it appeared in the newspaper about 

5 the issue relating to gym shoes, were you contacted by the 

6 prosecutors? 

7 A No. 

8 Q Okay. And were you contacted by the defense? 

9 A No. 

10 Q Okay. Now, let me address, if I might, a couple of 

11 items. First of all, had you been contacted by either the 

12 prosecution or the defense, would you have related to them 

13 what you have told today before this Court? 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

BY 

Q 

A 

BY 

23 Q 

MS. WILKENS: Objection 

THE WITNESS: If they'd asked me, I would have. 

MS. WILKENS: Speculation. 

MR. ALEXANDER: 

Excuse me? 

Yes, I would have. 

THE COURT: Overruled as to the objection. 

(Pause. ) 

MR. ALEXANDER: 

Now, I want to ask you a couple of questions relating 

24 to what Mr. Taylor testified to, and first of all, he 

25 described some basketball teams at Chino Institution for 
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1 Men. Were there any formal, organized basketball teams at 

2 Chino Institution for Men while you were the warden? 

3 A 

4 Q 

No. 

And he also mentioned that the teams would play other 

5 institutions, other yards, I think he called it. Did the 

6 Chino Institution for Men have a road basketball team? 

7 A 

8 Q 

No. 

Did any teams from other institutions come to the 

9 Chino Institution for Men --

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q 

Absolutely --

for a basketball tournament? 

not. No. 

And even within the Chino Institution for Men, was 

14 there an organized league? 

15 A No. 

16 Q All right. And would you describe for the Court why 

17 that was the case there was not an organized league? 

18 A Because male inmates self-segregate, and the teams 

19 were always formed along racial lines, and if you allowed 

20 them to play each other, it always ended up In a brawl. 

21 Q And how many gangs, if any, were there in the Chino 

22 Institution for Men during the period of time -- from the 

23 time you came on board -- let's say through -- well, 

24 actually through the time period that you left. 

25 A We had the Aryan Brotherhood. We had the Mexican 
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1 Mafia. We had the Crips and the Bloods. Those were the 

2 primary big groups. 

3 Q Okay. And were there members of those gangs in the 

4 various facilities -- Minimum, Medium and Palm Hall? 

5 A There probably were, but we tried to keep track of 

115 

6 that. We had people tracking gang members. The Crips and 

7 the Bloods, I don't think we were tracking at that point. 

8 We were doing mostly Aryan Brotherhood and Mexican gangs. 

9 Q And was there a large Afro-American population at the 

facility at that time? 

A Very large, especially on Minimum. 

10 

11 

12 MR. ALEXANDER: May I approach, your Honor? 

13 THE COURT: You may. 

14 MR. ALEXANDER: For the record, Exhibit 

15 6 -- Petitioner's Exhibit 6 is a letter purported to be 

16 from Ms. Carroll to Sheriff Tidwell dated June 1st, 1983. 

17 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

18 Q Now, Ms. Carroll, just very quickly, is this a letter 

19 that you prepared and sent to Sheriff Tidwell on or about 

20 June 1st, 1983? 

21 A 

22 Q 

Yes, it is. 

And does this confirm your recollection that he had 

23 taken over sometime in early 1983? 

24 A 

25 Q 

Yes. 

All right, if you direct your attention to the second 
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1 page, is that a letter that you received from Sheriff 

2 Tidwell saying that he assumed the duties on January 3rd? 

3 A 

4 Q 

Yes. 

Do you know whether he actually got on board 

5 physically at that time or not? 

6 A 

7 Q 

8 

I don't know. 

All right. 

THE COURT: You don't have to ask. 

9 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

10 Q Ms. Carroll, I'm going to show you a document that, 

11 for the record, is addressed to you -- it's a memorandum 

12 dated June the 13th, 1983 from a W. Bistel (phonetic) and 

13 an R. H. Deninger, and my simple question is -- well, first 

14 question is, do you recall receiving this 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 to 

20 A 

21 Q 

22 

23 

24 BY 

25 Q 

I do. 

-- memorandum on or about June 13th, 1983? 

Yes, I do. 

And is Mr. Deninger the Mr. Deninger that you referred 

previously? 

Yes. 

Thank you. 

THE COURT: Is that Exhibit 7? 

MR. ALEXANDER: Yes, your Honor. 

MR. ALEXANDER: 

And then finally -- Exhibit 8, Ms. Carroll, is a 
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1 letter to you from Roy Tidwell, the sheriff --

2 superintendent Midge -- there's a typo there but dated 

3 July 13th, 1983. And my question is, do you recall 

4 receiving this letter on or about July 13th, 1983 from 

5 Sheriff Tidwell? 

6 A Yes. 

7 

8 

9 

Q All right. Thank you very much. I don't think I 

asked you this, but when did you leave the Chino 

Institution for Men? 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q 

14 A 

15 Q 

16 A 

17 Q 

18 A 

19 Q 

20 A 

21 Q 

22 A 

23 Q 

July 1st, 1985. 

And where did you go next? 

Sacramento. 

And what facility? 

It was Parole -- Parole Headquarters. 

In Sacramento. 

Yes. 

And how long were you there? 

Two years. 

Two years? 

Close to that. 

All right, and what was your next position? 

Warden of Dual Vocational Institute at Tracy. 

At Tracy? Okay. And following that assignment, what 

24 was your next position? 

25 A Deputy Director, Parole. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

For the entire system? 

Correct. 

Throughout California. 

Yes. 

118 

5 

6 

Q And, finally -- well, I don't know finally -- what was 

the next position that you held? 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

I retired. 

All right. And have you been retired since then? 

Actually, I came back to work several times. 

10 Q And where was that? 

11 A Booking paroles. I worked in Parole Headquarters. I 

12 worked in CDC Headquarters. 

13 Q And have you and your husband recently moved down to 

14 

15 

the San Diego area? 

A Yes. 

16 Q Okay. Now, one last question, Ms. Carroll, and that 

17 is, at the time you were appointed the warden of the Chino 

18 

19 

20 

Institution for Men, were you the first woman to hold such 

a position in the state of California? 

A Yes. 

21 Q And was Chino Institution for Men the largest prison 

22 

23 

24 

25 

facility in the state of California? 

A Yes. 

Q Do you know if there were any other women who were 

wardens at any other penal institutions throughout the 
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1 United States? 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 

No. 

You don't know whether there were -- okay. 

(Pause to confer.) 

119 

5 MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, I would simply offer 

6 into evidence the last -- I believe it's three exhibits 

7 that -- I believe the witness has adequately authenticated. 

8 THE COURT: They're received. 

9 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you very much. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

THE CLERK: 6, 7 and 8. 

MR. ALEXANDER: 6, 7 and 8, Madam Clerk? 

THE CLERK: Yes. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you kindly. And I have no 

14 further questions. 

15 THE COURT: Subject to your review of the 

16 documents. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Yes. 17 

18 THE COURT: All right, thank you. Why don't we 

19 break at this time for lunch, and then we'll resume at 

20 1:00, and for your -- so we can do Midge Carroll then, and 

21 then we'll do the shoe person. All right? Thank you. 

22 We're in recess. 

23 (Proceedings recessed to 1:00 p.m.) 

24 

25 
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1 AFTERNOON SESSION 

2 --000--

3 THE COURT: We're back on the record. 

4 MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, before Ms. Wilkens 

5 begins, I neglected to identify for the record the diagram 

6 that Ms. Carroll did for us, and I thought I might do that. 

7 It would be next in order. 

8 THE COURT: I'm not going to receive it. I'm 

9 just going to use it as demonstrative. 

10 MR. ALEXANDER: Yes, that's my only purpose. 

11 THE COURT: All right, thank you. 

12 MR. ALEXANDER: And then the second item is that 

13 we offered in, I think without objection, the tape and the 

14 transcript of Ms. Carroll that was done by the detectives, 

15 and we thought we would assign lOA to the tape and Exhibit 

16 lOB to the transcript if that's acceptable. 

17 THE COURT: That's received. 

18 MR. ALEXANDER: And then finally we -- well, I 

19 guess there are two more -- we were able to review the 

20 notebooks by divvying them up, and I'll say candidly 

21 there's a lot of information in there that I really think 

22 is irrelevant newspaper articles, a tremendous 

23 amount -- my real, practical concern is, if we go somewhere 

24 after this court, either side, if we've got to somehow 

25 account and produce all that stuff --
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1 

2 lodges 

THE COURT: You do have to account -- whoever 

well, it depends on whether it's an exhibit 

121 

3 that's received for a hearing or not. If not, the exhibits 

4 are received and returned to the parties. If they're not, 

5 then it's just discovery. 

6 MR. ALEXANDER: All right. 

7 THE COURT: All right. 

8 MR. ALEXANDER: Then, fine. Then there won't be 

9 a problem. That was my practical -- the practical concern. 

10 And then finally we use the lunch hour to contact 

11 Ms. Coke who both sides had actually identified as a 

12 witness, and we believe, given the schedule over the next 

13 three days, that, if your Honor was interested in hearing 

14 from her, which we would like to do -- present her -- that 

15 she could come down and her testimony won't be very long, 

16 but I think we have the time, and she's available. 

17 THE COURT: We'll talk about that at the end. 

18 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you very much. 

19 THE COURT: All right, thank you. Ms. 

20 Carroll -- we need her back. 

(Pause. ) 

THE COURT: You may proceed. 

21 

22 

23 MS. WILKENS: Thank you, your Honor. 

24 II 

25 II 
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1 MIDGE CARROLL, PETITIONER'S WITNESS, PREVIOUSLY SWORN 

2 CROSS EXAMINATION 

3 BY MS. WILKENS: 

4 Q Mrs. Carroll, did you execute a declaration under 

5 penalty of perjury on January 30th, 2004 regarding Kevin 

6 Cooper? 

7 A Yes. 

8 Q And did you write the declaration yourself? 

9 A No, I did not. 

10 Q Do you know who wrote it for you? 

11 A No, I'm not sure. 

12 Q Did you have any prior contact with the person that 

13 presented you with the declaration? 

14 A 

15 Q 

Yes, I did. 

And did the person identify themselves as being a 

16 representative of Kevin Cooper? 

In -- yes, I guess so. 

And did they provide you with their name? 

122 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 A 

20 Q 

Yes. It was Scarlet. I can't remember the last name. 

And did the individual show you identification when 

21 you first met them? 

22 A 

23 Q 

24 A 

25 Q 

She gave me a card. 

And did you keep the business card? 

I did. 

And do you have it with you today? 
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1 A 

2 Q 

3 A 

4 Q 

5 A 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

11 A 

No, I don't. 

Do you know where it is? 

I do. 

Where is it? 

123 

It's in my home, I think, where I keep all my cards. 

All right, so you have a collection of business cards? 

Yeah. 

Now, when did you first meet Scarlet? 

I would say it was January of this year. 

And how did Scarlet contact you initially? 

Actually, I saw her -- I was in my son's home, and she 

12 was standing in the foyer at that house. 

13 Q So she just came to the home to speak to you without 
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1 I did get involved in a conversation with her. She asked 

2 me specific questions. I told her, "I'm not going to --

3 I'm busy iI' m in a hurry i I don' t want to do this." She 

4 said, "Well, just a minute" -- and actually it turned out 

5 to be about a 20-or-30-minute conversation. 

6 Q And do you recall the questions that she asked you 

7 during the 20-to-30-minute conversation? 

I know she asked me about the shoe. 

Did she ask you about more than the shoes? 

Yes, she did. 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

Do you recall what she asked you about beyond shoes? 

She asked me about Cooper. She asked me about what I 

13 knew about Kevin Cooper and the case, where the case was, 

14 what processes it had been through up to this point, did I 

15 know that this and that was happening in the case. She 

16 asked me where I worked and what I did and - - that's all I 

17 can remember. 

18 Q Now, when you say she asked you about the tennis 

19 shoes, what did she say? 

20 A May I interject a comment? 

21 THE COURT: Just answer her question. 

22 THE WITNESS: Okay. She asked me if I had 

23 ever if I had any information about a special tennis 

24 shoe or a prison-made tennis shoe. 

25 II 
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1 BY MS. WILKENS: 

2 Q Okay, and were those the terms that she used: 

3 "special tennis shoe"? 

4 A Yes. 

5 Q Okay, so those were her words. 

6 A I believe so. 

7 Q And prior to meeting with Scarlet in your son's home, 

8 had 

9 you 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

any member representing the Cooper defense contacted 

since the conclusion of his trial? 

Yes. 

And do you recall when that contact was made? 

It was two and a half years ago. It was around 

13 January or December, and it was a male 

14 his name. 

I don't remember 

15 Q 

16 A 

17 Q 

Does the name, Paul Engles ring a bell? 

Yes, that's who it was. 

All right. And did Mr. Engles make advanced 

18 arrangements to come and see you? 

19 A 

20 Q 

21 A 

22 Q 

23 A 

24 Q 

25 A 

No, I don't think so. 

So he just came to your home? 

Right, in Sonora, California. 

And did you end up speaking with Mr. Engles? 

I did. 

And how long did you speak to Mr. Engles? 

I don't know -- half hour or so. 
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1 Q Okay. And did you speak to Mr. Engles again after 

2 that initial half-hour conversation? 

3 A 

4 Q 

Yes, he came back a second time. 

And do you recall how long after his first visit he 

5 returned? 

6 A Weeks. 

7 Q And did Mr. Engles ask you about the Cooper case? 

8 A Oh, yes, he did. 

9 Q Do you recall what he asked you about? 

10 A No, I don't really. 

11 Q Did he ask you about tennis shoes? 

12 A Not that I can remember. 

13 Q Did you have any materials that you shared with Mr. 

14 Engles? 

Yes, I did. 

And what did you share with him? 

126 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A I shared with him -- before I left Chino, my clerical 

18 staff put together three or four volumes of information 

19 about Cooper. It was background information on Cooper in 

20 CIM; it was in-house CDC memos back and forth about the 

21 escape, the investigations that took place because of the 

22 escape, and contacts with headquarters, meaning Sacramento, 

23 and their contacts with me. It was a lot of paperwork. 

24 Q And you had that available to you when Mr. Engles 

25 spoke to you? 
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1 A I did, and Mr. Engles wanted to make some copies of 

2 it, and I allowed that to happen, and I never looked at the 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

information again until recently, and I'm unable to locate 

most of the material. 

Q Now, when Mr. Engles made copies, were you aware of 

what -- which materials he copied or --

A No, the material was kept in boxes in a shop behind my 

house, and it was very cold, and I did not want to stand 

there and watch and I did not want it in my house, so I 

10 said, "Look at the material" -- and he said, "Well, I'd 

11 like to make some copies of this." Well, first of all, he 

12 said, "I'd like to take this with me." I said, "No, I 

13 

14 

15 

don't want you to do that." He said, "I'd like to make 

copies." I let him make copies. 

Q So he made copies right there on your property? 

16 A No, he took them to -- well, it's not Kinko's, but 

17 it's like a Kinko's. 

Okay, so you didn't supervise the copying. 

No, I did not. 

18 Q 

19 A 

20 Q Okay. And do you remember how many boxes of materials 

21 

22 

you made available to Mr. Engles? 

A I think it was only one. 

23 Q And when he returned the materials after he went to 

24 the copy shop, did you check through or 

25 A Well, he didn't have time to copy everything he wanted 
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1 to copy, so he went home, and he sent his wife back. 

2 Q 

3 A 

4 Q 

5 A 

Okay, so his wife returned the box? 

And she also made copies. 

Oh, so she made some more copies. 

I don't think he made copies of everything he wanted 

6 to make copies of, so he sent her back, and she made 

7 copies. 

8 Q Oh, so she went and got the box back from you a second 

9 time. 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q 

14 A 

15 Q 

16 and 

17 in 

18 A 

19 Q 

20 and 

21 A 

22 Q 

Yes. 

Okay. And do you know how soon after she did that? 

six weeks, maybe. 

Okay. 

Couple months. 

And between the time that Mr. Engle borrowed the box 

returned it, did you look to see if the contents were 

order? 

No, I did not. 

And between the time that Mrs. Engle borrowed the box 

returned it, did you check the content? 

I did not. 

Okay. Now, when you spoke with Mr. Engle, did he take 

23 notes? 

24 A 

25 Q 

Did I take notes? 

No, did Mr. Engle take notes? 
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No, I don't think he did. 

And when you spoke with Scarlet, was she taking notes? 

I think so. 

Okay. And when you spoke with Scarlet, did she tape-

5 record your conversation? 

6 A Not that I'm aware of. 

7 Q And when you spoke with Mr. Engles, did he tape-record 

8 your conversation? 

9 A 

10 Q 

Not that I'm aware of. 

Now~ the declaration that Scarlet presented to you, 

11 you spoke to her once for 15, 20 minutes in your son's 

12 home. Did she come on a subsequent occasion with the 

13 declaration already prepared? 

14 A 

15 Q 

16 A 

17 Q 

18 A 

19 Q 

Yes, she did. 

Okay. And did she ask you to sign that declaration? 

Yes, she did. 

And did you read it before signing it? 

I did, but I wouldn't sign it. 

Okay. So the declaration that you ended up signing 

20 was not the first declaration presented to you? 

21 A Correct. 

22 

23 

Q And why did you decline to sign the declaration that 

Scarlet presented to you? 

24 A It said more than I wanted to say. To me, it was more 

25 than what I had told her -- or it was more than I was ready 
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1 to sign that I knew the facts were material. 

2 Q Well, was it -- did it contain things that you had not 

3 stated? 

4 A No, it was, I thought, more of an image -- maybe some 

5 exaggerations. 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

You felt they had embellished your comments? 

Yes, I did. 

Okay. And did you explain to Scarlet -

I did. 

Okay. And then did she return with a revised 

11 declaration? 

12 A 

13 Q 

14 A 

15 Q 

16 that 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 A 

20 Q 

21 A 

Yes, she did. 

And how long did it take her to do that? 

I'm not sure - - a month, maybe. 

Okay. And the declaration - - the revised declaration 

you signed - - was it signed on the day it was dated? 

Yes. 

And was that the date that Scarlet brought it to you? 

Yes. 

Okay. And other than the conversation 

I think I saw her twice, and the third visit was from 

22 a man. 

23 Q Okay, so you think that the declaration you ultimately 

24 signed was presented to you by a male? 

25 A Yeah. I don't remember his name. 
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1 Q Okay. Did he give you a business card? 

2 A He did, but I didn't keep that one. 

3 Q Okay. Any reason? 

4 A No. 

5 Q Okay. 

6 A I was staying with my son, and I lost it somewhere 

7 the mix. 

8 Q The gentleman that brought you the declaration that 

9 you ended up signing -- did he have a conversation with 

10 you, or did he just present the declaration to you? 

11 A We had a conversation. 

12 Q And what did he talk to you about? 

131 

in 

13 A It wasn't particularly about the declaration. It was 

14 small talk. 

15 Q 

16 A 

17 Q 

But just unrelated -- to confer? 

That's the way I remember it. 

And did you have a sense of whether he was an 

18 investigator or an attorney? Did you have any indication? 

19 A I thought he was like an errand boy. I thought he was 

20 just delivering something to be signed for other people. 

21 Q Okay, and so you had the conversation with Scarlet, 

22 and then Scarlet brought you a declaration that you 

23 declined to sign. 

24 with Scarlet? 

25 A Yes. 

Is that the sum total of your contacts 
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And -- have you had any conversation with Mr. Engles 

2 since he came to your home in Sonora and borrowed your box 

3 of materials? 

4 A I think he called me a couple of times. I don't 

5 remember when. 

6 Q And do you know why he called? 

7 A He always wanted more information. 

8 Q Okay, so he would have made telephone calls? 

9 A Yes, he talked to me on the phone. 

10 Q Okay. And do you know approximately how many times he 

11 spoke to you on the phone? 

Two or three. 12 A 

13 Q Okay. And do you know approximately the last time you 

14 spoke to him on the phone? 

15 A 

16 Q 

It's been a couple years. 

Do you have any recollection about the topics that he 

17 wanted to discuss in the phone conversations? 

18 A 

19 Q 

No, I don't remember. 

Do you have any recollection of discussing tennis 

20 shoes with Mr. Engles? 

21 A 

22 Q 

I don't. 

Now, since signing your declaration for the gentleman 

23 that brought it to your son's home, have you had any 

24 contacts with any representative of the Cooper defense 

25 team? 
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1 A Yes, I've had contact with Mr. Alexander and another 

2 attorney. 

3 Q Do you recall the name? 

4 A I don't. 

5 Q And when were you first contacted by Mr. Alexander? 

6 A A month ago. Maybe before - - maybe six weeks. 

7 Q And was that by phone? 

8 A Yes. 

9 Q And what did you discuss? 

10 A The declaration, I think, and - - he asked me if I had 

11 material. 

12 Q And what did you indicate about your material? 

13 A Well, I didn't know at that time I didn't have the 

14 full set of material that I had shown Engles because I had 

15 not looked at it or looked for it. 

16 Q So you didn't know at that time whether you had any 

17 materials or not. 

18 A I assumed I did. 

19 Q Okay. And did you tell him you did? 

20 A I don't remember. 

21 Q Okay. Did he ask you to provide him with the 

22 materials that you showed to Mr. Engles? 

23 A I'm sure he did. 

24 Q And have you in fact provided materials to Mr. 

25 Alexander? 
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A Yes. 

Q And what did you provide him? 

A What I had left over, which was a box of in-house 

1 

2 

3 

4 memos -- about all kinds of things having to do with CIM. 

5 It wasn't all Cooper material, and one of the volumes that 

6 we put together before I left Chino -- and it was all 

7 messed up. It was no longer the way we had put it 

8 together. 

9 The way we put it together was in chronological order 

10 of happenings -- or of the memos. We had '82, '83, '84, so 

11 on by month, by day. That was the order it was in, and 

12 this was very messed up, and also I think he gave me copies 

13 of copies, and a lot of it was not legible anymore; it had 

14 been copied so many times. 

15 Q So the box of materials that Mr. Engles had returned 

16 to you -- you felt it was out of order from what it had 

17 been? 

~ A 

19 Q 

Yes. 

And when did you provide Mr. Alexander with this box 

20 

21 

22 

of materials? 

A Let's see -- April sometime. 

(Pause.) 

23 Q 

24 or 

25 A 

And did you ship it to him, or did they pick it up 

No, he came to my house. 
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12 this was very messed up, and also I think he gave me copies 

13 of copies, and a lot of it was not legible anymore; it had 

14 been copied so many times. 

15 Q So the box of materials that Mr. Engles had returned 

16 to you -- you felt it was out of order from what it had 

17 been? 

~ A 

19 Q 

Yes. 

And when did you provide Mr. Alexander with this box 

20 

21 

22 

of materials? 

A Let's see -- April sometime. 

(Pause.) 

23 Q 

24 or 

25 A 

And did you ship it to him, or did they pick it up 

No, he came to my house. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q 

Mr. Alexander came to your house? 

Uh-huh. 

In person? 

No in Ramona. 

135 

Okay. And when did Mr. Alexander come to your house? 

6 That was in April? 

7 A 

8 Q 

Yes. 

And how many telephone conversations have you had with 

9 Mr. Alexander? 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q 

14 the 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 A 

20 Q 

21 A 

22 Q 

23 A 

24 Q 

25 A 

Maybe three, four. 

Okay. And those were relating to your declaration? 

Yes, and they wanted to come and look at the material. 

Okay. When did they first contact you 

material? 

The first time he called, I believe. 

Okay, and when was that? 

April. 

to come look at 

April. And Mr. Alexander came out to your house -

Yes. 

-- and looked at the materials; is that correct? 

Correct. 

And did you provide him with materials or -

I did. 

Okay, so he left with your materials. 

Yes, he did. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

Okay. And you don't have then anymore. 

He returned them. 

Q Oh, he returned them. When did he return them? 

A By mail -- a month ago, maybe. 

136 

3 

4 

5 

6 

Q NOw, your conversations with Mr. Alexander -- what did 

Mr. Alexander discuss with you? 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

The shoes. 

What did he ask you about the shoes? 

He asked me what I knew about the tennis shoe. 

Okay. And what did you tell him? 10 Q 

11 

12 

13 

14 

A I told him that to my recollection -- the way I became 

aware of the tennis shoe is I read about it in the 

newspaper, and I discussed it with my staff, and I was told 

by my staff that that tennis shoe was not a rare or unusual 

15 tennis shoe; it was a common, ordinary tennis shoe. 

16 Q Now, did the gentleman who brought the declaration to 

17 you -- did he leave a copy of your declaration with you 

18 that you signed? 

Yes. 19 A 

20 Q And so you have a copy of your declaration; is that 

correct? 

A I do. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

Q Now, did you have any discussions with Mr. Alexander 

today about your testimony? 

25 A Yes. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

And what did you talk about? 

Today? 

Yes. 

4 

5 

6 

A No, I haven't had a discussion with him today. 

Q Did Mr. Alexander pass you a note today in the 

courtroom? 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

Oh -- yes. 

And what did the note say? 

It said, "I thought you told me there was no 

10 competitive sports" or something to that effect. 

137 

11 Q Okay. Now, prior to today, did Mr. Alexander discuss 

12 your testimony with you? 

13 A Last night. 

14 Q Last night, and where did you meet with Mr. Alexander 

15 last night? 

16 A Wyndham Hotel. 

17 Q And how long did you meet with Mr. Alexander last 

18 

19 

night? 

A Ten, twelve minutes. 

20 Q 

21 A 

22 Q 

23 A 

24 Q 

25 A 

Okay. What did you discuss? 

He said, "Tell the truth." Basically, that was it. 

So 12 minutes -- he told you to tell the truth. 

Well, he was interrupted a lot. 

Okay. 

A lot of people kept coming and going. There were 
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1 phone calls, and he asked me if I wanted a Coke and -- you 

2 know, like that. 

3 Q Did you come down from Ramona for that meeting? 

4 A Yes. Well, I came down from Ramona for this one. 

5 Q Sure. But you came down this morning from Ramona. 

6 A No. 

7 Q So you stayed in town? 

8 A Right. 

9 Q Okay. In your declaration from January, you mentioned 

10 that you kept 

11 

12 bill? 

13 

THE COURT: Is somebody paying for your hotel 

THE WITNESS: I don't know who paid for it. When 

14 I went to pay for it this morning, it was paid for. 

15 MR. HILE: Yes, your Honor. We told Ms. -- that 

16 we would pick up the cost of her staying at the hotel. 

17 THE COURT: The Court's not picking up any cost 

18 for a witness who lives in Ramona to stay in a hotel after 

19 the Court had set this meeting so that we could come and 

20 start at 10:30 in the morning to save a hotel charge for 

21 everyone. 

22 MR. HILE: I understand, your Honor. 

23 BY MS. WILKENS: 

24 Q Now, Mrs. Carroll, your declaration indicates that you 

25 kept meticulous records concerning all matters stemming 
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1 from Kevin Cooper's case. Is that an accurate statement? 

2 A Yes. 

3 Q And you also mentioned that you kept records in a 

4 safe. Where is that safe located? 

5 A It is off -- there's a warden's office and a door that 

6 leads to a restroom in a little hall or foyer -- and it's 

7 off of that. 

8 Q So would it be fair to say that it's within the 

9 warden's office? 

10 A Yes. Close enough. 

11 Q Now, is it a wall safe, or is it a walk-in safe? 

12 A It's a walk-in safe. 

13 Q Now, who had access to the safe when you were warden? 

14 A Me, Regina - - we were the only two. 

15 Q And Regina would have been your administrative 

16 assistant at the time? 

17 A 

18 Q 

Correct. 

Now, when did you decide to keep records relating to 

19 the Cooper case in the safe in your office? 

20 A When he left the second -- as soon as I knew there 

21 were holds, warrants and detainers on him and they weren't 

22 in the file. 

23 Q All right, that was something that you realized on 

24 June 2nd, correct? 

25 A No, it was after June 2nd -- it was the following 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

139 

1 from Kevin Cooper's case. Is that an accurate statement? 

2 A Yes. 

3 Q And you also mentioned that you kept records in a 

4 safe. Where is that safe located? 

5 A It is off -- there's a warden's office and a door that 

6 leads to a restroom in a little hall or foyer -- and it's 

7 off of that. 

8 Q So would it be fair to say that it's within the 

9 warden's office? 

10 A Yes. Close enough. 

11 Q Now, is it a wall safe, or is it a walk-in safe? 

12 A It's a walk-in safe. 

13 Q Now, who had access to the safe when you were warden? 

14 A Me, Regina - - we were the only two. 

15 Q And Regina would have been your administrative 

16 assistant at the time? 

17 A 

18 Q 

Correct. 

Now, when did you decide to keep records relating to 

19 the Cooper case in the safe in your office? 

20 A When he left the second -- as soon as I knew there 

21 were holds, warrants and detainers on him and they weren't 

22 in the file. 

23 Q All right, that was something that you realized on 

24 June 2nd, correct? 

25 A No, it was after June 2nd -- it was the following 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



140 

1 week. 

2 Q So you weren't aware of any detainers --

3 

4 

5 

·6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

A I don't think so -- till I reviewed -- I may have 

because usually they bring you -- they brought me the 

central file on an escapee as soon as we knew we'd had one. 

But I don't think we knew there were holds, warrants and 

detainers until the following week. 

Q Did you know on June 2nd that David Trautman was 

actually Kevin Coop~r? 

A I learned it that day, I think. 

Q All right. And when you learned it that day, were you 

aware of his criminal record? 

A No, we were not aware of his criminal record. 

Q Were you aware that he had a violent past -- on June 

15 2nd? 

16 A I don't think so -- no. 

17 Q So at no time on June 2nd did you discover Mr. 

18 Cooper's criminal history 

19 A I think it was -- my recollection it was the 

20 following week. We picked up on the fact that he was David 

21 

22 

23 

Anthony Trautman was Kevin Cooper and that he had holds, 

warrants and detainers. 

{Pause.} 

24 Q Now, who had responsibility for maintaining these 

25 files that you were keeping in your safe on Kevin Cooper? 
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1 MR. ALEXANDER: Objection, your Honor. 

2 THE COURT: Overruled. 

3 THE WITNESS: We took the central file, which is 

4 the responsibility of the records manager, and we made a 

5 copy. 

6 THE COURT: Who's IIwe ll ? 

7 THE WITNESS: My administrative assistant and 

8 myself. She actually made the copy. 

9 We took the original and locked it in the safe 

10 and put the copy in records. 

11 BY MS. WILKENS: 

12 Q 

13 A 

Why did you do that? 

Because the holds, warrants and detainers were not in 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

the original file, and I thought perhaps they might appear 

in the file, and I wanted the original file like frozen in 

time from the time he escaped. I didn't want anybody to 

tamper with it. 

Q All right, so did you make the decision to do this on 

the day of the escape or the day after? 

20 A 

21 Q 

My recollection -- it was after. 

Do you recall how long after? 

22 A I think -- he escaped on a Thursday. I think it was 

23 probably the first of the week. 

24 

25 

Q Now, the records that you kept regarding Kevin 

Cooper -- in the safe -- were they kept in any particular 
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1 location inside the safe? 

The only record we had was the central file. 2 A 

3 Q All right, so you had no other materials relating to 

4 Kevin Cooper 

5 A No. 

6 Q -- in your safe. 

7 A No. 

8 Q And that's true as to your entire tenure while you 

9 were at CIM. 

10 A Yeah. 

11 Q Okay. Now, did you have any other files that you 

12 maintained on Kevin Cooper that you didn't keep in your 

13 safe? 

14 A No. 

15 Q So you kept no files on Kevin Cooper. 

16 A We kept memos. We kept copies of everything that 

17 in and went out, but we did that with everything. 

18 Q Okay, so you didn't segregate any of your 

19 recordkeeping so that it was focused on Kevin Cooper. 

20 A 

21 Q 

22 A 

23 Q 

24 A 

25 Q 

Not until I left. 

Okay. When you left, did you create files? 

Right before I left, we put the volumes together 

Okay. 

-- that related to Kevin Cooper. 

Why did you do hat? 

came 
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1 A Because I thought someday something like this might 

2 happen, and the records would be handy to have. 

3 Q Okay. The records that you created -- how large were 

4 they, and how did you store them? I mean, were they in 

5 notebooks? Were they in folders? 

6 A They were in notebooks -- about the size of those 

7 white books that are setting (sic) on that table, and there 

8 were three or four of them. 

9 Q Okay. And after you created these records, what did 

10 you do with them? 

11 A I believe we left some at the institution. I took a 

12 copy. Regina Stevens took a copy. 

13 Q Okay, so there were three copies? 

14 A Yes. 

15 Q And when you say you left it at the institution, did 

16 you leave it in a safe? 

No. 

Okay. 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 A There was no reason to leave it in a safe. It wasn't 

20 confidential or anything important. 

21 Q Did you label the three copies? Did you say, 

22 "Warden's copy, elM copy, Regina's copy" -- did you do any 

23 of that? 

24 A 

25 Q 

No. 

Okay, so when did you start preparing these records? 
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1 Did you have notice that you were transferring out of CIM 

2 at this point? 

3 A Oh, yes. I knew ahead of time I was leaving. 

4 Q Okay. How far in advance did you know that you were 

5 leaving CIM? 

6 A A couple months, probably. 

7 Q Okay. And you prepared these notebooks, and you left 

8 in 1985? 

9 A Correct. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

Q Okay. And when you took a set with you, did you take 

it to your home, or did you take it to your new assignment 

location? 

A I took it to my home. 

Q And why did you do that? 

A Nobody wanted them or thought they were important but 

me. 

Q Why did you think it was important that you personally 

maintain these copies? 

19 A 

20 Q 

21 A 

22 Q 

I thought someday that information would be wanted. 

Was the trial completed at that time? 

It was. 

What uses did you think there would be for this 

23 

24 

information? 

A I beg your pardon? 

25 Q What uses did you think there would be for this 
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1 information? 

2 A I thought there may -- well, I thought there'd be 

3 appeals. There'd be whatever. I thought tillat it was 

4 important to have a chronological -- not list but a 

5 chronological report of what actually went on within CIM. 

6 Q And you weren't confident that the records would be 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

maintained at CIM after your departure. 

A No, I wasn't. 

Q Why not? 

A Well, we didn't have that -- I didn't figure that 

my -- that anybody who followed me would think it was that 

important. 

Q When you left CIM, did you take other records from the 

prison unrelated to Kevin Cooper? 

A I did not. 

Q So you only took materials relating to Kevin Cooper. 

A I only took the volume -- oh, I did take other -- lots 

of material. I had my copies of my expense claims, 

anything that was my personal stuff like that, I took 

copies -- I took -- calendars of who I saw, who I met with, 

memos about all kinds of things. 

Q And do you still have your personal calendars? 

23 A 

24 Q 

25 A 

No, I don't. 

Do you know what happened to them? 

Well, about -- when I thought Kevin Cooper was going 
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1 to be executed two years ago, my husband and I were packing 

2 up things in our shop and a lot of things that said, "CIM" I 

3 I said, "Get rid of it." 

4 Q 

5 or 

6 A 

7 Q 

8 A 

9 of 

10 Q 

11 you 

12 A 

13 Q 

Now, did you throwaway your personal calendars before 

after Mr. Engles' visit to you? 

r threw them away after. 

You threw them away after. 

But they weren't sorted out. They were just in boxes 

stuff. 

Were· your personal calendars included in the materials 

made available to Mr. Engle? 

Possibly, but I couldn't say for sure. 

Now, you state that the meticulous records -- you 

14 state in your declaration that you had meticulous records 

15 of all your contacts with San Bernardino sheriff's office. 

16 A No, I don't - - where's that? Where is that? 

17 Q Do you have your declaration? 

18 A I do. 

19 Q Okay. You don't see in there where it says you kept 

20 records of your contacts with San Bernardino sheriff's 

21 office - -
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1 Q 

147 

Well, let me just ask you this, Mrs. Carroll. Did you 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

keep records of all your contacts with San Bernardino 

sheriff's office regarding 

A No, I did not. 

Q -- the Cooper case. You did not. 

A No. 

7 Q Okay. And you indicated that your institution was 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

coordinating with San Bernardino sheriff's office on the 

investigation of the escape of Kevin Cooper, correct? 

A Well, I don't know if you'd say we were coordinating. 

We were trying to assist them. 

Q Well, was the institution independently investigating 

the escape? 

A Oh, absolutely. 

15 Q And you were in the loop with respect to that 

16 investigation; is that correct? 

17 A 

18 Q 

No. 

You were not. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

A Well, let me explain it this way. We had our own 

investigators, and their job was to investigate every 

escape, so that was part of their routine duty. So that 

part of it, I would be involved with. 

Q Okay. And you indicated in your testimony that you 

24 assigned three of your investigative officers from the 

25 investigations office to assist'San Bernardino sheriff's 
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1 office in the Kevin Cooper matter; is that correct? 

2 A Yeah. 

3 Q 

4 A 

And you essentially opened up your prison to them? 

Yes. 

5 Q And you were aware that they were out to the prison 

6 quite frequently? 

7 A 

8 Q 

Yes. 

And was your investigative office reporting to you 

148 

9 about the manner in which they were assisting the sheriff's 

10 office? 

11 A They didn't come in with a daily report, and they did 

12 other duties also. 

13 Q Well, so you indicated that, after the escape of Kevin 

14 Cooper, you were working between 12 and 18-hour days, 

15 correct? 

16 A 

17 Q 

18 A 

19 Q 

Correct. 

That's seven days a week. 

Right. 

And you were involved in a lot of activities with 

20 

21 

respect to the community, correct? 

A Yes. 

22 Q And you were also involved in a lot of inquiries by 

23 the Attorney General's Office, the Senate, CDC, correct? 

24 A Yes, and grand jury and in-house Corrections 

25 administration investigation. 
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1 Q 

149 

So it's fair to say that you were not supervising the 

2 day-to-day activities of your investigators as they 

3 coordinated the San Bernardino sheriff's office. 

4 A 

5 

6 Q 

That is true. 

(Pause. ) 

Now, when you spoke to Detective Pacifico of the San 

7 Bernardino sheriff's office 

8 A 

9 Q 

Yes. 

-- did he ask you to attempt to locate any records 

10 that you might have from CIM regarding Kevin Cooper? 

11 A 

12 Q 

He did. 

And did you tell him that you would look for those 

13 records? 

14 A I did. 

15 Q And did you, in fact, look for those records? 

16 A I did. 

17 Q And were you able to find them? 

18 A I could not. 

19 Q Okay. Now, when did - - when did Detective Pacifico 

20 make that request, if you recall? 

21 A I really don't. Let me see -- it had to be after 

22 March 15th or 20th. 

23 Q Okay, did Detective Pacifico talk to you before you 

24 made the box available to Mr. Alexander? 

25 A Yes. 
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1 Q 

150 

Okay. If you were able to make the box available for 

2 Mr. Alexander, why were you unable to make the box 

3 available to Detective Pacifico? 

4 A Because I had moved from Sonora on March 15th to 

5 Ramona. My garage was filled with boxes from top to 

6 bottom, and I had not had a chance to go through any of 

7 those boxes when Pacifico talked to me. 

8 Q And then subsequently you went through the boxes. 

9 A I found one box. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

Q Now, when you found the one box, was it your 

understanding that that was all the records you had related 

to Kevin Cooper? 

A It was the only one I had found so far, and all of 

those notebooks had originally been kept together. 

15 Q And so you believe you found your notebooks in that 

16 box. 

17 A 

18 Q 

Found one. 

One notebook. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

A Yeah. 

Q Okay. Now, when you were making those files available 

to Mr. Alexander, I believe in April, did it occur to you 

to call Detective Pacifico and see if he wanted to look at 

those materials? 

24 A 

25 Q 

No. 

Is there any reason why it didn't occur to you? 
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1 A Well, it didn't. I don't know. 

2 THE COURT: Do you have the notebook here? 

3 THE WITNESS: I have it in my car. 

4 THE COURT: And the car is local? 

5 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

6 THE COURT: Okay. We can get that at the break. 

7 BY MS. WILKENS: 

8 Q Now, you indicated that you spoke with someone at San 

9 Bernardino sheriff's office that you believed to be a lead 

10 investigator based on prior contacts. 

11 A 

12 Q 

Right. 

A lead investigator on the Cooper case. And the 

13 person had a common last name such as Smith or Jones. 

14 A I don't know if it was a common last name. It was a 

15 common name. 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 Q 

Okay. So it could have been a common first name. 

Yes. 

Did you tell Detective Pacifico in March of this year 

19 that you're particularly bad at remembering names? 

20 A 

21 Q 

I don't know. I don't remember. 

Okay. Do you recall the name of the head of your 

22 investigative services office at the time of the Cooper 

23 escape? 

24 A 

25 Q 

I think it was Don Smith. 

Okay. You're not confusing Lieutenant Smith with an 
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1 

2 

investigator for San Bernardino sheriff's office, are you? 

A No. 

You're sure. 

Yeah. I'm sure. 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q Now, your declaration referenced a personal inquiry 

6 

7 

8 

that you conducted regarding the tennis shoes; is that 

correct? 

A Yes. 

9 Q Now, why did you conduct a personal inquiry as opposed 

10 to directing Lieutenant Smith, your head of your 

11 investigative services, to make the inquiry for you? 

12 A Well, frankly, at that time I thought it was a trivial 

13 thing. 

14 Q 

15 A 

Okay, so you thought it was trivial. 

Yes, I did, particularly in terms of what the other 

16 things we were doing with. 

17 Q Okay. When did you start to decide that the tennis 

18 shoes was more than a trivial issue? 

19 A Well, I thought it was not trivial to the San 

20 Bernardino sheriff's office. That's why I called them. To 

21 me, where I was at in all of this, it didn't really affect 

22 me or the institution. It affected their investigation, so 

23 it had --

24 Q If you thought it was important from the perspective 

25 of the sheriff's office, would it be important enough for 
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1 you to direct your investigating unit to get you 

2 information that you could share with the sheriff? 

3 A I didn't think the information warranted an 

4 

5 

6 

7 

investigation. All we had to do was go up and ask somebody 

in Business Services about how we ordered the tennis shoes 

and who we got them from. 

take a lot of digging. 

It wasn't anything that would 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

So your inquiry was directed to Business Services? 

Yes. 

Okay. And is that because of the procurement 

11 procedures that you described earlier? 

12 A Yes. 

13 

14 

Q Okay. Did you request to see the paperwork that would 

naturally exist at the prison? 

I did not. 15 A 

16 Q Okay. The head of your investigative services 

17 

18 

19 

20 

unit -- does that individual serve at your pleasure? 

A I believe so. 

Q And does that individual carry out all of your 

directives? 

21 A 

22 Q 

I suppose so. 

So you essentially as a warden have at your disposal 

23 an office of investigators that you can request do various 

24 tasks. 

25 A Right. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

153 

1 you to direct your investigating unit to get you 

2 information that you could share with the sheriff? 

3 A I didn't think the information warranted an 

4 

5 

6 

7 

investigation. All we had to do was go up and ask somebody 

in Business Services about how we ordered the tennis shoes 

and who we got them from. 

take a lot of digging. 

It wasn't anything that would 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

So your inquiry was directed to Business Services? 

Yes. 

Okay. And is that because of the procurement 

11 procedures that you described earlier? 

12 A Yes. 

13 

14 

Q Okay. Did you request to see the paperwork that would 

naturally exist at the prison? 

I did not. 15 A 

16 Q Okay. The head of your investigative services 

17 

18 

19 

20 

unit -- does that individual serve at your pleasure? 

A I believe so. 

Q And does that individual carry out all of your 

directives? 

21 A 

22 Q 

I suppose so. 

So you essentially as a warden have at your disposal 

23 an office of investigators that you can request do various 

24 tasks. 

25 A Right. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



154 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Q And were you aware that your Office of Investigative 

Services had procured the relevant contracts related to 

tennis shoes purchases and provided those to law 

enforcement? 

A No. 

Q And did you ever discuss with your investigative unit 

what they had been providing with respect to tennis shoes 

to law enforcement? 

A I discussed it off and on. 

10 Q So you did discuss with them what they were providing 

11 to the sheriff's department? 

12 A Yes, but it was not a formalized, "Give me a list of 

13 what you're providing the sheriff's office." It was in 

14 conversation -- they kept me updated; they'd come in and 

15 basically talk to me about what was going on. 

16 Q 

17 A 

Okay, and they had updated you on the tennis shoes? 

I don't remember that they updated me on the tennis 

18 

19 

shoes. 

Q Okay. And it didn't occur to you to ask them to 

2D update you on the tennis shoes --

Well --

-- when you contacted the San Bernardino sheriff? 

21 A 

22 Q 

23 A I thought the administrative staff was the people to 

24 look into it. 

25 Q Now, when you contacted the business people, what did 
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1 you contact them about? Did you contact them about all the 

2 tennis shoes at the prison? 

3 A I didn't contact the Business Services people. I 

4 contacted my administrative staff who were in my office and 

5 who were talking about what was in the newspaper, and I 

6 said, "Find out where we got these tennis shoes. Find out 

7 about these tennis shoes. I don't know of any tennis shoes 

8 that we've ever purchased." 

9 Q Okay. And when you say "these tennis shoes," you 

10 meant the Pro Ked --

II A Yeah. 

12 Q 

13 A 

14 Q 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 A 

20 Q 

-- tennis shoes. 

The ones that were referred to in the newspaper. 

Okay. And did the newspaper --

I don't think it said "Pro Ked" in the newspaper. 

It just said "tennis shoes". So when you --

It said a "special tennis shoe" --

Okay. 

that you could only get at the prison. 

So when you tasked your staff with looking into it, 

21 was your directive to find out what was the particular shoe 

22 that was involved in the Cooper case and to find out --

23 A I wanted to know if we were purchasing special shoes. 

24 Q Okay. So your directive was, "Go find out if we 

25 purchased special shoes." 
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2 Q 
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Yeah. 

Okay. Do you have any idea how many different brands 

3 of tennis shoes were being issued by elM in 1983? 

4 A No. 

5 Q You never inquired as to that. 

6 A No. 

7 Q And how long did it take for your staff to get you an 

8 answer about the special shoes? 

9 A 

10 Q 

A couple days. 

And then you passed that information along to the 

11 sheriff/s office l correct? 

12 A Yes. 

13 Q And there was no response whatsoever. 

14 A No. 

15 Q Did they saYI "Thank you"? 

16 A N0 1 I don/t think so. 

17 Q So they said - - they identified themselves; you said 

18 what you had to saYI and they hung up? 

19 A He was busy. I could hear activity in the background. 

20 Q Okay. 

21 A He had interruptions I and he had to go. 

22 Q Did he saYI "I have to go"? 

23 A Yeah. 

24 Q Okay. 

25 A That/s what I remember. 
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2 

3 

4 
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Q Now, did you tell Detective Pacifico in March of this 

year that the reference in your declaration to a personal 

inquiry makes it sound a little more formal than it 

actually was? 

5 A 

6 Q 

I did. 

And is that correct? 

7 

8 

9 

10 

A It is. 

Q Now, did you undertake this declaration based on your 

personal belief that the tennis shoes at CIM are available 

at Sears and similar retailers? 

11 A Yes. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Q Okay. And when you talk about tennis shoes, are you 

talking about all the tennis shoes that are issued at the 

prison or just the pair that was in issue in the Cooper 

case? 

A Are we talking about -- it is my perception all the 

tennis shoes issued out of CIM were common, ordinary, 

bottom-of-the-line, cheapest tennis shoe we could find, and 

then I was told by the administrative staff they were sold 

20 everywhere -- allover. They were commonly distributed in 

21 retail stores. 

22 Q 

23 of 

24 A 

25 Q 

Okay. And did they specifically give you an example 

Sears and Roebuck. 

Okay. And you didn't send anybody out to Sears to see 
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1 if they --

2 A No. 

3 Q - - had the shoe. 

4 A No. 

5 Q And why not? 

6 A Because that was not my purview to investigate that. 

7 That's why I passed the information on to the sheriff's 

8 office. I gave them what I thought and what my staff told 

9 me. Then it was on them they were the ones doing the 

10 investigation on Cooper. I was only interested in the 

11 escape of Cooper. I wasn't interested in the court case of 

12 Cooper. 

13 Q So you have no personal knowledge whatsoever about the 

14 availability of the tennis shoes at CIM. You only know 

15 what you heard from your staff. 

16 A 

17 Q 

That is correct. 

And did you assume that the jury in the Cooper case 

18 was told that the tennis shoe was prison-manufactured? 

19 A 

20 

21 

Yes. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Objection, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

22 BY MS. WILKENS: 

23 Q 

24 A 

And why did you believe that to be the case? 

Well, I'd read it in the paper that the key evidence 

25 about the shoe was that it was a prison-made or special 
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1 prison-issued shoe. 

2 Q Okay. Now, when you say II special prison-issued shoe, II 

3 what do you take that to mean? 

4 A A shoe that only could be had at an institution, a 

5 prison. 

6 Q Okay. So it's not manufactured at the prison. It's 

7 issued. But it would not be issued other than at a prison. 

8 A 

9 Q 

Right. 

Okay. And why did you believe the information in the 

10 newspaper to be true? 

11 A 

12 Q 

13 A 

Well, I didn't. 

Okay. 

That's why I asked my staff to look into it. I knew 

14 we did not manufacture a shoe a tennis shoe. 

15 Q 

16 A 

But did you believe that 

And to my knowledge, we did not purchase any special 

17 shoes. 

18 Q Okay. You did not believe that it was a special shoe, 

19 I understand that, but why did you believe that the jury 

20 was being told it was a special shoe because the newspaper 

21 told you so? 

22 

23 evidence. 

24 

25 

MR. ALEXANDER: Objection; assumes facts not in 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

THE WITNESS: Why did I believe part of the 
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1 newspaper article and not another? 

2 MS. WILKENS: Yeah. 

3 BY MS. WILKENS: 

4 Q I mean, you read a lot of the pUblicity surrounding 

5 the Cooper escape, correct? 

6 A 

7 Q 

Yes. 

And did you find the coverage to be accurate with 

8 respect to your institution and your involvement? 

9 A No. 

10 Q Okay. But when it came to reporting what was being 

11 told to the jury, you assumed that to be true. 

12 A I didn't believe anything anybody said or 

13 collaborated, basically. That's why I wanted it checked 

14 out. 

160 

15 Q Now, when you wrote your declaration, did you -- did 

16 you tell the -- Scarlet, who prepared your 

17 declaration -- did you tell her that your information was 

18 based on your memory and that you did not have documents to 

19 back up your memory? 

20 A Yes. 

21 Q And that's what you told her. 

22 A Yes. 

23 Q And is that true? 

24 A Yes. 

25 Q So if you were to go out to the trunk of your car and 
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1 bring in the materials that you provided to Mr. Alexander 

2 previously, there's nothing in those materials that would 

3 back up your recollection about the tennis shoes. 

4 A I had not read all that material. I just simply 

5 briefly read through it, but I did not 

6 any records. 

I don't know of 

7 Q Okay. Do you recall making a record of having 

8 contacted the sheriff's office? 

9 A No. 

You would not have done so. 10 Q 

11 A Some contacts would have been maybe recorded, but we 

12 didn't make records of telephone conversations. If we had 

13 formalized meetings with them, there would have been 

14 minutes or records of that. 

15 Q Now, you told Detective Pacifico in March that you 

16 were under the gun and probably talking to no less than 15 

17 to 20 people a day about Cooper every day for two years. 

18 Is that accurate? 

19 A That's pretty close. 

20 Q And you've explained that you recall making a phone 

21 call to the sheriff's office about the tennis shoes 20 

22 years ago because you felt that you were rebuffed; is that 

23 correct? 

24 A No. I was trying to help them. I called them because 

25 we had a very good working relationship. I read something 
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1 that I thought they should check out. They shouldn't be 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

blindsided, or they shouldn't have false information. 

Q Well, that's why you called. I'm asking you why after 

20 years you have specific recollection of having done so. 

A Well, I couldn't explain that. 

Q Well, it just seems like there was an awful lot 

swirling lot about you during the two years following the 

Cooper --

A There was a lot of what? 

Q A lot swirling about you. You were working long 

hours. You were talking to 15 to 20 people a day. You 

12 were undergoing multiple investigations. I'm just curious 

13 as to why you can recall 

14 A Most of the investigations, I believe, were done by 

15 the time Cooper went to trial. If you look at the records, 

16 I think most of those were completed by that time. But 

17 

18 

19 

20 

still, yes, I was overworked and harassed as the sheriff's 

office also was. 

Q Do you have a specific recollection, 20 years later, 

of all of the events the week of the escape? 

21 A All of the events? 

22 Q Sure. Do you know -- for example, do you know what 

23 time of day and what day you found out that Cooper had a 

24 violent record? Do you know that, sitting here today? 

25 A No, I couldn't pin the day down. 
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1 (Pause. ) 

2 Q Now, when you were speaking to the sheriff's office 

3 and you had a sense that they were not taking you 

4 seriously -- is that correct? 

163 

5 A 

6 Q 

I had a feeling they didn't want to talk to me. 

Would there be. any reason they wouldn't want to talk 

7 to you? 

8 A Their attitude was totally different 

9 MR. ALEXANDER: Objection, your Honor. 

10 THE WITNESS: They had been - -

11 MR. ALEXANDER: Excuse me, Ms. Carroll. 

12 Objection, your Honor. Pure speculation. 

13 THE COURT: Sustained. 

14 BY MS. WILKENS: 

15 Q Now, when you got off the phone, did you feel 

16 satisfied that you had conveyed the information you needed 

17 to convey? 

18 A 

19 Q 

Yes. 

And you didn't feel there was anything further you 

20 needed to do. 

21 A No. 

22 Q You didn't feel you needed to call the DA's office. 

23 A No. 

24 Q Did you ever contact Mr. Cooper's defense attorney? 

25 A No. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

. Never? 

Never. 

Never called him? 

Never. 

5 Q Did you ever call the defense investigator for Mr. 

6 Cooper at the time of trial? 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

I didn't call anybody involved with the court case. 

And you're positive. 

I am. 

So can you tell me that there was no communication 

11 whatsoever between you and the defense 

12 A 

13 Q 

And --

-- at trial? 

A Say that again? 

164 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

Q There was on communication between you and the Cooper 

defense at the time of the Cooper trial. 

A Absolutely not. They never contacted me or talked to 

me. 

19 Q 

20 A 

21 Q 

22 A 

23 Q 

So you never spoke to them, and you never called them. 

That's correct. 

Do you know who Ron Forbish (ph) is? 

No. 

Did you ever call Ron Forbish in December of 1984 and 

24 leave a message for him to call you? 

25 A No. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q 

6 done 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 upon 

10 A 

11 Q 

165 

Did you ever call the newspapers to correct stories? 

No. 

Did any of your staff ever do that at your direction? 

No. 

Did any of your staff ever inform you that they had 

that? 

No. 

Did the outcome of the Cooper trial have any impact 

you professionally? 

The outcome of the Cooper trial? No. 

Did the outcome of the Cooper trial have any impact on 

12 you personally? ~ 

13 MR. ALEXANDER: Objection, your Honor. It's 

14 irrelevant. 

15 

16 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

THE WITNESS: No. 

17 BY MS. WILKENS: 

18 Q Now, you were living in the Chino community at the 

19 time of the escape and the murders; is that correct? 

20 A Yes. 

21 Q And you participated in community forums? 

22 A Yes. 

23 Q Would you describe those forums as hostile to you? 

24 A After the escape, yes. 

25 THE COURT: What's good for one side is good for 
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1 the other. 

2 MR. ALEXANDER: Apparently not, your Honor. I'm 

3 happy to go into this, though. Thank you. 

4 BY MS. WILKENS: 

5 

6 

Q And how did that affect you -- being criticized in 

your own community? 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

I thought it was part of the job. 

Now --

I don't think anybody's ever complimented when you run 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

a prison. 

Q So you didn't feel this was out of the ordinary. 

A Well, it was an extraordinary time. 

Q Now, were you served with a lawsuit by the family of 

Christopher Hughes? 

A I think the state was. I don't remember being 

personally served. I may have been. 

17 Q 

18 A 

Were you named in a civil suit? 

Probably. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q And do you -- do you have any feelings about having a 

lawsuit accusing you of gross negligence? 

A No. 

Q Did you think that was unfair? 

A No. I think that was not -- I did not feel that was 

unfair. 

Q And do you think the criticism that was levied against 
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1 the prison with respect to the decision made not to use a 

2 helicopter do you think those were unfair? 

3 MR. ALEXANDER: Objection, your Honor. It's 

4 irrelevant. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 it. 

THE COURT: 403. 

THE WITNESS: What does that mean? 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

THE WITNESS: What? 

THE COURT: Sustained. You don't need to answer 

11 (Pause.) 

12 BY MS. WILKENS: 

13 Q Now, when Detective Pacifico spoke to you, you stated 

14 to him that you thought it would be Cooper's defense team 

15 that would be contacting you. Is that correct? 

16 A 

17 Q 

I don't remember that, but I might have. 

Did you have any expectation of law enforcement 

18 contacting you in relation to the declaration that you 

19 provided to the Cooper defense? 

20 A 

21 Q 

Yes. I thought they would. 

What kind of rapport did you have with San Bernardino 

22 sheriff's office during the Cooper trial? 

23 A 

24 Q 

25 A 

During the trial? 

Yes. 

It was excellent. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

~ 

167 

1 the prison with respect to the decision made not to use a 

2 helicopter do you think those were unfair? 

3 MR. ALEXANDER: Objection, your Honor. It's 

4 irrelevant. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 it. 

THE COURT: 403. 

THE WITNESS: What does that mean? 

THE COURT: Sustained. 

THE WITNESS: What? 

THE COURT: Sustained. You don't need to answer 

11 (Pause.) 

12 BY MS. WILKENS: 

13 Q Now, when Detective Pacifico spoke to you, you stated 

14 to him that you thought it would be Cooper's defense team 

15 that would be contacting you. Is that correct? 

16 A 

17 Q 

I don't remember that, but I might have. 

Did you have any expectation of law enforcement 

18 contacting you in relation to the declaration that you 

19 provided to the Cooper defense? 

20 A 

21 Q 

Yes. I thought they would. 

What kind of rapport did you have with San Bernardino 

22 sheriff's office during the Cooper trial? 

23 A 

24 Q 

25 A 

During the trial? 

Yes. 

It was excellent. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q 

You had no complaints. 

What? 

You had no complaints. 

No. 

You had no complaint about the phone call you made 

6 about the tennis shoes. 

7 A No. 

Q Okay. So you weren't offended at the end of that 

phone call. 

168 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

A I felt put off, but I attributed it to the fact that 

they were under a lot of pressure and overworked. I didn't 

take it personally, necessarily. I thought they blew me 

offi I thought it was rude, but that's the way it goes. 

14 Q 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 Q 

Okay, so you have no problem with that. 

No. 

And 20 years later, you still remember that. 

Yup. 

Now, you asked Detective Pacific if the sheriff was, 

19 quote, "pissed off" by the declaration that you provided 

20 the Cooper defense team. 

21 A I didn't say "the sheriff." I don't know who the 

22 sheriff is now, but I said something to that effect, yes. 

23 Q Why did you say that? 

24 A Because it was absolutely unanimous among all law 

25 enforcement that Kevin Cooper was guilty before there was 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q 

You had no complaints. 

What? 

You had no complaints. 

No. 

You had no complaint about the phone call you made 

6 about the tennis shoes. 

7 A No. 

Q Okay. So you weren't offended at the end of that 

phone call. 

168 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

A I felt put off, but I attributed it to the fact that 

they were under a lot of pressure and overworked. I didn't 

take it personally, necessarily. I thought they blew me 

offi I thought it was rude, but that's the way it goes. 

14 Q 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 Q 

Okay, so you have no problem with that. 

No. 

And 20 years later, you still remember that. 

Yup. 

Now, you asked Detective Pacific if the sheriff was, 

19 quote, "pissed off" by the declaration that you provided 

20 the Cooper defense team. 

21 A I didn't say "the sheriff." I don't know who the 

22 sheriff is now, but I said something to that effect, yes. 

23 Q Why did you say that? 

24 A Because it was absolutely unanimous among all law 

25 enforcement that Kevin Cooper was guilty before there was 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



169 

1 ever a trial -- to everyone I talked to in law enforcement. 

2 Q So is it your opinion that Mr. Cooper didn't get a 

3 fair trial? 

4 A I have no idea. I didn't sit through any of it, never 

5 went once, don't know what happened. 

6 Q But you believe that law enforcement prejudged his 

7 guilt? 

8 A Yes. I think the media did. 

9 Q Well, which is it? The media or law enforcement? 

10 A Well, can't it be both? 

11 Q Is it both? 

12 A I think a lot of opinion was driven by the media. 

13 (Pause. ) 

14 Q As the warden of the prison that Kevin Cooper escaped 

15 from, would it be better for you personally if he was 

16 absolved of murdering a nearby family? 

17 

18 

19 

MR. ALEXANDER: Objection, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Overruled. You may answer. 

THE WITNESS: Actually, no. In my personal 

20 career, I had spent five -- I'd spent a year trying to get 

21 my bosses to make corrections that would not have allowed 

22 escapes from CIM Minimum, and they would not listen to me. 

23 And when Kevin Cooper escaped and the whole group of events 

24 happened, they then incorporated the changes that I had 

25 been asking for for a year. 
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1 BY MS. WILKENS: 

So did you feel vindicated by Mr. Cooper's escape? 2 Q 

3 A I wouldn't want to say that over such a tragic affair, 

4 but 

5 Q 

6 A 

But you felt no responsibility. 

Of course I felt responsibility. Any man who leaves 

7 is my responsibility to make sure they don't go. 

8 Responsibility for the crime -- I don't feel responsible 

9 for that. The man should not have ever gotten out, whether 

10 he committed the crime or not. 

11 Q Well, he wouldn't have committed the crime if he 

12 hadn't gotten out. 

13 MR. ALEXANDER: Objection, your Honor. 

14 BY MS. WILKENS: 

15 Q Do you look at it that way? 

16 THE COURT: Overruled. 

17 THE WITNESS: What am I supposed to do? 

18 THE COURT: You may answer it. 

19 THE WITNESS: Answer it? Okay. Please ask me 

20 that again. 

21 BY MS. WILKENS: 

22 Q Do you look at the situation that Mr. Cooper couldn't 

23 have committed the crime unless he had gotten out of your 

24 institution, so they're connected? Do you view it that 

25 way? 
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But you felt no responsibility. 

Of course I felt responsibility. Any man who leaves 

7 is my responsibility to make sure they don't go. 
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Well, certainly -- committed the crime -- he couldn't 

2 

3 

have done it if he'd been inside. 

Q So do you consider yourself to have any responsibility 

4 for the murder of the Ryens and Christopher --

5 A 

6 Q 

I do not. 

And are you aware that there are people in the 

7 community in which you live that consider you to be 

8 responsible? 

9 A Absolutely. 

10 Q 

11 A 

And how do you feel about that? 

I told you -- I felt that was part of the job. That's 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

the logical -- I was the figurehead that was the most 

readily available and the person responsible for that 

institution, and so that would have been the normal thing 

to do. 

Q Now, Mrs. Carroll, do you have a copy of your 

declaration in front of you? 

A I do. 

Q Okay. If you could please turn to page 2 of your 

declaration and in paragraph 5 -- go three sentences up 

from the bottom of the page -- well, actually, four. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Excuse me one moment 

MS. WILKENS: Sure. 

24 THE COURT: And also, just for the record, has 

25 this been marked? 
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2 

3 record? 

4 

MS. WILKENS: No, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Do you want to mark it for the 

MS. WILKENS: Yeah, I can mark it. Sure. 

(Pause to confer.) 
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5 

6 MS. WILKENS: I apologize, your Honor. We don't 

7 have mUltiple copies. 

8 THE COURT: That's all right. 

9 MR. ALEXANDER: I have copies, your Honor. 

10 

11 

12 

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. 

(Pause to confer.) 

THE COURT: You can put it later if that messes 

13 up your 

14 THE CLERK: XX is next -- is being marked for 

15 identification. 

16 MS. WILKENS: Thank you. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

BY MS. WILKENS: 

Q Now, Mrs. Carroll, drawing your attention to what is 

the second-to-the-last sentence on that page, it indicates, 

"In addition, I kept meticulous records 

of all matters stemming from Mr. 

Cooper's case, including my contacts 

with detectives." 

Is that an accurate statement? 

25 A No, it's not. 
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1 Q Okay. And you read your declaration before you signed 

2 it? 

3 A 

4 Q 

I did. 

And you recognized at the time that that was not 

5 accurate? 

6 A 

7 Q 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q 

I didn't even notice it. 

Okay, so you didn't read your declaration carefully. 

I did read it. 

How long did it take to read your declaration? 

Not long. 

What circumstances was it presented to you? 

Very stressful circumstances. 

And was it at an odd hour? Did you know they were 

14 coming? 

15 A I don't believe I knew they were coming. I don't 

16 believe I knew they were coming. 

17 Q Okay. So you've indicated that saying that it was 

18 a personal inquiry is a bit of an overstatement? 

19 A You mean at the top? 

20 Q Yeah. 

21 A Yeah. I think that was an overstatement. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q Okay. And it is accurate where it says that it was 

your understanding that, 

" ... the shoes we carried were not 

prison-manufactured or specially 
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1 designated prison-issued shoes." 

2 Is that accurate? 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q Okay. But you're referring only to tennis shoes. 

5 A Right. 

6 Q Okay. You're not referring to the brogans. 

7 A No, we - - the Prison Industries Authority manufactured 

8 those. 

9 Q Okay. And to clarify, when you say "shoes we 

10 carried," are you referring to all shoes, or are you 

11 referring to the shoes that were the subject of the Cooper 

12 case? 

13 A I'm referring to all shoes. None of them were 

14 special. 

15 Q Okay. 

16 THE COURT: The brogans? 

17 THE WITNESS: Think they were special? 

18 THE COURT: I don't know. I'm asking. 

19 BY MS. WILKENS: 

20 Q Well, the brogans were prison-issued, correct? 

21 A Right. 

22 Q But they were not tennis shoes. 

23 A Right. 

24 Q Can you just briefly describe what they look like? 

25 A They're a brown leather work shoe - - ankle high, round 
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1 toe, heavy --almost like a boot. 

2 Q Okay. Now, if I could show you notebook 2 -- and 

3 inviting your attention to the second page of notebook 2, 

4 at the upper right-hand corner, you'll see where it says 

5 "Safe copy." 

6 A 

7 Q 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

Dh-huh. 

Now, do these materials look familiar to you? 

Yes. 

And what do they look like? 

They look like the ones we put together before I left 

11 Chino. 

12 Q Okay. And before you left Chino, did it have a label 

13 on it that said "Safe copy"? 

14 A 

15 Q 

16 A 

17 Q 

No, not that I remember. 

So that wasn't done by you. 

No. 

Okay. And how many notebooks did you say you put 

18 together? 

19 A I know at least three - - possibly four. 

20 Q Okay. And were they actually in binders? 

21 A Yeah. 

22 Q Okay. 

23 A Like they were green, as I remember. 

24 Q Okay. Now I'm going to show you notebook number 3, 

25 and it says, "Book 2" up in the upper right-hand corner, 
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1 the first page, and it says "Safe copy" again. And do you 

2 recognize those materials? 

3 A Looks like the same one that we put together. 

4 Q Okay. Does it look like the last notebook I showed 

5 you, or does it look like another notebook that you put 

6 together? 

7 A Beg your pardon? 

8 

9 

Q Does it look exactly like the last notebook I showed 

you, or is it like another notebook? 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q 

14 A 

You mean the content? 

Yeah. 

I don't know. I haven't checked. 

Take a look. 

That looks different. 

15 MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, I'm going to impose 

16 an objection -- lack of foundation. I don't know that 

17 Ms. --

18 

19 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

THE WITNESS: It looks different. 

20 BY MS. WILKENS: 

21 Q Now, by saying it looks different, are you saying 

22 they're not the notebooks you put together? 

23 A They look like the notebooks we put together. 

24 Q Okay. 

25 THE COURT: You're just saying it's volume 1, 
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1 volume 2. 

MS. WILKENS: Two different notebooks. 

THE WITNESS: Oh. 

177 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

MS. WILKENS: Thank you. Thank you t your Honor. 

BY MS. WILKENS: 

Q Now Itm going to show you notebook number 4. Now t on 

7 the cover sheet you can see "Safe copy" and it looks like 

8 its saYSt IIBook number 3." If you can flip through those 

9 and see if those look like materials that you put together 

10 before leaving CIM. 

11 A It looks like the 

12 Q 

13 A 

14 Q 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

Okay. 

-- stuff we put together. 

But againt the "Safe copy" sticker wasntt on there. 

(No audible response.) 

All rightt if I can show you notebook number 5. 

This is volume what? 

18 Q Notebook number 5 -- on notebook number 5 t therets a 

19 sticker that saYSt "Miscellaneous documents." Does that 

20 look like any of the materials that you put together? 

21 A 

22 Q 

Yes. 

Okay. 

23 Now t Mrs. Carroll t inviting your attention to notebook 

24 number 6 t could you look at those materials and tell me if 

25 they look like materials you put together before leaving 
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1 the 

2 

3 A 

4 one 

5 sure 

6 Q 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

11 A 

12 Q 

13 A 

14 Q 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 A 

20 Q 

178 

prison? 

(Pause to review documents. ) 

I really don't know if this one was or not. I found 

memo that looked familiar. The rest of it, 

about. 

It's not in a format that you recognize? 

(No audible response.) 

It's not in a format that you recognize? 

I just can't recognize all the material. 

I'm 

Now, inviting your attention to notebook 7 -

This is 7? 

That's 7. 

We only had three or four. 

Okay. So you had three notebooks? 

Three or four. 

not 

Okay. Did you have copies of newspaper clippings? 

I think so. 

Okay, so you think you put those together? 

Do I think we put them together? 

Right. Is that part of what you compiled upon your 

21 departure? 

22 A It might have been. 

23 Q Okay. And notebook 7 -- is that pretty much newspaper 

24 articles? 

25 A We didn't have one like this. 
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1 Q Okay. Did you have a file where you put newspaper 

2 clippings? 

3 A 

4 Q 

5 A 

6 Q 

I'm sure we did. 

Okay. And did you do it as they were clipped? 

What do you mean? 

In a chron file of newspaper articles? 

179 

7 A I didn't do it. Someone in the office may have. I'm 

8 not 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 Q 

I don't know. 

Okay. So it wasn't at your direction? 

No. 

Okay. 

12 Now, Mrs. Carroll, if you could look at notebook 8 and 

13 tell me if you recognize whether or not those were the 

14 materials that were put together by you before your 

15 departure from CIM. 

16 A This is clearly material from CIM, but I can't tell 

17 you that it was in those books we put together. 

18 Q 

19 A 

20 Q 

Okay. 

I mean, it had thousands or hundreds of pages. 

Your recollection is it was no more than four 

21 notebooks? 

22 A 

23 Q 

Yeah, three or four. 

And you've indicated no thicker than the exhibit 

24 notebooks that are in front of you? 

25 A Right. So some of this must be redundant. 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

Q Okay. Could you take a look at notebook number 9 for 

me that's in front of you and tell me if that's in a format 

that was part of the notebooks you put together? 

{Pause to review documents.} 

A I could not say all this material was in there or not. 

You have to understand I didn't put these notebooks 

together, and I never read them from cover to cover. 

8 Q 

9 A 

Okay, were they put together at your direction? 

No, it was the -- actually, I believe it was the 

10 executive secretary idea to put them together. 

11 Q Okay. So you didn't decide that this should be done 

12 before you left. 

13 A I thought it was a good idea once they told me about 

14 it. 

15 Q Okay. And they suggested it to you. 

16 A Right. 

17 Q And why did they say they wanted to do this? 

18 A It makes sense to do it. Then you have records of 

19 what you did and what you said and what happened. 

20 Q It was done because you were departing; is that 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

correct? 

A I think we probably would have done it anyway if we'd 

thought of it, but leaving, I wanted records. I thought 

that was a good idea. 

Q So you wanted to take it with you when you left. 
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Yeah. 1 A 

2 MS. WILKENS: Your Honor, I have nothing further 

3 subject to Mrs. Carroll 

4 THE COURT: What I'll do is we'll take a -- you 

5 can go ahead. Do you have redirect? 

6 MR. ALEXANDER: I do have some and, if your Honor 

7 would like, I don't think it will take very long. 

8 THE COURT: Okay. I'll have the CSO walk you to 

9 your car, and you can bring the notebook that you have, and 

10 then we'll take a break till you return. 

11 

12 

13 

THE WITNESS: Can my husband get them? 

THE COURT: Is he here? 

THE WITNESS: Yeah, he's sitting in the back of 

14 the room. He knows where the car is. 

15 THE COURT: Okay. 

16 THE WITNESS: I don't know where it's at. 

17 THE COURT: Okay. He knows where the car is? 

18 And the CSO can go with him, and then come back. 

19 MS. WILKENS: Thank you, your Honor. 

20 THE COURT: Thank you. Just -- with him. Go 

21 take him to his car, get the notebook, and bring it back. 

22 We'll be in -- well, I guess we could -- while 

23 he's getting that, you can go ahead and do your redirect. 

24 

25 

MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you, your Honor. 

THE WITNESS: Can I get rid of these? 
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(Pause. ) 1 

2 MR. ALEXANDER: I'm going to refer to a couple of 

3 those. 

4 I've got a number of documents, your Honor. I'm 

5 just wondering -- I've got maybe 20 minutes, maybe not 

6 that, so 

7 THE COURT: Go ahead. 

8 MR. ALEXANDER: I'm happy to go ahead. 

9 THE COURT: Go ahead. 

10 MR. ALEXANDER: Okay, thank you. 

11 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

12 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

13 Q Ms. Carroll, do you have before you notebook number 7 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

that was put in front of you by Ms. Wilkens? 

A Yes. 

Q All right. Would you please turn -- it's not very far 

down, so it's easy to find -- the fourth page of notebook 

number 7? Do you see on the right there's an article, 

"Shoe Prints Appear to be Same Kind"? 

20 A 

21 Q 

Yes. 

All right. Now, it's hard to tell the date. It looks 

22 like it's in December of 1984. Do you see that at the top 

23 in the handwritten portion? 

24 A Yes. 

25 Q And this is an AP article -- does that appear to 
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1 

2 

3 

be -- next to "San Diego" -- do you see that? 

A Yes. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Does your Honor have a copy of 

4 the notebook? 

5 THE COURT: I do. 
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6 MR. ALEXANDER: Okay. We're on the fourth page 

7 in notebook number 7, and we're at the article on the right 

8 side of the page, starting with "Shoe Prints Appear to be 

9 Same Kind." 

10 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

11 Q Ms. Carroll, you're welcome to read the whole article, 

12 but I would like to direct your attention to the next-to-

13 last paragraph, and it refers to a William Baird. Do you 

14 happen to know offhand who Mr. Baird was? 

15 A No. 

16 Q All right. So in any event, it identifies him as a 

17 criminalist involved in the case, and it says, 

18 "Baird said comparisons with the 

19 prison-issued Pro Keds dude-style shoes 

20 which are not sold in retail stores 

21 matched. " 

22 Do you see that statement? 

23 A Yes. 

24 

25 

Q All right. Now, do you recall whether you saw this 

article specifically or not? 
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I have no idea. 1 A 

2 Q All right. But was this the sort of information that 

3 you saw that led you to conclude that there may be some 

4 misinformation being presented to the Court? 

5 A 

6 Q 

Yes. 

All right, thank you. 

7 Then secondly, do you have notebook number 5 in front 

8 of you? 

9 A Okay. I don't think I need it. Let's jump to 

10 notebook number 6. Do you have that in front of you? 

11 A 

12 Q 

13 

No. 

I'll take these away, if that's all right. 

Ms. Wilkens asked you about whether you ever contacted 

14 a Mr. Forbish. 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

Yes. 

And you said you had not, correct? 

Right. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

Q Now, would you direct your attention -- I think she 

referred to a note in -- on 12/7 -- or in December of '84. 

Would you direct your attention to the third page in in the 

notebook -- I apologize -- it's more than the third page 

in. 

23 A 

24 Q 

25 A 

I found what you wanted. 

It's 1409. 

Oh, 1409? 
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1 Q Yeah, I think it's the next page. All right, does 

2 that reflect the conversation between Ms. Cordua and Mr. 

3 Forbish, not yourself? 

I don't know what this is. 4 A 

5 Q Do you see where it says at the top, "December 15, 

6 1984"? 

7 A Yes. 

8 Q "Location: CIM. " 
9 A Yes. 

10 Q "Present: Forbish. " 

11 A Right. 

12 Q "Speaker: Teresa Cordua." 

13 A Yes. 

14 Q And Ms. Cordua was one of your investigators? 

15 A Correct. 

16 Q Now - - I guess you only have one notebook in front 

17 you, so let me provide you with notebook number 4. I'll 

185 

of 

18 leave you with notebook number 6. I direct your attention, 

19 if you would, to the page right after the first tab on 

20 "Historical Information". 

21 A 

22 Q 

Right after what? 

Right after the tab that says, "Historical 

23 Documentation" -- I misspoke. 

24 A 

25 Q 

I don't have a tab that says that. Oh, yeah -

It's the very first tab 
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1 A 

2 Q 

Okay. All right. 

And the first page. Was that a page that you put 

3 together? 

4 A 

5 Q 

Yes. 

And when you reference "How did this happen?", what 

6 does "this" refer to? 

7 A The escape. 

8 Q And would you 

9 "The whole system is drowning under the 

10 pressure of too many- inmates and too 

11 much paper. " 
12 A Correct. 

13 Q Was that your assessment at the time? 

14 A Yes. 

15 Q And on the next page, did you document the 

16 overcrowding situation? 

17 A 

18 Q 

I did ,that routinely. 

All right. And would you just briefly from that 

19 information give us what you concluded? 

About what? 

About the crowding situation. 

I guess I don't understand --

186 

20 A 

21 Q 

22 A 

23 Q Well, I didn't articulate it very well. I apologize. 

24 What did you conclude based on the information you 

25 kept regarding the crowded situation and how that may have 
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20 A 

21 Q 

22 A 
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25 kept regarding the crowded situation and how that may have 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



187 

1 contributed to the escape? 

2 A The Department of Corrections kept reducing -- they 

3 kept changing what a Minimum inmate was. You had scores 

4 that you give inmates. If you're such-and-such a score, 

5 you're a Minimum, such-and-such a score, you're a Medium, 

6 and so on. 

7 They changed occasionally the scoring system so that 

8 we could cramp more and more people into Minimums. 

9' Q Was there even contemplation of putting prisoners in 

10 tents? 

11 A 

12 Q 

Yes, there was. 

And there was violent reaction in the community -- by 

13 the community to that, correct? 

14 A 

15 Q 

Yes. 

All right. Now, "Reduced processing time" -- what 

16 does that refer to? 

17 A That means you'd get an inmate in the reception 

18 center. You'd only have two documents: You had the 

19 probation officer's report and you had the commitment 

20 papers from the court. 

21 Q 

22 A 

Okay. 

And we didn't have computers back in 1983, so we did 

23 not have a -- we did not have CII or an FBI record of the 

24 inmate. We didn't know what his criminal past was. 

25 Q And the term, "The PORs are our primary source of 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

187 

1 contributed to the escape? 

2 A The Department of Corrections kept reducing -- they 

3 kept changing what a Minimum inmate was. You had scores 

4 that you give inmates. If you're such-and-such a score, 

5 you're a Minimum, such-and-such a score, you're a Medium, 

6 and so on. 

7 They changed occasionally the scoring system so that 

8 we could cramp more and more people into Minimums. 

9' Q Was there even contemplation of putting prisoners in 

10 tents? 

11 A 

12 Q 

Yes, there was. 

And there was violent reaction in the community -- by 

13 the community to that, correct? 

14 A 

15 Q 

Yes. 

All right. Now, "Reduced processing time" -- what 

16 does that refer to? 

17 A That means you'd get an inmate in the reception 

18 center. You'd only have two documents: You had the 

19 probation officer's report and you had the commitment 

20 papers from the court. 

21 Q 

22 A 

Okay. 

And we didn't have computers back in 1983, so we did 

23 not have a -- we did not have CII or an FBI record of the 

24 inmate. We didn't know what his criminal past was. 

25 Q And the term, "The PORs are our primary source of 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



1 

2 

information. II 

A Actually, it's probation officer's report. 

188 

3 Q Yes, that's what I was going to ask you. All right. 

4 And then, finally, in the -- under item 3, you say that, 

5 IITrautman came into CIM on 4/29/83. 11 That was in the 

6 Medium security? 

Yes. 7 A 

8 Q And then IIPOR made him a level-I. II Is that Minimum 

9 security? 

10 A Yes. 

11 

12 

13 

Q And IIHolds came in, apparently did not get in the 

file. 1I Is that what you concluded? 

A Yes. 

14 Q All right. Now, Ms. Wilkens asked you some questions 

15 about whether or not you felt responsible in any manner for 

16 the escape. 

17 THE COURT: I'll also ask -- in view of 

18 questioning -- if you want to get into the community 

19 MR. ALEXANDER: I will but very quickly, your 

20 Honor--

21 THE COURT: Okay. 

22 MR. ALEXANDER: Just through some documents. 

23 Thank you very much. 

24 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

25 Q I believe this is Petitioner's Exhibit Number 10. 
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THE CLERK: lOA and lOB have been used. 1 

2 MR. ALEXANDER: Oh, I'm sorry. Thank you, Madam 

3 Clerk. This would be 11. For the record, Petitioner's 

4 Exhibit 11 is a typewritten document entitled, "Steps taken 

5 by CIM to protect the community." 

6 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

7 Q 

8 A 

9 Q 

Ms. Carroll, did you prepare this document? 

I did. 

And would you tell -- describe for us what the 

10 document is? 

11 A It was a request for a security fence around the 

12 minimum prison. 

13 Q And on September 2nd, 1982, did you as the warden 

14 

15 

16 

submit a proposed security fence to Sacramento on fencing 

for CIM Minimum? 

A I did. 

What was the response? 

Well, they never funded it. 

17 Q 

18 A 

19 Q On October 26, 1982, did you write a progress report 

20 to R. Doran, requesting, 

21 " ... review of classification system of 

22 placing level-1 on Minimum yard with 

23 too little information available about 

24 inmates"? 

25 A I did. 
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1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

5 Q 

6 A 

7 Q 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 the 

11 A 

12 Q 

Who was Mr. Doran? 

Doran. 

Doran. who was he? 

He was my boss, my immediate boss. 

Was he the deputy director of institutions? 

He was. 

At the time you prepared this document. 

Yes. 

On October 27th, 1982, did the CCC 

-- what does CCC stand for? 

That's the prison at Susanville. 

Okay -- and CIM submit a proposal, 

- - is that 

13 "New commitments go north, do camp time 

14 and earn their way to CIM Minimum." 

15 Would you describe for us what that was about? 

16 A We did not want people coming to the Minimum yard 
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17 directly from the reception center because we did not know 

18 what their criminal history was. 

19 Q Now, the reception center -- was that at Chino, 

20 correct? 

21 A 

22 Q 

Correct. 

So the prisoners would come into Chino, and they would 

23 either stay at Chino or be imprisoned somewhere else? 

24 A 

25 Q 

Yes. 

All right. 
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17 directly from the reception center because we did not know 

18 what their criminal history was. 

19 Q Now, the reception center -- was that at Chino, 
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1 A 

191 

We did not want them coming to the Minimum yard, but I 

2 believe this proposal also said they should not be in any 

3 Minimum yard until you know what you have. 

4 Q 

5 A 

6 Q 

7 and 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 Q 

And what was done with that proposal? 

Nothing. 

On March 21st, 1983, did you submit an "Overcrowding 

review of level-l process" to Mr. Doran in person? 

I did. 

And what became of that? 

Nothing. 

And on March 29, 1983, did you set up a elM Minimum 

12 screening system to help control level-l bad guys from 

13 coming to elM Minimum? 

14 A 

15 Q 

I did. 

All right. Would you describe for us briefly what 

16 that was? 

17 A Well, since we couldn't get cooperation from 

18 Sacramento, we decided that we would do our own screening 

19 and not put people directly from the reception center into 

20 Minimum, and so we wouldn't let them come over. That 

21 caused a great controversy. My boss called me and told me 

22 to follow his orders or turn the keys in. 

23 Q 

24 A 

25 Q 

who's your boss? 

Doran. 

I take it nothing came of your suggestion. 
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A No. Well, something did come of it. We ended up 1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

taking the people from reception center again. It sounds 

very weird, but a warden doesn't get to decide the inmates 

they get or where they are housed. That is done by a 

classification group out of headquarters who assign people 

6 to prisons and beds according to beds available. You take 

7 who you get. Period. 

8 (Pause. ) 

9 Q I'm going to hand you what I've marked as Petitioner's 

10 Exhibit 12, a memorandum and attachments from yourself, Ms. 

11 Carroll, to Mr. Doran, deputy director, institutions, 

12 September 7th, 1982. 

13 

14 A 

15 Q 

Do you recognize the document, Ms. Carroll? 

I do. 

And is the memorandum and the attachments something 

that you wrote and put together? 

A Yes. 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Q And did you send that on to Mr. Doran on or about 

September 7th, 1982? 

A Yes. 

21 Q And was this a revised security fencing plan for CIM 

22 Main? 

23 A Yes. 

24 Q All right. Did you also submit security -- well, when 

25 you say "CIM Main" -- would that also include Minimum? 
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1 A 

2 Q 
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Well, that is Minimum. 

Thank you. That's what I wanted to find out. And at 

3 least by the time of June"lst, 1983, had anything been done 

4 to implement a security fencing plan you had been-proposing 

5 since at least September of 1982? 

6 A 

7 Q 

8 A 

No. May I had a comment? 

Yes, ma'am. 

I believe the Department of Corrections no longer -- I 

9 believe they lost their focus. They were more concerned 

10 about overcrowding and finding beds for everyone than they 

11 were public safety. That's my opinion. Should I say "in 

12 my opinion"? 

13 Q That's fine. I understand that. But that was also 

14 based upon your experience as a warden at the time. 

15 A Yes. 

16 Q And your prior experience In the prison system. 

17 A Yes. 

18 Q On that subject - - let me offer next in order - - it'd 

19 be Petitioner's Exhibit Number 13. 

20 MR. ALEXANDER: For the record, Exhibit Number 13 

21 is a memorandum to Mr. R. Doran dated June 29, 1982. The 

22 subject of -- which is "Increased capacity, CIM conflicts." 

23 Down at the bottom at the last page, it says -- there are 

24 some initials cut off -- but Carroll, superintendent. 

25 II 
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1 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

2 Q Do you see that? 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q Did you prepare this memorandum? 

5 A Yes. 

6 Q Would you just briefly describe the subject matter of 

7 this memorandum? 

8 A I was talking about overcrowding. I was talking about 

9 some of the problems that we had because of the 

10 overcrowding and lack of space -- and basically that was 

11 it. 

12 Q Now, you said in response to a question from Ms. 

13 Wilkens that of course you feel responsible in some way for 

14 the events that transpired involving Mr. Cooper's escape. 

15 Did you, Ms. Carroll, do everything that you could do as 

16 the warden to try and increase the security around 

17 California Chino Institution for Men during the period 

18 of time that you were the warden? 

19 A 

20 Q 

Yes, I did. 

Is there anything else you can think of that you could 

21 have done? 

22 A No, because I think the drastic action that I took on 

23 my own by not allowing the inmates to come over to Minimum 

24 was about as drastic as you can get and keep your job. 

25 Q And what was that drastic action? 
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1 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 
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1 A I wouldn't accept them, wouldn't let them come. I 

2 had I was supposed to move inmates over to the Minimum 

3 yard, and I refused to accept them. 

4 Q And how was that received by your superiors? 

5 

6 

A An administrator from Sacramento was sent down to the 

institution. 

To do what? 7 Q 

8 A 

9 Q 

To tell us to turn our keys in or follow directions. 

What did you then do? 

10 A Well, I wasn't quite old enough to retire, so I bent. 

11 I took the inmates, under protest, but I took them. 

12 (Paus~.) 

13 MR. ALEXANDER: For the record, Exhibit 14 is a 

14 letter and briefing package dated -- the letter dated April 

15 6, 1983, the briefing package dated April 5, 1983 from M. 

16 Carroll, superintendent, to Mr. David Morrow, Education 

17 Unit, and Mr. Otis Lawzons (phonetic), assistant deputy 

18 director, Institutions Division, Department of Corrections, 

19 Sacramento. 

20 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

21 Q Do you recall preparing this letter and the attached 

22 

23 

materials, Ms. Carroll? 

A Yes. 

24 Q And does this memorandum and package relate to the 

25 authorities in Sacramento relating -- concerning the 
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1 overcrowding problems at Chino? 

2 A 

3 Q 

4 A 

Well, it's a protest, actually. 

What do you mean "a protest," ma'am? 

Well, we had 4,500 inmates already, and we had a 

196 

5 design capacity of about 2,700, and they were going to put 

6 us up to 7 or 10 thousand inmates. That was just beyond 

7 imagination. 

8 Q And this was your letter of April 6, 1983, less than 

9 two months before Mr. Cooper escaped, correct? 

10 A Yes. 

11 Q You were ringing the alarm bell, I take it. 

12 A I was. 

13 Q Had you been ringing it for a long time? 

14 A Since I got there. 

15 Q Did anything transpire - - or were any correction made 

16 before Mr. Cooper escaped? 

17 A No. 

18 Q Anything subsequent, while you were there? 

19 A Yes, after Cooper - - I got the fence, level-1 

20 Q How long after did you get the fence? 

21 A Oh, they put through emergency legislation, so it 

22 started almost immediately. 

23 Q 

24 

Just a few more questions, please, Ms. Carroll. 

Ms. Wilkens asked you whether, when you learned about 

25 the documents, did you ever call Mr. Pacifico back? Did he 
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1 ever follow up with you? 

2 A When I talked with Pacifico, he asked me to check and 

3 see if Regina Stevens would talk with him. I did that and 

4 I called back and there was another detective there, and I 

5 gave him my information. 

6 Q Did he ask you anything about the documents? 

7 A I don't think so. I don't 

8 

9 

Q Did Mr. P~cifico then call you and ask you about the 

documents? 

10 A No. He asked me that the original time that we 

11 

12 

13 

talked. 

Q And this was sometime certainly after March 26th of 

this year, correct? 

14 A Yes. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

Q And do you know whether or not March 26th was the date 

that the Department of Corrections had access to all of 

these files? 

A I have no idea when they got access. They were at the 

19 institution. They could have had access to them anytime. 

20 Q Thank you. Now, you corrected for Ms. Wilkens -- you 

21 mentioned the one statement you made in your declaration 

22 may have been a bit of an overstatement, and that was at 

23 the top of page 2.1 want you to now -- and hopefully it 

24 won't take you very long -- just to read through the two 

25 pages of this declaration and tell me if there is anything 
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1 else in this declaration that you deem to be inaccurate 

2 and, if so, please tell us. 

3 

4 

{Pause to review document.} 

THE COURT: While she's doing that, the December 

5 '84 news article was in which volume -- December 17? 

6 

7 

8 

9 

MR. ALEXANDER: 7, your Honor. 

THE COURT: 7? 

MR. ALEXANDER: Fourth page in. 

THE WITNESS: These are not in my words. I would 

10 have written it differently. 

11 BY MR. ALEXANDER: 

12 Q Is the statement true? I understand as is often the 

13 case we've seen on both sides -- that somebody else 

14 writes it --

15 A 

16 Q 

I did not 

-- but is there something in here that's inaccurate 

17 that you'd like to now correct? 

18 A 

19 Q 

I did not keep track of telephone conversations. 

Okay. I was going to ask you about that. Fine. And 

20 you've mentioned that also. 

21 A Yes. Well - -

22 Q Now, and you had pretty regular conversations during 

23 this period of time with sheriff's detectives, did you not? 

24 A I would say frequent. 

25 Q Frequent. You would or would not? 
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1 A 

2 Q 

3 A 

4 Q 

I would. 

Okay. 

It wasn't an everyday thing or anything like that. 

Sure. Did you keep notes of any of those 

199 

5 conversations such you can recall? 

6 A I never kept notes on any telephone conversation to 

7 anybody. 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

You were running pretty fast during this case. 

Absolutely. 

How many people do you think you talked to during the 

11 course of a day? 

12 A Twenty-five, 30, 50 some days - - depending. 

13 Q In these 16-hour days that you spent. 

14 A (No audible response. ) 

15 Q You have to answer audibly. 

16 A Yes. 

17 Q Thank you. 

18 Now, having reviewed the declaration and except as you 

19 indicated, is there anything else in the declaration that 

20 isn't as you would put it or that isn't accurate? 

21 A Well, on -- the part about the work experience, I 

22 think it isn't inaccurate, but it gives a false impression. 

23 I retired in '91, went back to work again, and retired 

24 again in '99, so there was -- that's not exactly accurate. 

25 Q All right. Well, that's important, and the record 
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1 will reflect that your declaration has been corrected in 

2 that regard. And thank you for pointing that out. 

3 A I got a lot of -- in paragraph 4, I got a lot of 

200 

4 information from conversations and talking with people as 

5 well as newspapers and television. 

6 Q Okay. Anything else? I want you to be entirely 

7 comfortable with it. I'm not asking you to look for 

8 something. I just want to make sure you're comfortable 

9 with it. 

10 (Pause to review document.) 

I think it's okay. 11 A 

12 Q All right. Thank you very much. 

13 Ms. Carroll, when Mr. Pacifico called you on the 

14 telephone, what was his tone toward his speaking with you? 

I thought he was angry. 15 A 

16 Q Before -- at the beginning of the conversation or as 

17 it moved on? 

Throughout. 

Throughout? 

18 A 

19 Q 

20 A It was a totally different tone than the people I had 

21 talked to and worked with in the sheriff's office before. 

22 Q Was it an accusatory tone? 

23 A Yes. 

24 Q Did you say anything to him in the conversation that 

25 you recall - -
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1 A I think that's why I said, "Are you pissed off" - -

2 Q Uh-huh. 

3 A Because they acted - - to me, he acted angry. 

4 Q Did you say to him words or words to the effect, "Did 

5 I do something wrong?" 

6 A No, I said -- at some point I think I said I thought I 

7 always had a great relationship with the sheriff's office. 

8 I thought we were friends -- or something to that effect, I 

9 think, and it may have been in the second conversation when 

10 I called him back to give him some information, and the 

11 response was, "Well, we are friends, and we hope you still 

12 feel that way." 

13 Q 

14 A 

What did you say? 

I said, "Why are you guys being like this? I thought 

15 we were friends." And their response was, "Well, we still 

16 want to be your friends -- we still think we're friends," 

17 something to that effect. 

18 Q Now, I want to go back to the key conversation when 

19 you called the sheriff's office and left word that you 

20 thought some misinformation was being presented at the 

21 trial, and Ms. Wilkens asked why you remember that so well. 

22 Would you tell us once again -- the circumstances why 

23 you recall that conversation so keenly this many years 

24 after the fact? 

25 A I thought I was being helpful. I thought I was giving 
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them information they should have, and I was surprised at 

the reaction. 

Q And you got no response from them from then on out. 

A No, I didn't. 

Q And to you, you'd passed the information on to the 

people who needed it -- the information didn't relate to 

your responsibilities, correct? 

A Absolutely. I had no responsibility for doing an 

investigation for the trial. 

10 Q And nothing you've heard from Mr. Deninger or your 

11 husband or Ms. Stevens has changed your recollection of 

12 

13 

that conversation, correct? 

A No. 

What I said is correct. 

That nothing has --

14 Q 

15 A 

16 Q Nothing has changed your recollection on that 

17 conversation 

18 A Correct. 

19 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you very much. I have no 

20 further questions. 

21 THE COURT: Okay. We have the notebook here. Is 

22 that right? 

23 MR. ALEXANDER: I believe we do. 

24 THE COURT: All right. We'll take the afternoon 

25 recess till 3:00, and you can look through it, and I'd also 
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like you to get the specific date of the article, "Shoe 

Prints Appear to be Same .Kind" 

Court the date that that 

if you could give the 

203 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

MR. ALEXANDER: We'll look at it carefully right 

10 

11 

now, and if not, we'll hunt it down. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you, your Honor. 

(Proceedings recessed briefly.) 

MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, I would offer into 

evidence Exhibits 11 through 14 of Petitioner's that I 

believe Ms. Carroll authenticated. 

12 THE COURT: Is there any objection? I think 

13 there's some issues on relevance. 

14 MS. WILKENS: Yeah, it would just be relevance. 

15 I think they've been authenticated. I just 

16 THE COURT: Is there any objection? 

17 MS. WILKENS: No, your Honor. 

18 THE COURT: All right. They're received. 

19 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you, your Honor. Oh, and 

20 Ms. Carroll's declaration -- we would offer that into 

21 evidence also. That was identified by the --

22 THE COURT: The declaration is not -- the 

23 declaration doesn't come in. It's not evidence. 

24 MR. ALEXANDER: It's part of the record, I guess, 

25 already 
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THE COURT: Pardon me? 1 

2 

3 

MR. ALEXANDER: It's part of the record already. 

THE COURT: I know, but it doesn't really come in 

4 unless there's no objection. 

5 MS. WILKENS: I don't believe it should come in, 

6 your Honor. It's been identified. It's in the record for 

7 reference. 

8 MR. ALEXANDER: All right. Very well. 

9 THE COURT: Do you wish to question the witness? 

10 MS. WILKENS: Yes, just very briefly. 

11 THE COURT: All right, thank you. We'll have you 

12 come back. 

13 THE COURT: Were you able to track down the date? 

14 MR. ALEXANDER: Oh, thank you, your Honor. The 

15 answer to your question is (indiscernible), and that's 

16 based on a poll of --

17 THE COURT: Handwriting--

18 MR. ALEXANDER: -- people out in the hall, 

19 guards, security guards -- and -- but we're going to pin it 

20 down. We believe it is either December the 12th or 

21 December the 24th of 1984. That seems to be the consensus. 

22 THE COURT: Can you actually check the 

23 MR. ALEXANDER: I think we can. I think we can 

24 go back that far --

25 THE COURT: Thank you. 
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MR. ALEXANDER: -- and we will certainly do that 

2 and provide that documentation to you. 

3 

4 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

5 RECROSS EXAMINATION 

6 BY MS. WILKENS: 

7 Q Now, Mrs. Carroll, I've reviewed the materials inside 

8 your box which consist of loose documents and one of the 

9 green notebooks, and if you would -- I noticed that your 

10 green notebook appears to be the same as notebook 4, 

11 including the tabs. And I wondered if you agree with me 

12 about that. 

13 A Well, when I just briefly went through this, it was 

14 not in chronological order anymore. Did you go all the way 

15 through it? 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 Q 

I did. 

Because 

I just turned the pages one after another, and I don't 

19 know if it's in chronological order or not. I can't say 

20 that it's been maintained. It's just the same as notebook 

21 4. That's how I got through it so fast. 

22 (Pause to review document.) 

23 A The first pages are exactly the same. 

24 Q Right. Okay. And your recollection is there were 

25 three or four of those green notebooks? 
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1 A Yes. 

2 Q Okay. And that's the only one you've located to date. 

3 A Yes. 

4 Q Okay. And the box that you brought with you 

5 today - - is this the same box that you made available to 

6 Mr. 

7 A 

8 Q 

Engles? 

Yes. 

And was it full when you gave it to Mr. Engles, or was 

9 it about the same? 

10 A I think it might have had more in it, but I'm not sure 

11 that he took them because, as I said, I told my husband 

12 when we started packing up to move I didn't think we needed 

13 this stuff anymore, so some things were thrown out. 

14 Q Okay. So it's possible you've removed stuff from the 

15 box since you made it available to Mr. Engles? 

16 A 

17 Q 

Right. 

Is the box that you brought in today -- is that the 

18 same materials you made available to Mr. Alexander? 

19 A 

20 Q 

Correct. 

Okay. Now, I've pulled out one memo from the loose 

21 papers, and it's up on the witness stand, and I wondered if 

22 you'd take a look at it --

23 A 

24 Q 

This one? 

Yes. And I wondered if you'd take a look at it and if 

25 it would refresh your recollection about the events of the 
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1 day of the escape and when you learned of Mr. Cooper's 

2 background and the detainers. 

3 MR. ALEXANDER: Might I look at the document, 

4 your Honor? 

5 THE COURT: You may. 

207 

6 MR. ALEXANDER: May I approach the bench -- the 

7 witness to do so? 

8 THE COURT: Sure. 

9 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you, your Honor. 

10 THE WITNESS: I'm not all the way through, but I 

11 remember the report. 

12 BY MS. WILKENS: 

13 Q Okay, does that refresh your recollection at all about 

14 when CIM became aware of the detainer --

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 A 

20 Q 

Yeah, it's the same day we pulled the central file. 

Okay. And what day would that be? 

June 2nd. 

June 2nd, and what date did Mr. Cooper escape? 

That's the day. 

Okay. So you were mistaken in your recollection that 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

it was a week later? 

A I didn't say a week later. I said -- I think I said I 

wasn't sure, but I thought it was the following Monday or 

the first of the week. 

Q Okay. 
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1 A 

2 Q 

Because he left on a Thursday, I believe. 

All right. But your recollection was that it was a 

few days later 

A Yeah. 

208 

3 

4 

5 Q -- than the day of escape. And you've now refreshed 

6 your recollection. Your recollection was incorrect. 

7 A Correct. 

8 MS. WILKENS: Thank you. Your Honor, I have no 

9 further questions. 

THE COURT: Anything further? 10 

11 MR. ALEXANDER: I'm sorry, your Honor. No, no 

12 further questions. 

13 THE COURT: On the document -- CDC 1408 which was 

14 shown to the witness previously -- it's from notebook 6, 

15 can I just have one of you ask or I could ask if you know 

16 whose handwriting this is? 

17 THE WITNESS: It's not mine and it's not Regina 

18 Stevens'. 

THE COURT: Teresa Cordua? 19 

20 THE WITNESS: It might be. I'm not familiar with 

21 the handwriting. 

22 THE COURT: All right, thank you. Who was the 

23 other person that was in your --

24 

25 

THE WITNESS: Oh, Bales? 

THE COURT: Bales. 
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1 THE WITNESS: That, I couldn't attest to. I 

2 don't know if it could have been his or not. 

3 

4 know? 

5 

6 

7 

THE COURT: Could it have been, or you don't 

THE WITNESS: I don't know. 

THE COURT: All right. Anything else? 

MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, on that point, that 

8 handwriting to me resembles the handwriting 

9 THE COURT: Are you a witness? 

10 MR. ALEXANDER: No, I'm not, but that - - to 

11 assist you it's a document we did mark, so - - I'll get 

12 the volume 

13 THE COURT: So 

14 MR. ALEXANDER: The handwriting looks identical 

15 to the handwriting of Ms. Cordua that you mentioned. 

16 

17 

THE COURT: Cordua. 

MR. ALEXANDER: That's on the page before the 

18 conversation she had with Mr. Forbish. 

19 

20 

21 

22 witness? 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

MR. ALEXANDER: You're welcome, your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right. Anything else for this 

MS. WILKENS: No, your Honor. 

THE COURT: All right, you may step down. 

THE WITNESS: Do I take my papers back, or do I 
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1 leave them with the Court? 

2 THE COURT: Oh -- as to her notebook, is it 

3 permissible for her to take it home? 

4 

5 

MS. WILKENS: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: You may take it. Thank you. 

6 Next we have our Q person or investigator. 

7 MS. WILKENS: Your Honor, we'd like to call 

8 Lieutenant Smith because he has the longest drive. 

9 THE COURT: Thank you. 
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10 MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, with apologies to the 

11 Court, may I be excused until tomorrow? 

12 THE COURT: You may. 

13 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

14 THE COURT: Have a nice evening. 

15 MR. ALEXANDER: Well--

16 THE COURT: And congratulations. 

17 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

18 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand, please. 

19 DONALD SMITH, RESPONDENT'S WITNESS, SWORN 

20 THE CLERK: Please state your name and spell your 

21 first and last name for the record. 

22 THE WITNESS: Donald smith, D-O-N-A-L-D, 

23 S-M-I-T-H. 

24 MS. WILKENS: Thank you, Mr. Smith. 

25 II 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

1 leave them with the Court? 

2 THE COURT: Oh -- as to her notebook, is it 

3 permissible for her to take it horne? 

4 

5 

MS. WILKENS: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: You may take it. Thank you. 

6 Next we have our Q person or investigator. 

7 MS. WILKENS: Your Honor, we'd like to call 

8 Lieutenant Smith because he has the longest drive. 

9 THE COURT: Thank you. 

210 

10 MR. ALEXANDER: Your Honor, with apologies to the 

11 Court, may I be excused until tomorrow? 

12 THE COURT: You may. 

13 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

14 THE COURT: Have a nice evening. 

15 MR. ALEXANDER: Well--

16 THE COURT: And congratulations. 

17 MR. ALEXANDER: Thank you. 

18 THE CLERK: Raise your right hand, please. 

19 DONALD SMITH, RESPONDENT'S WITNESS, SWORN 

20 THE CLERK: Please state your name and spell your 

21 first and last name for the record. 

22 THE WITNESS: Donald smith, D-O-N-A-L-D, 

23 S-M-I-T-H. 

24 MS. WILKENS: Thank you, Mr. Smith. 

25 II 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



1 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

2 BY MS. WILKENS: 

3 Q Were you a correctional officer in charge of the 

4 Office of Investigative Services at the California 

5 Institute for Men in Chino at the time of Kevin Cooper's 

6 escape? 

Yes, I was a correctional lieutenant, actually. 

211 

7 A 

8 Q And you were in charge of the Office of Investigative 

9 Services? 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q 

Yes, I was. 

And did you answer directly to the warden of CIM? 

Yes. 

And were you selected by the warden of CIM for that 

14 position? 

15 A Yes. 

16 Q And did you serve at the pleasure of the warden? 

17 A Yes. 

18 Q Did your duties include assisting the San Bernardino 

19 sheriff's office detectives in their investigation of the 

20 escape by Kevin Cooper? 

21 A 

22 Q 

Yes, I did. 

And did you also assist the detectives from San 

23 Bernardino sheriff's office in their investigation of the 

24 Ryen/Hughes murders? 

25 A Yes. 
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1 Q 

212 

And did you keep a record of all of your contacts with 

2 the detectives from San Bernardino sheriff's office? 

3 A 

4 Q 

No. 

Did you report all contacts with San Bernardino 

5 sheriff's office detectives to the warden? 

6 A 

7 Q 

No. 

In the course of your duties at CIM, did you obtain 

8 contracts between CIM and the Stride-Rite Keds Corporation 

9 for the purchase of tennis shoes? 

10 A Yes, I did. 

11 Q And why did you obtain those records? 

12 A They were requested by the sheriff's department. 

13 Q And did you provide those records for law enforcement? 

14 A Yes, I did. 

15 Q Do you have any recollection of Warden Carroll asking 

16 you about the tennis shoes at the prison? 

No, ma'am. 17 A 

18 Q Were you ever asked to investigate the source of the 

19 shoes at the prison? 

No. 20 A 

21 Q When you received information requests from San 

22 Bernardino sheriff's office detectives, they would simply 

23 ask for something and then you would facilitate that 

24 request; is that correct? 

25 A That is correct. 
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1 Q 

213 

Did the sheriff's detectives request information from 

you relating to tennis shoes? 2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

A Only that they wanted a copy of the purchase order or 

contracts. 

Q Now, were your instructions from Warden Carroll to 

cooperate fully with San Bernardino sheriff's office? 

7 A 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

11 task? 

12 A 

Yes. 

And were you allocated resources to do that? 

No. 

Did you have particular officers assigned to that 

I designated one or two of my officers to assist. 

13 assisted whenever I could. 

14 Q So it's pretty typical government where it was a 

15 priority, but you weren't given extra resources to meet 

16 that priority? 

17 A It was a top priority, but no, we did not get any 

resources. 

Q Okay. We're familiar with that concept. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

Now, you testified, I believe, three times in the 

trial of Kevin Cooper; is that correct? 

A Yes. 

23 Q 

24 A 

And you testified at a motion hearing? 

I can't quite recall the motion hearing. 

25 prelim and two times in court. 

It was a 

I 
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Okay. 1 Q 

2 A 

3 Q 

There may have been a motion hearing. I'm not sure. 

Okay. And do you know if you were called by the 

4 defense or the prosecution? 

5 A I was called by the prosecution for the prelim and the 

6 first time at trial. I was called by the defense the 

7 second time at trial. 

8 Q And when you testified in the Cooper proceedings, did 

9 you testify to the best of your ability? 

Yes. 

And did you testify truthfully? 

Yes, I did. 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 MS. WILKENS: I have no further questions, your 

14 Honor. 

15 THE COURT: Thank you. 

16 (Pause.) 

17 CROSS EXAMINATION 

18 BY MR. HILE: 

19 Q Good afternoon, Mr. Smith. 

20 A Good afternoon, sir. 

21 Q My name is Norman Hile. We haven't met before, have 

22 we, sir? 

23 A No, we haven't. 

24 Q I just have a few questions for you. Let me 

25 ask you said that you were involved in the people at CIM 
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1 who were on the investigation team. Who else was on that 

2 team in 1983? 

3 A I had three officers assigned: Zeke Hernandez, Teresa 

4 Cordua, and Gary Mert (phonetic). 

5 

6 

Q And generally what was the job of that team? 

type of investigations did you do? 

What 

7 A We conducted any and all investigations of crimes that 

8 occurred on the prison grounds. We also did some internal 

9 affairs work. 

10 Q And if there was an escape, would that be considered 

11 something that you would investigate? 

12 A Absolutely. 

13 Q If there was an escape, would the sheriff's office for 

14 the county investigate that? 

15 A No. We were situated in the city of Chino, and the 

16 city police assisted us. If more resources were requested, 

17 we could get them from the sheriff's department. 

18 Q But as a general rule, the escape would not be 

19 investigated by the San Bernardino sheriff's department, 

20 correct? 

21 A 

22 Q 

23 A 

24 Q 

No. 

That's a correct statement? 

That is a correct statement. 

Now, you testified a minute ago when Ms. Wilkens was 

25 asking you questions that you were part of the team that 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

assisted the San Bernardino sheriffts department in the 

investigation of the murders of the Ryen family; is that 

correct? 

216 

A We assisted them with whatever information the prison 

could give them t but we did not get involved in the actual 

investigation -- crime scene or anything like that. 

Q All right. And the people who worked on assisting the 

sherifft s department in investigating that crime besides 

yourself were who? 

10 A 

11 Q 

Zeke Hernandez t Teresa Cordua and Gary Mert. 

Now t you were here in the courtroom t were you not t 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

when Midge Carroll testified? 

A For most of itt yes. 

Q And you heard her say that she asked a different group 

other than your investigation team to look into the 

question of whether or not the tennis shoes that were in 

question here were prison-issued or manufactured there or 

where they came from. Did you hear that testimony? 

A Yes t I did. 

Q And so you were not involved -- at all in 

21 investigating that fact on the wardents behalf t were you t 

22 sir? 

23 A NOt sir. 

24 Q So you didntt yourself undertake any investigation of 

25 that t sir t did you? 
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1 A 

2 Q 

No, I didn't. 

My understanding of your testimony at some of the 

3 previous hearings at the time of the Kevin Cooper 

217 

4 prosecution is that you were involved in providing tennis 

5 shoes to the sheriff's department for their investigation 

6 of the crimes that led to the deaths of the Ryens; is that 

7 

8 

correct? 

A I don't believe I supplied tennis shoes. I did supply 

9 some hard-sole shoes. 

10 Q Okay. Did any member of the team to your 

11 knowledge -- the team that is under your investigative 

12 staff -- provide the tennis shoes to the San Bernardino 

13 County sheriff's department? 

14 A 

15 Q 

I can't recall. 

To the best of your knowledge, is Midge Carroll's 

16 testimony accurate that the elM facility did not 

17 manufacture tennis shoes? 

18 A 

19 Q 

She is correct. They do not manufacture shoes at all. 

Are you aware of any prison-manufactured tennis shoes 

20 

21 

in California? 

A No, I'm not. 

22 Q How about the brogans? Was her testimony correct that 

23 those were manufactured by the prison system? 

24 A 

25 Q 

Yes, Prison Industries does manufacture some of those. 

In your testimony previously in the Kevin Cooper 
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1 previously, you testified about a facility at CIM called 

2 Palm Hall. Can you tell the Court what Palm Hall was back 

3 in 1983? 

4 A It was a security housing unit. 

5 Q And what type of prisoners were housed there? 

6 A Generally speaking, gang members and some protective-

7 custody people. 

8 Q And if it was an inmate who was not assigned to Palm 

9 Hall, would the inmate be allowed to go into that facility? 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A 

13 Q 

Never. 

Why not? 

It was too secure. 

So when were you here this morning when Mr. Taylor 

14 testified? 

15 A 

16 Q 

Yeah, I believe I was here. 

You heard what Mr. Taylor said about his assignment 

17 beginning in May of 1983 where he was issuing shoes? 

18 A 

19 Q 

Yes. 

And he would not be issuing shoes from Palm Hall, 

20 would he, sir? 

21 A No. 

22 Q Have you ever read the testimony of Detective Mason at 

23 the Cooper trial? 

24 A No, I haven't. 

25 Q Are you aware that there was testimony that he gave 
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2 

tennis shoes to Mr. Cooper out of Palm Hall? 

A I never read that. 
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3 Q You also heard Midge Carroll testify that there were 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

no formal prison basketball teams for intramural basketball 

tournaments. Is that your testimony as well? 

A There were never any organized teams sanctioned by the 

institution. 

Q Mr. Smith, did you meet with Ms. Wilkens before your 

testimony here today? 

No. 10 A 

11 Q Did you meet with anybody else from the Attorney 

12 General's office? 

No. 13 A 

14 Q Did you talk to anybody about what your testimony 

15 would be before you came here today? 

16 A I talked with Mr. Kochis. 

Okay. When did you do that? 17 Q 

18 A Oh, it must have been a month and a half ago when he 

19 found me. 

20 Q 

21 A 

Okay. And what did he tell you he was looking for? 

He said they just wanted to go over the testimony 

22 about my -- the tennis shoes. 

23 Q And what did he tell you the testimony that he wanted 

24 to go over was? 

25 A He didn't tell me. He just -- I asked him what they 
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1 wanted, and he just said it's about the tennis shoes. 

2 Q Did you have any other conversations with him after 

3 that one? 

4 A I had one with him yesterday only to tell me that the 

5 time was moved up, I think, the 9:00 from 10:30. 

6 (Pause.) 

7 Q I'm going to ask you now just one or two more 

8 questions about your contacts with the sheriff's office in 

9 San Bernardino County back in 1983 after Mr. Cooper 

10 escaped. 

11 As best you can recall, who are the people at the 

12 sheriff's office that you dealt with in San Bernardino 

13 County? 

14 A Mostly, it was Sergeant Arthur -- Billy Arthur. He 

15 was in charge of the unit. 

16 Q All right. Do you know what his position was at that 

17 time? 

18 A Sergeant - - on-site sergeant. 

19 Q Was he considered the lead investigator? 

20 A Yes. 

21 Q And is Billy his actual name, or is that a - -

22 A I don't know. We just called him Billy. 

23 Q Okay. Was there anyone else that you communicated 

24 with at the San Bernardino County sheriff's office with 

25 respect to the investigation of Mr. Cooper's --
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1 A There were a couple other detectives in and out. I 

2 don't recall their names. Dana, I think, was one of them. 

3 Q Was Dana a first name or a last name? 

4 A A last name, I think. 

5 Q Anyone else? 

6 A I can't recall any other names. 

7 Q Now, finally, you testified that you didn't keep 

8 records yourself personally of any of the contacts that you 

9 had with the sheriff's office during this time. I want to 

10 ask you a couple questions about that. 

11 As a general rule, if you were dealing with a law 

i2 enforcement agency outside CIM, would you keep records of 

13 your phone conversations with him? 

14 A 

15 Q 

No. 

Were you ever directed by anybody at the prison that 

16 you should be doing that? 

17 A 

18 Q 

No. 

Was there any type ofa form that would have prompted 

19 you to do so? 

20 A No. 

21 

22 

(Pause. ) 

MR. HILE: Thank you. I have no more questions, 

23 your Honor. 

24 

25 

MS. WILKENS: Nothing further, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Could somebody -- do you know whether 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

221 

1 A There were a couple other detectives in and out. I 

2 don't recall their names. Dana, I think, was one of them. 

3 Q Was Dana a first name or a last name? 

4 A A last name, I think. 

5 Q Anyone else? 

6 A I can't recall any other names. 

7 Q Now, finally, you testified that you didn't keep 

8 records yourself personally of any of the contacts that you 

9 had with the sheriff's office during this time. I want to 

10 ask you a couple questions about that. 

11 As a general rule, if you were dealing with a law 

i2 enforcement agency outside CIM, would you keep records of 

13 your phone conversations with him? 

14 A 

15 Q 

No. 

Were you ever directed by anybody at the prison that 

16 you should be doing that? 

17 A 

18 Q 

No. 

Was there any type ofa form that would have prompted 

19 you to do so? 

20 A No. 

21 

22 

(Pause. ) 

MR. HILE: Thank you. I have no more questions, 

23 your Honor. 

24 

25 

MS. WILKENS: Nothing further, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Could somebody -- do you know whether 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



222 

1 they had basketball -- did they play basketball? 

2 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

THE COURT: And do they organize their own teams? 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

THE COURT: And that goes on a lot? 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

THE COURT: All right, thank you. You may step 

8 down, and is this witness free to go? 

9 MR. HILE: Yes, your Honor. 

10 

11 

12 next. 

13 

14 

THE COURT: All right, thank you. 

MS. WILKENS: Yes, your Honor. Mr. Luck would be 

THE CLERK: Raise your right hand, please. 

DON LUCK, RESPONDENT'S WITNESS, SWORN 

15 THE CLERK: please state your name and spell your 

16 first and last name for the record. 

17 THE WITNESS: First name, Don, middle initial P, 

18 Luck, L-U-C-K. 

19 MS. WILKENS: Thank you, your Honor. 

20 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

21 BY MS. WILKENS: 

22 Q Mr. Luck, could you briefly indicate any experience 

23 you have with selling and managing Keds shoes? 

24 A 

25 Q 

Can you restate that? 

Yes, could you briefly indicate for the Court, you 
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1 know, any experience that you may have managing and selling 

2 Keds shoes? 

3 A Totally -- for 41-plus years. I began in Los 

4 Angeles -- how far do you want me to go? 

5 Q Well, if you could just cover the key positions over 

6 that 42 years. 

7 A Okay. Sales rep, assistant sales manager, manager, 

8 regional manager, national accounts manager, product 

9 manager, Pro Keds, which included Pro Keds -- national 

10 accounts -- again manager, but I wore a lot of hats. I did 

11 governmental -- along with the major accounts, I had 

12 developed some government business, and I did that, too, 

13 both in Washington, D.C. and nationwide. 

14 Q In your early years, you were employed by Uniroyal-

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

Kedsi is that correct? 

A Correct. It was U.S. Rubber which became Uniroyal 

along the way, and I don't think that's important, but same 

company, same people, same financial. 

Q Now, when the Stride-Rite Corporation purchased the 

Keds shoe brand, did you go from Uniroyal to Stride-Rite at 

that time? 

A Correct. 

23 Q 

24 A 

25 Q 

So you went with the brand. 

I went with the brand. 

Okay. And at the time of the Cooper trial, were you 
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1 familiar that the Stride-Rite Corporation had been 

2 contacted to provide assistance with respect to the Pro Ked 

3 Dude shoes? 

4 A You know, I made a comment which I'll stick with 

5 because it's correct, and that is I think somewhere in that 

6 department -- the sheriff's department probably, if they 

7 keep records, Don Luck is in there. I had indicated that 

8 to one of the principals in Stride-Rite. 

9 I then, as corporations work, I had my hands full, and 

10 we eventually passed it down to Mr. Newberry for a trip to 

11 California. He certainly had the experience and the 

12 ability to talk about Pro Keds and Keds as he was a 

13 merchandise manager, and the decision was made to send Mike 

14 Newberry who was recorded in the earlier trial. 

15 Q Now, have you had an opportunity to review Mr. 

16 Newberry's trial testimony? 

17 A 

18 Q 

Totally. 

And did you find that testimony to be consistent with 

19 your knowledge of Stride-Rite Corporation's sales? 

20 A Yes. 

21 Q Now, the hats that you wore - - the various hats that 

22 you wore at Stride-Rite, did that put you in a position to 

23 be aware of all of the major sales of Keds shoes? 

24 A In my describing what I did, I also handled the Sears 

25 in Chicago, the JC Penneys, the military exchanges, all of 
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them, counting the Navy and the Army, Air Force, Coast 

Guard, whatever else. 

225 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

Q So you -- you were personally responsible in the 1980s 

for these large accounts? 

A Pardon me? Repeat. 

Q You were personally responsible for these large 

accounts in the --

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 Q 

Yes. 

-- 1980s? 

Yes. 

And so you would have personal knowledge whether or 

12 

13 

14 

15 

not Keds shoes were sold to Sears Roebuck in the 1980s? 

A Correct. 

Q And 

Were any 

and what -- what is the situation with Sears? 

were any Keds shoes being sold to Sears? 

16 A A lesson in marketing, I guess. Sears, in those days, 

17 was really not a brand -- when we talk about the period of 

18 the -- '83, '84, '82, '81, '80, whatever period you want to 

19 pick, they had not carried Keds. 

20 The confusion later could come because there were some 

21 Keds that were sold -- but women's Champion Oxfords. Pro 

22 Keds were very weak outside of the five boroughs of New 

23 York, a splash into Georgia, Atlanta, some into Boston. 

24 From a marketing standpoint, that's what I was dealing 

25 with. I had come off the West Coast and I knew that we 
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1 were weak in that area. That was never our forte. 

2 Q Now, the Pro Ked -- Pro Keds Dude tennis shoe is but 

3 one type of Pro Ked canvas basketball shoe; is that 

4 correct? 

5 A 

6 Q 

No. 

Okay 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

A Pro Keds could be anything from a -- we tried running 

shoes. We tried -- of course, basketball we had -- we 

had -- I don't like to confuse things, but in the Pro Keds 

we had three shoes, a Super, a Royal and the Dude, the Dude 

being the bottom of the three upper-line shoes. At an 

earlier time we had some other shoes, but we -- I don't 

think -- and those were called Keds, but I think we can 

forget about that. 

Q Now, being the most inexpensive of the shoes, was the 

Pro Ked Dude sold to institutions? 

17 A Yes, nationwide. 

18 Q And was it, in fact, Stride-Rite's institutional bid 

19 shoe? 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT: Stride-Rite -- I didn't hear that. 

BY MS. WILKENS: 

Q Was it the Stride-Rite Corporation's institutional bid 

shoe? 

THE COURT: Bid? 

MS. WILKENS: Bid. 
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2 

THE COURT: B-I-D? 

MS. WILKENS: Yes. 

227 

3 THE WITNESS: I -- let me frame the whole thing a 

4 little bit. I represented -- Stride-Rite didn't care what 

5 I did. If I could explain that, I reported to the 

6 president, a gentleman by the name of Miles Slossberg 

7 (phonetic) and Arnold Hyatt (phonetic), who was CEO. Don 

8 Luck did pretty much what he did. 

9 I ran Canada pretty much like Don Luck wanted to. 

10 It isn't like Stride-Rite corning down and saying, "Can't we 

11 do governmental business?" I did the government business. 

12 I was the one who built that area up to be a pretty good 

13 area. I used various shoes. 

14 For San Diego, as an example, I -- not that you 

15 care, but in San Diego I made it a bright orange boat shoe, 

16 the idea being you could spot a prisoner a mile 

17 away -- with international orange, if anybody is a sailor. 

18 So I did that kind of business. Stride-Rite did not 

19 orchestrate it at all. Keds did not orchestrate it at all. 

20 Don Luck orchestrated it. 

21 BY MS. WILKENS: 

22 Q So did you use the Pro Ked Dude basketball shoe as a 

23 bid shoe when you would go out to various institutions? 

24 A Yes, I took that shoe because Converse, in those days, 

25 had the loose line, sock lining, people call it various 
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228 

It's an inner-lined shoe. They had basically the 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

inner cities, except for the New York area and Boston to a 

small degree and Atlanta. West Coast, we were extremely 

weak. Converse, in a business vernacular, ate our lunch. 

We didn't really care. That was not a part of the 

marketing that we cared about. I didn't even advertise in 

7 the areas that had shoes I mean, would buy those kinds 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

of shoes, meaning in the LA Times, if you bought -- and I'm 

being very candid to you, that market was so small that, in 

the LA Times, I bought areas that were white. 

I stayed away from east LA, central LA, south central 

LA as far as Times advertising for the reason that I had 

decided at some point when I was a sales 

manager regional manager out here, that wasn't business 

I cared about. 

Q Now, you're talking about Pro Keds overall? 

A I'm talking Pro Keds period. 

18 Q 

19 A 

Okay. 

We had a very good boat shoe business and that kind of 

20 business, but 

Now, Mr. 

that's something else. 

21 Q 

22 A 

23 Q Mr. Luck, inviting your attention to the notebook 

24 in front of you, which is notebook 1, and asking you to 

25 turn to Exhibit CC. 
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1 A 

2 Q 

229 

Which do you want me to look at? 

The first exhibit. Itrs a color photograph of shoes. 

3 Directing your attention to the second and third photograph 

4 on that pager the one in the middle on the bottom. 

5 A Uh-huh. 

6 Q Do you recognize those shoes? 

7 A Oh r yeah. 

8 Q And what are theYr sir? 

9 A The second or third part of your question was what? 

10 Q Can you tell me what those shoes are in the 

11 photograph? Do you recognize them? 
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13 Dude. 
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15 the Stride-Rite Corporation records that were admitted into 
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I can only furnish you what you furnished me. 
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I didnrt -- I didnrt bring them down. 

NOr Irm not asking if you brought them r sir. 

Oh. 

Did I give them to you? 
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Did I give you copies of contracts? 

You certainly did r everything r and a lot of them had 
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2 

my name. 

Q And did you have a chance to look through them? 

230 

3 A 

4 Q 

Yes, I did. 

Okay. Inviting your attention to the papers in the 

5 

6 

7 

8 

notebook, could you just flip through those and see if 

those are the contracts that you've reviewed previously. 

A As a matter of fact, the first one has my name up on 

the top. 

9 Q Mr. Luck, in in looking at the exhibits in notebook 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

1, do you recognize those to be corporate records of the 

Stride-Rite Company? 

A Absolutely. 

Q And did Mr. Newberry come to your office collecting 

records before 

15 A 

16 Q 

17 A 

Correct. 

-- his testimony? 

Correct. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

Q And -- and, sir, do you have personal knowledge based 

on your position at Stride-Rite -- do you have personal 

knowledge that the Pro Ked Dude tennis shoe was not sold 

at -- sold by the Stride-Rite Corporation to Sears Roebuck 

or other major retailers? 

A Or Athlete's Foot or JCP -- JC Penney or a May Company 

24 or a Broadway, at the time, or a Bullocks. Who else can we 

25 pick? Robinsons. 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

THE COURT: It was not? 

THE WITNESS: It was not. 

THE COURT: During what time frame? 

THE WITNESS: The shoe would have 

231 

been -- it's -- it would be very difficult and unfair for 

me to say that there wasn't a Dude somewhere, someplace in 

a retail store, but knowing the area as well as I know and 

having been a manager in this area and knowing -- and 

knowing the salesmen, for the most part, that worked for 

me, that after I went east, were here, I can say almost 

with 100-percent certainty there were not Dudes or Royal 

basketball shoes, which would have different sales 

anyway -- Dudes being sold in this area. 

BY MS. WILKENS: 

Q And you can -- you can unequivocally state from 

personal knowledge that 

A Absolutely. 

Q -- there were 

19 A Because I was responsible for JC Penney New York and 

20 

21 

22 

23 

later on in Texas -- well, during that period, New York and 

I was responsible for Sears in Chicago. I was 

responsible -- I knew what was going on in -- even in 

Nordstrom. I knew what was going on in the May Company, 

24 because I called on their main office in New York. I knew 

25 what was going on in all major accounts. 
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1 Q All right, so you can -- you can state here today 

2 unequivocally that in the 1980s there were no Pro Ked Dudes 

3 sold to chain stores and defining a chain store as a store 

4 with more than one location? 

5 A 

6 Q 

Not -- yes, I -- I could say that. I could say that. 

Okay, and you know that because of your position in 

7 the company and the sales records that you reviewed? 

8 A But saying one to two having two stores, that's 

9 pretty small, but any kind of -- anybody that's big enough 

10 to put a blip on the screen, I would know what was going 

lIon. When you talk about two, that's getting down pretty 

12 narrow. 

13 Q So there might have been a small retailer with two 

14 locations and you wouldn't be personally privy to what was 

15 being sold? 

No, nor would I care. I had -- I had a big job. 16 A 

17 Q Now, the Stride-Rite Corporation, however, would have 

18 records of all sales, even those made by 

19 A That's correct, and Mike would have after -- Mike 

20 Newberry - - I'm calling him Mike. I know it's not his real 

21 name it's not his given name. Mike, at that 

22 time when he came to me, ... Mike was a very thorough, 

23 paper-type guy, like a - - like a gumshoe, almost, you know. 

24 He would go into the files, and Mike would then when I 

25 would leave open the door I just said by saying I can't 
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1 absolutely be sure, Mike would have then called the sales 

2 manager in those days out here and said, "Do you know of 

3 any? Don feels this." 

4 Q Now, you mentioned 

5 A And that would have happened -- yes, we are privy to 

6 all the records. My honest feeling would be that Mike, at 

7 the time, knowingly would have checked exactly that. 

8 Q Now, when you refer to Mike Newberry, his true name is 

9 Dewey? 

10 A 

11 Q 

Was the witness for Stride-Rite back in '83. 

And that's Dewey Newberry -- Dewey Michael Newberry? 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

And you know him as Mike Newberry? 

A Yeah, because nobody likes -- what is it, Dewey? 

Q Dewey. 

A His real name? I can understand why he had Mike all 

the years I knew Mike. 

Q And you felt that Mr. Newberry was well qualified to 

represent Stride-Rite in the Cooper trial? 

19 A Yes, in that area very much so, because he would also 

20 do what perhaps I wouldn't -- I would make a statement as 

21 I'm making now because of a different personality. Mike 

22 would then check with Richmond, Indiana where all of our 

23 records were and say to Wayne Luken (phonetic) at the time, 

24 "Wayne, do you know of any stores we're selling in that 

25 area?" and 
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1 MS. HAWKINS: Objection, your Honor, lack of 

2 foundation. 

3 THE WITNESS: Pardon me. 

4 MS. HAWKINS: There's no evidence that he knows. 

5 THE COURT: Overruled. 

6 MS. WILKENS: Thank you, Mr. Luck. No further 

7 questions, your Honor. 

8 THE COURT: Thank you. Maybe we should mark 

9 Exhibit DD for this proceeding and EE and CC. CC we 

10 already have. Are you moving in all of the notebooks at 

11 some point or not? 

12 MS. WILKENS: I would move in C through -- I was 

13 going to move in notebook I, which is Exhibit CC through 

14 JJ, which consists of the photograph of the shoes, as well 

15 as the corporate records from Stride-Rite. 

16 

17 

THE COURT: All right, those are received. 

MS. WILKENS: Thank you, your Honor. 

18 MR. HILE: Yes, Ann Hawkins will do the cross 

19 examination, ma'am. 

CROSS EXAMINATION 

BY MS. HAWKINS: 

Q Good afternoon, Mr. Luck. 

A Good afternoon to you. 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Q My name is Ann Hawkins. I'm one of the attorneys for 

Mr. Cooper in this matter. 
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1 A 

2 

Can you raise your voice 

THE COURT: Keep your voice up. We're in a 

3 really loud court. So the -- when you're up here, the 

4 sound kind of dies. 

5 BY MS. HAWKINS: 

6 Q Can you tell me what year the Pro Keds Dude tennis 

7 shoe was first manufactured? 

235 

8 A Sometime probably around -- I'm going I'm having to 

9 throw out a little bit, but 1970, maybe early '70. 

10 Q And in terms of the Pro Keds lines, the Dude tennis 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

shoe was the least expensive 

that correct? 

A Did I what? 

Q The Pro Keds Dude tennis 

different lines, that was the 

basketball shoe? 

The -- the Dude? 

Yes. 

canvas basketball shoe; is 

shoe, of all the Pro Keds 

least expensive canvas 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 A The Dude was the least Pro Ked cost basketball shoe, 

20 correct. 

21 Q And in your opinion, was the Dude tennis shoe of 

22 favorable wear factor? 

23 A I felt the Dude was -- the Dude was a fairly priced 

24 shoe and would offer an institution something and not have 

25 to go into the loose-lined shoe, which would be another 
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1 buck and a half or so higher. I discounted the shoe 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

basically ten percent. In other words, I took the 

wholesale price and arrived at a price so the prices you 

see in this book represent prices that I set up along the 

way. 

Q And wouldn't you say that a low price was one of the 

characteristics that made this shoe a favorable shoe for 

institutions to purchase? 

A Yeah. Yeah, I -- it certainly was the main 

ingredient; however, the shoe offered enough quality as far 

as the sole wearing that it -- it wasn't cheating somebody. 

It just didn't offer them the sock. Wearing the loose

lined shoe is like wearing a pair of socks. 

14 Q So the favorable wear factors was also a 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

characteristic that the institutions would take into 

account? 

A The wearing factor would be -- as far as the sole, 

would be close. 

Q So, in addition to the institutional sales that were 

made of the Pro Ked Dude tennis shoe, the Dude was also 

available through the Pro Keds catalog; isn't that true? 

A Uh-huh. We kept it in the catalog, but -- yeah, we 

23 did. Simple answer, yes. 

24 MS. HAWKINS: Now, I'm having marked for 

25 identification Plaintiff's (sic) Exhibit 15, which appears 
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1 to be a spring 1981 catalog for the Pro Keds line. 

2 BY MS. HAWKINS: 

3 Q Do you have that in front of you? 

4 A Uh-huh, I'm looking at it. 

5 Q Do you recognize that document? 

6 A You're asking recall now really back a ways but, yes, 

7 I would have been the product manager the year before that. 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q 

Okay. 

Okay. 

And this is the catalog that sales people would use to 

11 make sales --

12 A Correct. 

13 Q - - to different retail outlets? 

14 A Correct, uh-huh. 

15 Q Is that correct? Okay. And could you turn to page 3 

16 of the catalog. 

17 A 

18 Q 

19 A 

20 Q 

21 the 

22 been 

23 A 

24 Q 

To which one? 

Page 3 . 

Page 3? Yup. 

Okay, there's two shoes on that page, but the shoe on 

bottom of the page, is that the Dude tennis shoe we've 

talking about here today? 

Uh-huh. 

And the Dude tennis shoe that's sold in this catalog, 

25 is it available at the same low price that was available to 
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1 institutions? 

I'm not sure of the question. 2 A 

3 Q Okay, of the Pro Keds lines that are in this catalog, 

4 would the Dude have been the lowest price shoe available of 

5 the canvas 

6 A In 

7 Q basketball shoes? 

8 A In 1981? 

9 Q Yes. 

10 A There are really two shoes out there. Goodrich died 

11 along in that period. P.F. Flyers, if anybody remembers 

12 that name. They were dying -- I can't remember the exact 

13 year they died, but anyway they died somewhere in there and 

14 left us -- Converse and ourselves in a branded line. 

15 Beyond that, the Nikes of the world really weren't going 

16 after that, or Adidases of the world at that time or any of 

17 the other brands that came along, the Reeboks of the world. 

18 So these were -- this would have been our low-priced 

19 shoe, but it was more of a stairstep shoe than it was an 

20 out-in-your-face type of a shoe. It wasn't like in 

21 automobiles, we were - - this isn't the shoe you walk in to 

22 sell. You sell the premium shoe above with the idea that, 

23 yes, we do have a cheaper shoe, but it's - -

24 Q Okay, so as far as the Pro Keds line goes, excluding 

25 Nikes, Converse and other brands, the Dude tennis shoe 
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1 would have been your low-priced shoe? 

2 A 

3 Q 

Yeah, it is. 

And the Dude tennis shoe that was sold through this 

4 catalog, is it the same quality as that that was provided 

5 

6 

to the institutions? Is that correct? 

A Same shoe, same storage, same shipment point. Along 

7 the way in that period, by the way and I think it was 

8 discussed earlier in the other trial, but we did 

9 ship -- and I ate up a lot of the production for Thompson, 

10 Georgia. That was as a favor to Uniroyal. We kept that 

11 plant going as long as we could, meaning Stride-Rite now. 

12 I'm wearing two hats. I'm also feeding business to 

13 Thompson to keep it open as long as I could and as long as 

14 we could. I'm not sure that that's a point, but I am 

15 mentioning that, and those were difficult years, '81, '82, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

'83. So the mixing -- eventually we mixed Korean in with 

our domestic-made. Yes, they looked the same to -- to the 

casual observer. 

Q You stated earlier that the Dude tennis shoe was not 

sold through chain stores, and some of the examples you 

gave were Sears and JC Penney --

A No. 

23 Q -- is that correct? 

24 

25 

A Not in the West. We are -- you have to define that. 

As you moved across the country, the shoe became very weak. 
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sold through chain stores, and some of the examples you 

gave were Sears and JC Penney --

A No. 

23 Q -- is that correct? 

24 

25 

A Not in the West. We are -- you have to define that. 

As you moved across the country, the shoe became very weak. 
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1 When you left New York, as a matter of fact -- very weak. 

2 New York enjoyed a good business. As a matter of fact, I 

3 did lots of thousands of pairs in the five boroughs of New 

4 York. 

5 It did splash on down to Atlanta. It splashed 

6 up but the Dude was never a big volume shoe, even in 

7 those days. I - - I tried to remember how many, but it was 

8 so small - - we were selling something in the area of 

9 4,000,000-some pair of loose-lined. I'm going to say at 

10 best we sold a couple hundred thousand pairs at its height 

11 in ' 79, ' 80 . I mean, my - - my caring about it. At most, 

12 we sold maybe 200,000 pairs, though, a year. That was 

13 going back into '79/'80. 

14 Q So, on the East Coast, where the shoe was more 

15 popular, were there retail sales made? 

16 A 

17 Q 

18 A 

By -- the Dude was never a big shoe. 

Okay. 

And to be honest about it, with the old company, it 

19 was a very debatable name. Stride-Rite didn't 

20 really -- that isn't where they saw their future. So, when 

21 Stride-Rite bought the corporation, that name was under 

22 question, because we had a different type of person in 

23 Stride-Rite. 

24 That name, Dude, doesn't necessarily resonate as a 

25 wonderful name with everybody. Okay? To be honest, 
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1 that's -- but that shoe was kind of sliding out. So it was 

2 kind of, "Who cares? We're not going to grow on that shoe 

3 

4 

5 

6 

anyway. " 

Q But you also stated that you could not be absolutely 

sure that there were no sales of Dude tennis shoes to some 

of the smaller retail stores? 

7 A Having had the advantage of being a manager for this 

8 area, even a salesman of areas -- if we wanted to say 

9 Chino, I sold the women's prison something back in the 

10 '50s. 

11 Q Okay, but you're saying 

12 A Okay, so I know that area. So I'm saying, in my 

13 knowledge, knowing the areas I do and the people that had 

14 stores in those areas, I just don't see the shoe being 

15 carried in that whole area. I know they weren't being 

16 carried by anybody that was had more than five stores, 

17 

18 

three stores, pick a -- pick a number. 

Q But there may have been some non-chain stores that 

19 were carrying the Dude tennis shoe. You can't be 

20 absolutely sure 

21 A 

22 Q 

possible. Possible. 

You talked a little bit on your direct examination 

23 

24 

25 

about Mr. Newberry's collection of sales records at the 

time of Mr. Cooper's trial. 

A Dh-huh. 
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Or prior to the trial. Do you know which records he 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

was directed by the San Bernardino Sheriff's Department to 

collect? 

A They would have collected the entire state of our 

business with California probably, as it looks like they 

did, and as I remember reading the ones that I was sent. 

They would have collected probably the state of California. 

Mike would have looked at or the his merchandise 

department would have looked at any other sales by going 

into our Richmond office -- I was in Cambridge, but my 

records were very complete. So whether he ended up duping 

mine or also using Richmond, he could have -- could have 

done both, because Richmond would be the exact, absolute, 

100 percent. I'm not going to say that I -- I would have 

had all, but I'm sure that Mike checked everything and 

cleaned out our files. 

Q Okay, so Mr. Newberry had access to all the sales 

records? 

19 A 

20 Q 

all. 

Okay. Were you with him when he reviewed all the 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

records? 

A Yeah, as much as I could be, yeah. 

Q Okay, so you accompanied him to look through the 

files? 

A Well, I -- normally what would happen is -- it's my 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

1 Q 

242 

Or prior to the trial. Do you know which records he 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

was directed by the San Bernardino Sheriff's Department to 

collect? 

A They would have collected the entire state of our 

business with California probably, as it looks like they 

did, and as I remember reading the ones that I was sent. 

They would have collected probably the state of California. 

Mike would have looked at or the his merchandise 

department would have looked at any other sales by going 

into our Richmond office -- I was in Cambridge, but my 

records were very complete. So whether he ended up duping 

mine or also using Richmond, he could have -- could have 

done both, because Richmond would be the exact, absolute, 

100 percent. I'm not going to say that I -- I would have 

had all, but I'm sure that Mike checked everything and 

cleaned out our files. 

Q Okay, so Mr. Newberry had access to all the sales 

records? 

19 A 

20 Q 

all. 

Okay. Were you with him when he reviewed all the 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

records? 

A Yeah, as much as I could be, yeah. 

Q Okay, so you accompanied him to look through the 

files? 

A Well, I -- normally what would happen is -- it's my 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



243 

1 office. If somebody is going to come into my office, like 

2 the accountants do periodically to review things, they tell 

3 me what they're coming for in my office, to get paper. 

4 They didn't come into my office and take paper. I had a 

5 secretary, and she wasn't about to give up her files. 

6 Q You indicated that the Dude tennis shoe began to be 

7 manufactured in the early 1970s; is that correct? 

8 A 

9 Q 

What's this? 

That the Dude tennis shoe was first manufactured in 

10 the early 1970s; is that correct? 

11 A I thought we were talking Pro Keds. I think the Dude 

12 also goes back into that time frame. I'm sure that it was 

13 probably early '70s on the Dude. 

14 I don't -- again, I was on the West Coast during that 

15 period. I moved east in '76, just to give a time frame. I 

16 ran the West Coast until the end of '76. Going into '77 I 

17 was in Connecticut, actually, for Uniroyal -- Middlebury. 

18 Q Now, the documents that you reviewed in binder number 

19 1 earlier reflected sales records from 1982, 1983, perhaps 

20 1981; is that correct? 

21 A Yes, and these records interestingly enough, 

22 Stride-Rite really didn't -- I don't even know that they've 

23 changed it today. They stayed with the format that 

24 Uniroyal had, didn't change. 

25 Q Do you know if Mr. Newberry reviewed the records from 
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1 the 1970s that pertained to the sale of Dude tennis shoes? 

2 A Well, I understand one of the problems was that a lot 

3 of the records from those -- because we moved from 

4 Naugatuck, Connecticut and Middlebury, Connecticut up to 

5 Cambridge, Mass. I think at that time the records 

6 were -- I continued to run back and forth, as did Mr. 

7 Newberry, but -- for merchandise problems and things, but 

8 as far as paper, I -- the paper would have remained in 

9 Richmond, because Richmond, Indiana was the office that 

10 Uniroyal set up years before. As far as paper, there would 

11 have been no break in continuity. 

12 Q Okay. 

13 A No break. 

14 Q So the records from the 1970s were located in Indiana? 

15 A Uh-huh. 

16 Q Do you know if Mr. Newberry reviewed those records? 

17 A I - - I can't imagine that those records would 

18 be -- they would have to have barns to put -- I can't 

19 imagine records going back that -- I mean, I can't. I have 

20 no idea, but I -- I would guess that that kind of paper 

21 would be -- ·1 would hate to think we still have paper of 

22 that kind around. 

23 Q 

24 A 

Okay, so than other -- other than the years --

But there was continuity because 

25 Stride-Rite because the people at the 

from Uniroyal to 

that handled the 
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1 paper remained intact. The office remained intact in the 

2 change from Uniroyal to Stride-Rite. That part of 

3 the everything remained the same. 

4 Q I understand that. So your testimony is that you 

5 can't be sure that Mr. Newberry reviewed anything prior to 

6 the dates of the records that are in that binder? 

7 A I would think he could have very easily gotten every 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

record and piece of paper and whatever he needed probably 

back through as early as '78 or '77. I don't know how long 

they kept the paper, to be honest, but he would have been 

privy to the paper back as far as they had it. I can't 

imagine they wouldn't keep it anywhere from five to ten 

years at that time. 

Q Okay. 

A We're talking 20 -- long time. 

16 Q So back in 1983 the records -- people could have had 

17 access to records --

Very much so. 

-- prior to 1980? 

18 A 

19 Q 

20 A Very much so. One of the reasons that the records 

21 were very important is that the Uniroyal thing -- Mike only 

22 made one mistake in his testimony, and that was -- and it's 

23 not a major mistake. He came on board a little later. So 

24 he wasn't aware of the fact when -- in September of '79, 

25 when we were purchased, we were really purchased, but 
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1 paperwork being as it is and money being handled the way it 

2 is and various things that went on and Uniroyal went down 

3 and out after that period just -- Ikon also got involved 

4 along in that period, but anyway things became complicated. 

5 So the transaction really happened in September of 

6 '79. I think in Mike's testimony, if you went back and 

7 looked at it, somehow it's saying '82 or something. It was 

8 confusion over the plant. 

9 I think Mike didn't realize what the understanding was 

10 on Thompson, where we made the Pro Ked. We were very slow 

11 in taking the Pro Ked offshore. The Champion Oxford, which 

12 every little girl wore in those days, to the tune of 

13 30,000,000 pairs, by the way, eventually in the '80s, those 

14 shoes we moved off to Korea very early. Then--

15 THE COURT: Okay 

16 THE WITNESS: subsequently to China. 

17 THE COURT: -- if you could just -- she'll ask 

18 the question and then you can answer that. 

19 THE WITNESS: Okay. 

20 THE COURT: All right, thank you. 

21 THE WITNESS: Thank you. 

22 BY MS. HAWKINS: 

23 Q Do you know how many total pairs of Dude tennis shoes 

24 were manufactured between whenever the line first started 

25 in the early '70s until 1983? 
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1 A 

2 Q 

3 A Wouldn't have a -- wouldn't have a clue. I think Mr. 

4 Newberry indicated he went back and researched, as somebody 

5 that came on later would -- he could not really come up 

6 with the record. You know, I could make a guess, but I 

7 think it would be 

That's fine. 

-- purely a guess. 

8 Q 

9 A 

10 Q When Mr. Newberry testified that in 1982 a total of 

11 80,000 Dude tennis shoes were manufactured, does that sound 

12 about right? 

13 A That's -- yeah. 

14 Q And would you say this was -- 80,000 is a typical year 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

for production of the Dude tennis shoe? 

A That's probably about where it was. 

Q Okay, and you mentioned earlier that in the years 1979 

to '80, that was sort of the height of the popularity of 

the Dude tennis shoe? 

20 A No, that was the -- would have been a -- a 

21 declining -- because of the lack of interest on Stride-

22 Rite -- on vulcanized -- making that kind -- the whole line 

23 was beginning to diminish. 

24 Vulcanized shoes of the kind we're discussing, which 

25 would be the Dude, the -- the Royal, those kind of shoes, 
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1 that whole area was diminishing. The women's area was 

2 accelerated. Frankly, by the end of the '80s, we were out 

3 of the men's business. 

4 Q All right. So you stated earlier that in 1979, 1980, 

5 perhaps, there were 100,000 pairs of Dude tennis shoes 

6 manufactured? 

7 A 

8 Q 

That would be the outside number, probably. 

But we don't have the documents available now to 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

verify that; is that correct? 

A No, but they just didn't amount to anything. 

Q So the brand Pro Keds is now owned by the Stride-Rite 

Corporation; is that correct? 

A Uh-huh, correct. 

Q And does Stride-Rite still do business with the State 

of California? 

A Do what? 

Q Does Stride-Rite Corporation still do business with 

the State of California? 

A I don't believe they do, because they -- no, I -- no. 

I'm going to say no. 

Q Mr. Luck, you signed a declaration about this issue on 

April 27th of this year; is that correct? 

A Uh-huh, correct. 

24 Q 

25 A 

And did you draft that declaration yourself? 

Did I do what? 
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3 Q 
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Did you draft it yourself, type it up, write it out? 

The declaration? 

Yes. 

The one that I signed was done by the -- by the 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

attorney. 

Q Okay, do you remember the name of that attorney? 

A But it's my words. Holly Wilkens. 

Q All right. And Ms. Wilkens contacted you about having 

a declaration drafted; is that correct? 

Yes. 

Okay, and when was that? 

10 A 

11 Q 

12 A I had a discussion with the Stride-Rite people at 

13 February in Las Vegas, where I live. They came to me 

14 sometime after that, realizing that I did remember 

15 something. By then I was remembering more, by the way. It 

16 was a passing thought. The president now of what is Pro 

17 Keds, part of the family of Stride-Rite, asked me a 

18 question. Then a lawyer from the -- Stride-Rite came and 

19 said, "Don, you can do or not do. Do as you choose on 

20 this." I feel strongly about supporting things. That's 

21 why I belong to SCORE, Service Corps of Retired Executives. 

22 I do feel strong about it. 

23 So I said, "Yeah, I would -- I don't mind getting 

24 involved." Things began to come back and I remembered. 

25 That's why I even told Tom Slossberg frankly -- probably 
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1 March -- maybe that was March. 

2 Q Okay, and then did 

3 A That I would be glad to go to court or do whatever, 

4 whatever they wanted. I said, lIyou know, I'm surprised my 

5 name doesn't appear somewhere, II and as it turned out, it 

6 did. My name does appear in there. 

7 Q And did Ms. Wilkens contact you by telephone? 

8 A Yes. 

9 Q And you had a conversation with her over the phone 

10 about this issue? 

11 A Yeah, and then I think a little later than 

12 that -- well, e-mail. I think it was more e-mail than 

13 telephone. I think it was first like an introduction by e-

14 mail, because I had I think our lawyer with Stride-Rite 

15 probably gave her my e-mail. Then at some point we talked 

16 early on. I'm going to say March, April. Yeah, March, 

17 April. 

18 

19 

Q And following that discussions (sic), she presented 

you with a declaration? 

20 A 

21 Q 

22 A 

Uh-huh. 

Did you ever meet with her in person prior to signing? 

I -- I had typed out a resume on the computer, sent it 

23 to -- to her, also mailed a copy, I believe. From that 

24 copy she called me back and said, IIDoes this sound 
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1 that.n It was fine. So she said, nI'll have it in 

2 tonight's mail and you'll have it tomorrow. If you can 

3 sign it.n Then I read it carefully, and I agreed with it 

4 because it's what I said. That's 

5 Q Did you ever have any reason to believe your telephone 

6 conversations were being taped? 

7 A With who? 

8 Q With Ms. Wilkens. 

9 A Minor - -

10 MS. WILKENS: Objection; assumes facts 

11 THE WITNESS: Minor conversations. 

12 MS. WILKENS: - - not in evidence. 

13 THE WITNESS: Nothing about what I would be 

14 saying or what I would be -- it was very generalities. As 

15 a matter of fact, I think most of our conversation is found 

16 right in my resume. I don't remember any other, 

17 really -- oh, and she always asked me, did I she's very 

18 prudent, good lawyer, short of words -- long on words, in 

19 my case, frankly, but my answer was that I read what she 

20 had sent me. 

21 I agreed with what Mr. Newberry said. I corrected the 

22 one area, saying, nHe's a little unclear on the ownership, 

23 and I can understand why, if the two companies ... n 

24 -- because it was a little involved, who owned what and 

25 went. Other than that, I said it was fine. I found no 
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1 contradictions. 

2 BY MS. HAWKINS: 

252 

3 Q Following the date that you signed your declaration, 

4 did you ever meet with Ms. Wilkens again or to speak with 

5 anybody? 

6 A 

7 Q 

8 A 

9 Q 

Saw her today at noontime. 

So no other communications? 

No, no. 

Did you ever provide her or anyone that she's working 

10 with with any documents? 

11 A 

12 Q 

13 that 

14 A 

15 copy 

16 had. 

No. 

She provided yo with those documents to review; is 

correct - - the documents in binder I? 

The document that I signed, but I didn't even get a 

of the - - of this. It would have been nice to have 

I got other kinds of paper. I got this kind of 

17 paper, but I didn't get this kind of paper. 

18 Q Okay, so prior to coming today to testify, you were 

19 provided with the -- the contracts? 

20 A I have not seen a catalog since I left Stride-Rite and 

21 retired. I'm not sure, is that answering the question? 

22 Q No, I'm asking, the documents that are in the binder 

23 that's in front of you, volume 1 --

24 A 

25 Q 

This I have a copy of. 

Yes, okay. 
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Sitting at home. 

MS. HAWKINS: At this time I'd like to have what 

3 was marked as Exhibit 15 entered into evid.ence. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

THE COURT: It's received. 

MS. HAWKINS: And I have no further questions. 

THE COURT: Thank you. Redirect? 

MS. WILKENS: Yes, your Honor, just briefly. 

8 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

9 BY MS. WILKENS: 

10 Q Now, Mr. Luck, to clarify, the -- the catalog that you 

11 looked at today, that's a catalog that's used for 

12 salespersons, correct? 

13 A 

14 Q 

15 pick 

16 A 

17 Q 

Correct. 

It's not something that I would receive at my home and 

out shoes? 

No. 

Okay. And Ms. Hawkins asked you about the estimates 

18 of the number of Dude shoes that had been sold. I believe 

19 the 

20 A 

21 Q 

estimate from Mr. Newberry was 80,000 pairs in 1982. 

Of making in one year. 

Yes. Could you put that figure into perspective for 

22 those of us that are not familiar with the shoe industry. 

23 For example, a brand like Converse, how many pairs of shoes 

24 would they be manufacturing in a given year in 1982? 

25 A I would say --
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MS. HAWKINS: Objectioni lack of foundation. 

THE COURT: Overruled. Go ahead. 

THE WITNESS: I -- I would say that Converse 

talking probably 80,000,000 pair of loose-lined 

5 those days, minimum. When you talk about a Champion 

254 

in 

6 Oxford, which is the little white CVO that everybody wore 

7 with the little blue label on the back, we're talking 

8 30,000,000 pairs. 

9 So, when you talk about an 80,000 kind of a 

10 number, it's honestly, from a business standpoint, a yawn 

11 time. It's -- it's nothing. It's just -- it's a blip. 

12 It's like if you lose 80, who cares? What I'm saying is 

13 that in the Royal shoe group, the Dude was very minor. 

14 Important to me because I had built a pretty good business, 

15 but minor as far as the corporation. 

16 That's one of the reasons I said earlier on to 

17 the lawyer that the company really didn't care what I did. 

18 It was a Don Luck-type thing orchestrating. Then at the 

19 end of the year I'd get an atta-boy award for a couple of 

20 million dollars in sales, but it wasn't -- I mean, at the 

21 same time I was selling $12,000,000 to Penneys and not 

22 selling a Royal basketball shoe period, to give you a 

23 number. 

24 BY MS. WILKENS: 

25 Q So it would be fair to say that the -- the Pro Keds 
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1 Dude tennis shoe was a very small part - -

2 A Tiny. 

3 Q - - of Keds business? 

4 A Absolutely. 

5 Q And then when you compare the Keds business with the 

6 giants such as Converse, Keds itself is very small? 

7 A Yes, and I'm -- I'm probably understating the 

8 8,000,000 pair that Converse would sell. I would -- I 

9 would not be surprised it's more like ten or more. 

10 Q 

11 A 

12 Q 

And the store 

Million. 

-- the stores like Sears that you were not selling 

13 tennis shoes to, were they buying from the very large 

14 retailers? 

15 A In a loose-lined basketball shoe, the Conny, the Star, 

16 that was the shoe to buy outside of the five boroughs of 

17 New York. 

18 Q 

20 A 

21 Q 

22 A 

23 

So you would estimate those shoes' annual sales 

Or higher. 

Okay. 

Or higher. I'm saying at a minimum. 

MS. WILKENS: Thank you, your Honor. Nothing 

24 further. 

25 THE COURT: Anything else from this witness? 
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1 MS. HAWKINS: No, your Honor. 

2 THE COURT: All right, you're excused. Thank you 

3 for corning. 

4 THE WITNESS: Thank you. 

5 THE COURT: Now, we - - that completes the list of 

6 witnesses that the Court had. 

7 MS. WILKENS: Yes, your Honor. 

8 THE COURT: There were - - did you want to make an 

9 offer of proof as to any other ones or to argue for any 

10 additional witnesses at this time? 

11 MR. HILE: Your Honor, as we said earlier this 

12 afternoon, we were happy to present Sandra Coke. 

13 THE COURT: Based on the state of the record, do 

14 you think you need it or don't need it? 

15 MR. HILE: I think it would be very helpful, 

16 especially given what Mr. Taylor testified this morning. 

17 THE COURT: The Court had called the Court of 

18 Appeals and the California Supreme Court. The Court of 

19 Appeals Ninth Circuit does not have the original, nor does 

20 the California Supreme Court. 

21 MR. HILE: We have found it, your Honor, and 

22 we're getting it here tomorrow. 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT: All right, thank you. 

MR. HILE: It's being sent by Federal Express. 

THE COURT: Okay, good. You have retained it? 
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1 MR. HILE: Yes. 

2 THE COURT: Then as to the other witnesses on 

3 your list? 

4 MR. HILE: Well, we have other witnesses that we 

5 would like to present, including testimony from Mr. Cooper 

6 and a number of others. I think 

7 THE COURT: What Brady information does he have? 

8 What Brady -- what information would Mr. Cooper have that 

9 the sheriffs failed to turn over? ,None. 

10 MR. HILE: The testimony goes to Mr. Taylor's 

11 testimony with respect to the fact that he gave Mr. 

12 Cooper--

13 THE COURT: That's the sufficiency of the 

14 evidence. Sufficiency of the evidence, Mr. Cooper 

15 testified at trial, Mr. Taylor testified at trial. The 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

sufficiency of the evidence claim goes up to the California 

Supreme Court. It's their state decision on conviction and 

evidence as to the whether the California state court 

wishes to overturn or not overturn any particular 

conviction. 

As to the Brady information, that does not go to 

a Brady claim. So, if you want to put that in 

writing if you want to make an offer of proof in writing 

as to what Mr. Cooper would testify to, you may submit that 

25 and then we'll attach that to the record. Then the Court 
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1 would decide whether or not that's something that we would 

2 need to go into or not. 

3 MR. HILE: Yes, your Honor, and with respect to 

4 Sandra Coke, what is the Court's --

5 THE COURT: As to Sandra Coke, I think 

6 I'll given given the dispute about the declaration, 

7 I'll I'll let you have her called as a witness. 

8 MR. HILE: All right, your Honor. 

9 THE COURT: And she'll be here tomorrow? 

10 MR. HILE: We can have her here. If - - I hope 

11 that she can catch a flight, but I -- yes, we'll have her 

12 here tomorrow. I talked to her at lunchtime. She said she 

13 was still available to come. 

14 THE COURT: Okay. 

15 MR. HILE: Because we put her on notice. 

16 THE COURT: There were a couple of other people 

17 that you had as well. 

18 MR. HILE: Yes. 

19 THE COURT: As to Mr. Cooper, what I'll do is 

20 reserve judgment until I see the offer of proof. You may 

21 submit that in camera to the Court, I think. 

22 

23 

MR. HILE: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: So that it wouldn't be submitted 

24 to -- unless -- do you take any position on that? 

25 MS. WILKENS: I think -- I think we should be 
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1 privy to it, your Honor. He's a convicted felon. This is 

2 an evidentiary hearing. If he wants to offer testimony, I 

3 think we should be aware of what it is he intends to offer. 

4 THE COURT: Well; if you wish -- I think that's a 

5 fair -- if you wish to submit a declaration from Mr. Cooper 

6 as to what he would testify to, you may. 

7 MR. HILE: All right. I mean, I --

8 THE COURT: Or if you want to make a proffer as 

9 to what he would testify to, then the Court would evaluate 

10 whether or not it's a Brady claim, not just whether he 

11 contradicts -- whether he contradicts other witnesses. 

12 That goes to the sufficiency of the evidence. He's already 

13 testified at the time of trial. 

14 

15 

MR. HILE: Yes, your Honor, and 

THE COURT: If the Court was to take testimony 

16 from him, that would probably be done at the institution. 

17 MR. HILE: Now, in our brief that we filed 

18 today -- yesterday, .I'm so~~y -- with respect to the 

19 hearing today, we set forth the list of -- list of the 

20 witnesses who we felt had information to add that we wanted 

21 to call, which the Court decided not to have us call. 

22 

23 

24 well? 

25 

THE COURT: So -- without prejudice. 

MR. HILE: Make an offer of proof for those as 

THE COURT: You may. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 

259 

1 privy to it, your Honor. He's a convicted felon. This is 

2 an evidentiary hearing. If he wants to offer testimony, I 

3 think we should be aware of what it is he intends to offer. 

4 THE COURT: Well; if you wish -- I think that's a 

5 fair -- if you wish to submit a declaration from Mr. Cooper 

6 as to what he would testify to, you may. 

7 MR. HILE: All right. I mean, I --

8 THE COURT: Or if you want to make a proffer as 

9 to what he would testify to, then the Court would evaluate 

10 whether or not it's a Brady claim, not just whether he 

11 contradicts -- whether he contradicts other witnesses. 

12 That goes to the sufficiency of the evidence. He's already 

13 testified at the time of trial. 

14 

15 

MR. HILE: Yes, your Honor, and 

THE COURT: If the Court was to take testimony 

16 from him, that would probably be done at the institution. 

17 MR. HILE: Now, in our brief that we filed 

18 today -- yesterday, .I'm so~~y -- with respect to the 

19 hearing today, we set forth the list of -- list of the 

20 witnesses who we felt had information to add that we wanted 

21 to call, which the Court decided not to have us call. 

22 

23 

24 well? 

25 

THE COURT: So -- without prejudice. 

MR. HILE: Make an offer of proof for those as 

THE COURT: You may. 

Echo Reporting, Inc. 



260 

MR. HILE: Thank you, your Honor. And then 

THE COURT: And you may do that now. 

(Pause. ) 

MR. HILE: Oh, all right. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 THE COURT: So that - - now that I've - - now that 

6 the issue has been framed, the Court would then be in a 

7 position to decide whether it's productive or not 

8 productive. There again, the Court, on a habeas claim, 

9 reviews constitutional issues or other issues on Federal 

10 habeas. We don't decide as to certain matters that we 

11 leave to the judgment of the state courts. So, as to 

12 Federal constitutional claims or other claims that are 

13 pertinent for habeas review, the Court would be happy to 

14 consider any and all witnesses that you'd wish to offer on 

15 this. 

16 MR. HILE: Yes. Well, your Honor, the additional 

17 witnesses that we had offered were William Baird, who was 

18 the -- listed in our list of witnesses. 

19 

20 claim. 

21 

THE COURT: That's not pertinent to the Brady 

MR. HILE: Well, if that's the Court's ruling, 

22 that's fine. Maybe what we'll do then is to make an offer 

23 of proof with respect to that as part of our traverse. The 

24 same thing we'll do with -- with Mason, the officer from 

25 elM who testified with respect to where he got the shoes 
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1 that Kevin Cooper received, versus Mr. Taylor, and --

2 

3 say? 

4 

THE COURT: And what would he -- what would he 

MR. HILE: His testimony would be that actually 

5 he was the one who gave Mr. Cooper the tennis shoes, which 

6 is consistent with Mr. Cooper's testimony that we'll offer. 

7 THE COURT: And did he testify or not testify at 

8 the trial? 

9 MR. HILE: He did testify at the trial. 

10 THE COURT: That's what I thought. That's what 

11 thought. And did he say that at the trial? 

12 MR. HILE: Yes. 

13 THE COURT: So there's really - - that's not a 

14 Brady issue. 

15 MR. HILE: As I say, we'll - - the Court's ruled 

16 on that, you've ruled on that. We will have Ms. Coke here 

17 tomorrow. My understanding is that the next witness is 

18 Steven Myers, who is scheduled to be here at 1:30 tomorrow 

19 afternoon, if that's 

20 

21 

THE COURT: Fill the gaps in. 

MS. WILKENS: Yes, your Honor, I was directed to 

22 present Mr. Myers in the afternoon. So he'll be arriving 

23 and be available for the afternoon session. 

24 THE COURT: Is there anybody that we can move up 

25 to the morning? What we could 

I 
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1 MR. HILE: Well, we have Sandra Coke as soon as 

2 she can get here. 

3 THE COURT: If she can get here, uh-huh. You 

4 want to -- then also I've received your draft, 

5 mitochondrial testing issue. 

6 Why don't we meet in chambers and see if we can 

7 go over that and narrow out the issues on that. We'll do 

8 that on the record, perhaps. Maybe we could first discuss 

9 it and then do it on the record. 

10 MR. HILE: That would be very helpful, your 

11 Honor, because Mr. Myers' testimony, as well as Dr. Blake's 

12 testimony, I think, is really testimony that relates, in 

13 large part, based upon the Court's prior orders, to the 

14 testing of hairs. 

15 So knowing where the Court is -- is wanting us to 

16 go with respect to that may save a lot of that testimony, 

17 at least could direct us as to where we -- where the Court 

18 wants to hear it. 

19 So, I mean -- and I'm happy to do that either now 

20 or tomorrow morning, but we think that would be very 

21 helpful if we could get the Court's direction with respect 

22 to the testing, because that's what we understood the Court 

23 wanted to hear about. 

24 If we have reached an agreement with respect to 

25 that testing, that might obviate some of the testimony. 
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1 MS. WILKENS: Your Honor, Mr. Myers and Dr. 

2 Thornton and Dr. Blake are going to inform the Court of 

3 their past efforts with the hair. I think that's very 

4 relevant to the Court deciding if there has been task 

5 undertaken, because the Court indicated it wanted to 

6 determine a cost effective means 

7 

8 

9 

THE COURT: Exactly. 

MS. WILKENS: -- for selection of the hair. 

THE COURT: Uh-huh. 

263 

10 MS. WILKENS: And I don't feel that we can reach 

11 that until we've heard from these three scientists. Dr. 

12 Thornton is scheduled to testify first thing Friday 

13 morning. 

14 THE COURT: Do you think it's still productive 

15 for us to go over the issues of -- the issue so that it's 

16 crystallized in the Court's view what are the issue areas 

17 for the mitochondrial? 

18 MS. WILKENS: We could, and also we still need to 

19 argue the Daubert motion, if the Court wishes to move that 

20 up. 

21 THE COURT: I'd prefer to do that probably after 

22 I hear the - -

23 MS. WILKENS: Okay. And also we have - -

24 THE COURT: If not - - if we don't - - if not, then 

25 that's something that we could probably have some argument 
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1 on before, but don't you think that would be helpful after? 

2 MS. WILKENS: Yeah. 

3 THE COURT: Yeah, I think so. 

4 MS. WILKENS: And we -- we had put Internal 

5 Affairs Special Agent Robert Maldonado on our witness list. 

6 Agent Maldonado would authenticate these files as having 

7 been pulled out of the CIM vault. 

8 THE COURT: Is there a dispute on that or not? 

9 Do you want -- do you want -- do you want him to testify or 

10 is it sufficient if he does a declaration? 

11 MS. WILKENS: There is a declaration on the first 

12 page of notebook 2 that sets~orth the activity that --

13 THE COURT: Is he here? 

14 MS. WILKENS: No, we have him on call for 

15 tomorrow morning. 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

THE COURT: Oh. Why don't you give give that 

some thought. If you want somebody to just say, "These are 

the records that came directly from the vault," then 

they'll be authenticated and then they'll be received. 

MR. HILE: All right, your Honor, I'll take a 

look at that declaration and see if there's any problem I 

have. I can call Ms. Wilkens tonight if I do really need 

23 to have him here. If all he's going to do is to say, 

24 "These are copies of the records that were in the vault," 

25 that may --
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MS. WILKENS: All he would do is exactly what's 

2 in the declaration, about how the agents went in, what 

3 their instructions were, what they took out, and this is 

4 it. 

5 MR. HILE: I'll take a look at that and let her 

6 know if we need him. 

7 MS. WILKENS: We also have Detectives Pacifico 

8 and Mahoney on call. We did not put Detective Mahoney on 

9 our witness list. We did have Detective Pacifico, because 

10 the Court asked us to bring an investigative -- the lead 

11 investigative officer on the Cooper case. 

12 As the Court may know, Sergeant Arthur died about 

13 eight years ago. So Detective Pacifico was assigned to the 

14 case. He has reviewed all files in the case in the custody 

15 of the San Bernardino Sheriff's Office. He provided a 

16 declaration that is in support of our answer wherein he 

17 explains that he undertook to look for any reference of a 

18 contact from Midge Carroll or CIM regarding the shoes. 

19 THE COURT: And do you need that to be sworn to 

20 or not? 

21 MR. HILE: It -- I'll take a look at the 

22 declaration, again, and let Ms. Wilkens know whether we 

23 need to have him here. 

24 THE COURT: Tonight? I mean, this would be for 

25 tomorrow. 
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1 MR. HILE: Yes. 

2 MS. WILKENS: Yeah, I need -- yeah, I would like 

3 to call both gentlemen tonight and let them know. 

4 MR. HILE: Sure. It'll be tonight. 

5 THE COURT: Okay. All right, why don't -- why 

6 don't we just take a ten-minute recess until 4:30. Then 

7 we'll meet in chambers on the mitochondrial proposed order. 

8 (Proceedings recessed.) 
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